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June 7,2000 

VIA FEDERAL EXPRESS 

Ms. Blanca S. Bayo, Director 
Division of Records and Reporting 
Florida Public Service Commission 
2540 Shumard Oak Boulevard 
Gerald Gunter Building 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 

Re: Application of Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. for Authority to Provide Resold 
and Facilities-Based Local Exchange Telecommunications Services within k 
State of Florida ~~ 

Dear Ms. Bayo: 

On behalf of Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. (“Birch”), we hereby submit an 
original and five ( 5 )  copies of its application and price list for authority to provide resold 
and facilities-based local exchange telecommunications services within the State of Florida. - 

In accord with the Commission’s Rules, we have enclosed herewith a check in the 
amount of $250.00, in payment of the Commission’s fee for processing Birch’s a p p l i c a t i k  

We have included an extra copy of this filing, marked “Stamp and Return,” as well 
Please stamp and as a self-addressed, prepaid overnight airbill and delivery envelope. 

return the extra copy to confirm your receipt. 

Please direct any inquiries regarding this filing to the undersigned. 

Respectfully submitted, 
Check received wilh n h  a d  BIRCH TELECOM OF THE SOUTH, INC. 

Q&Luh%f&, 
fWv~3%I to F h I  for -. 
~ b c a l t o  h a r d  a copy of cheek 
10 RAR with proof of d-. 

wholonvrrdrdohe&: 

BY 
Valerie M. Furman 
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APPLICATION FORM 

1. This is an application for J (check one): 

( J )  Original authority (new company) 

) Approval of transfer (to another certificated company) 

ORIGINAL 

ExampLe, a certificated company purchases an existing 
company and desires to retain the original certificate 
authority. 

Approval of assignment of existing certificate 
(to a noncertificated company) 

1 

-, a noncertificated company purchases an 
existing Company and desires to retain the certificate of 
authority rather than apply for a new certificate. 

Approval for transfer of control (to another certificated 
company) 

1 

-, a company purchases 51% of a certificated 
company. The Commission must approve the new 
controlling entity. 

2. Name of Applicant: 

Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. (“Birch) 

3. Name under which the applicant will do business (d/b/a) 

Same as above. 

4. If applicable, please provide proof of fictitious name (d/b/a) registration. 

Fictitious name registration number: Not applicable. 

5. National mailing address including street name, number, post office box, 
city, state, zip code, and phone number. 

2020 Baltimore Avenue 
Kansas City, Missouri 64108 

(816) 300-3247 (fax) 
(816) 300-3000 

FORM PSCllCMU 8(11/95) 
Required by Chapter 364.337 F.S. 
1148513 
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6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

I O .  

Structure of organization: J Check appropriate box@) 

( ) Individual 
(J) Foreign Corporation 
( ) General Partnership 
( ) Joint Venture 

( ) Corporation 
( ) Foreign Partnership 
( ) Limited Partnership 
( ) Other, Please explain 

If applicant is an individual, partnership, or joint venture, please give name, 
title and address of each legal entity. 

Not applicable. 

State whether any of the officers, directors, or any of the ten largest 
stockholders have previously been adjudged bankrupt, mentally 
incompetent, or found guilty or any felony or of any crime, or whether such 
actions may result from pending proceedings. If so, please explain. 

None of Birch's officers or directors, or any of its ten largest stockholders, have 
previously been adjudged bankrupt, mentally incompetent, or found guilty or any 
felony or of any crime, or whether such actions may result from pending 
proceedings . 

If incorporated, please provide proof from the Florida Secretary of State 
that the applicant has authority to operate in Florida. 

Please see Exhibit A. 

Corporate charter number: F00000002797 

Please provide the name, title, address, telephone number, Internet 
address, and facsimile number for the person serving as ongoing liaison 
with the Commission, and if different, the liaison responsible for this 
application. 

Gregory C. Lawhon, Esq. 
Senior Vice President 
Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. 
2020 Baltimore Avenue 
Kansas City, Missouri 64108 
Voice: (816) 300-3000 
Fax: (81 6) 300-3247 

FORM PSCllCMU S(l l le5) 

1148513 
Required by Chapter 364.337 F.S. 
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Contact Persons Regarding This 
&plication 

Valerie M. Furman, Esq. 
Jacob Farber, Esq. 
Dickstein Shapiro Morin & Oshinsky LLP 
2101 L Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20037-1526 
Voice: (202) 833-501 7 
Fax: (202) 887-0689 



11. Please list other states in which the applicant is currently providing or has 
applied to provide local exchange or alternative local exchange service. 

Birch is an integrated telecommunications provider that intends to offer facilities- 

based and resold local exchange telecommunications services, as well as resold 

interexchange (toll) telecommunications services, to business and residential customers 

in the State of Florida. Birch will offer state-of-the-art voice and data services to its 

customers, including local and long distance telephone service, calling card services, 

toll-free numbers, Internet access (using DSL, T-I , ISDN and/or other high-speed 

facilities), Web hosting, integrated voice and data transmission over broadband lines, 

and customer premises equipment sales and services. Birch will provide the above- 

referenced services to its customers through a combination of leased and owned 

network facilities and resold services. Using an unbundled network element platform 

(“UNE-P) strategy, Birch will lease substantially all of the unbundled network elements 

necessary to provide service to customers from incumbent telephone companies, and 

use Birch advanced back-oftice systems to combine these elements into integrated 

Birch-branded voice services. 

Birch’s sister corporations - Birch Telecom of Missouri, Inc., Birch Telecom of 

Kansas, Inc., and Birch Telecom of Texas Ltd., L.L.P. - currently offer these state-of- 

the-art telecommunications services to customers located throughout the states of 

Missouri, Kansas and Texas. Birch’s sister corporations are currently deploying 

collocations and transmission equipment throughout the Missouri, Kansas and Texas 

markets to deliver digital subscriber line service, which will support dedicated high- 

speed Internet access. Birch’s sister corporations expect to have over 130 collocations 

operational by the end of this year in the Missouri, Kansas and Texas markets. Birch 

FORM PSCIICMU 8(11/95) 
Required by Chapter 364.337 F.S. 
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intends to replicate the service offerings and operations of its sister corporations in the 

State of Florida. 

Birch has been granted authority to provide interexchange (toll) 

telecommunications services in the Commonwealth of Kentucky and currently has 

applications for authority to provide intrastate interexchange (toll) telecommunications 

services pending in the states of Georgia, South Carolina, Tennessee and Louisiana. In 

addition, its sister corporation, Birch Telecom of the Great Lakes, Inc., has been granted 

authority to provide such service in the states of Indiana and Michigan, and has an 

application for authority to provide interexchange (toll) telecommunications services 

pending in the state of Illinois and Wisconsin. Birch has been granted authority to 

provide resold and facilities-based local exchange telecommunications in the 

Commonwealth of Kentucky and currently has applications for authority to provide 

resold and facilities-based local exchange telecommunications services pending in the 

states of Georgia, South Carolina, Tennessee and Louisiana. In addition, Birch's sister 

corporation, Birch Telecom of the Great Lakes, Inc. currently has applications for 

authority to provide resold and/or facilities-based local exchange telecommunications 

services pending in the states of Illinois, Indiana, Michigan and Wisconsin. The 

services proposed in Birch's and its sister corporation's pending applications are the 

same as those proposed herein. As stated above, Birch's sister corporations have been 

granted authority or are otherwise authorized to provide resold and facilities-based local 

exchange telecommunications services in the states of Kansas, Missouri, Oklahoma 

and Texas. 

FORM PSCllCYU E(ii195) 
Required by Chapter 364.337 F.S. 
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12. 

13. 

14. 

Has the applicant been denied certification in any other state? If so, please 
list the state and reason for denial. 

No. 

Have penalties been imposed against the applicant in any other state? If 
so, please list the state and reason for penalty. 

No. 

Please indicate how a customer can file a service complaint with your 
company. 

Birch will make service available to customers 24 hours per day, 7 days per week 

throughout the year. Customer inquiries and complaints will be handled by 

representatives at Birch’s Customer Service Center, which is staffed 24 hours per day, 

7 days per week. The toll-free number for Birch’s Customer Service Center is (800) 

772-4724. This number will be printed on customer bills. Customer service matters and 

complaints may also be directed to Birch’s customer service contact person by writing 

to: 

Charles Fuller 
Vice President of Customer Service 
Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. 
2020 Baltimore Avenue 
Kansas City, Missouri 64108 

Birch’s customer service representatives are prepared to respond to a broad 

range of service matters, including inquiries regarding Birch’s service offerings and 

associated rates monthly statements, problems and concerns regarding a customer’s 

service. 

15. Please complete and file a price list in accordance with Commission Rule 
25-24.825. (Rule attached). 

Please see Exhibit B. 

FORM PSWCMU 8(11/95) 
Required by Chapter 364.337 F.S. 
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16. Please provide all available documentation demonstrating that the 
applicant has the following capabilities to provide alternative local 
exchange service in Florida. 

A. Financial capability 

Birch is a newly-formed corporation, incorporated on February 8, 2000. A s  such, 

Birch does not yet have any of its own financial statements. Birch intends to rely on the 

financial resources of its parent corporation, Birch Telecom, Inc., for its Florida 

operations. As evidence of its more than sufficient financial resources and qualifications 

to provide the local exchange telecommunications services proposed herein within the 

State of Florida, Birch has attached hereto as Exhibit C the 1999 SEC Form IOWA. 

and the first quarter 2000 SEC Form IO-Qs of its parent, Birch Telecom, Inc. Birch 

Telecom, Inc. has guaranteed it will provide Birch with access to the funding necessary 

to support Birch’s Florida operations (see Financial Guarantee of Birch Telecom, Inc., 

attached hereto as Exhibit D). 

The financial statements and other financial information attached as Exhibits C 

and D confirm that Birch has the financial resources necessary for its proposed Florida 

operations. 

Regarding the showing of financial capability, the following applies: 

The application a o u l d  conta in the applicant’s financial statements 
for the most recent 3 years, including: 

1. the balance sheet 

2. income statement 

3. statement of retained earnings 

Further, a written explanation, which can include supporting 
documentation, regarding the following should be provided to show 
financial capability. 

FORM PSCllCMU 8(11/95) 
Required by Chapter 364.337 F.S. 
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1. Please provide documentation that the applicant has sufficient 
financial capability to provide the requested service in the 
geographic area proposed to be served. 

2. Please provide documentation that the applicant has sufficient 
financial capability to maintain the requested service. 

3. Please provide documentation that the applicant has sufficient 
financial capability to meet its lease or ownership obligations. 

NOTF: This documentation mav include. but is not ~ ~ M J Q ,  
I statements. a p ro jected profit and loss st- 

wedit refe rences. cred it bureau reports. and desc- 
business relationshim with fin- 

. .  
. .  

. .  . .  

If available, the financial statements should be audited 
financial statements. 

If the applicant does not have audited financial statements, it shall be so stated. 
The unaudited financial statements should then be signed by the applicant’s chief 
executive officer and chief financial officer. The signatures should attest that the 
financial statements a re true a nd co rrect. 

B. Managerial capability. 

Birch’s officers and directors have extensive experience providing 

telecommunications services and operating telecommunications companies. As stated 

above, Birch’s sister corporations are currently authorized to provide local exchange 

and long distance services within the states of Missouri, Kansas, Texas and Oklahoma, 

and currently provide such services in the states of Missouri, Kansas and Texas. Birch 

has been granted authority to provide resold and facilities-based interexchange and 

local telecommunications services in the Commonwealth of Kentucky and currently has 

applications for authority to provide resold and facilities-based interexchange and local 

exchange telecommunications services pending in the states of Georgia, Louisiana, 

South Carolina and Tennessee. The services proposed in Birch’s pending applications 

FORM PSCllCMU 8(11/95) 
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are the same as those proposed herein. In addition, Birch’s sister corporation, Birch 

Telecom of the Great Lakes, Inc. has been granted authority to provide interexchange 

telecommunications services in the state of Indiana and Michigan, and currently has 

applications pending for authority to provide resold andlor facilities-based local 

exchange telecommunications services in the states of Illinois, Indiana, Michigan and 

Wisconsin. Birch has attached hereto as Exhibit E biographical descriptions of the 

company officers who will have primary management responsibility for Birch’s business 

operations, as evidence that Birch’s management team possesses more than sufficient 

technical and managerial expertise to provide the local exchange telecommunications 

services proposed herein to customers in the State of Florida. 

C. Technical capability. Please see Exhibit E. 

(If you will be providing local intraexchange switched 
telecommunications service, then state how you will provide access to 911 
emergency service. If the nature of the emergency 911 service access and 
funding mechanism is not equivalent to that provided by the local exchange 
companies in the areas to be served, described in detail the difference.) 

Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. intends to operate as a provider of resold and 
facilities-based local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services within 
the State of Florida. Birch will make arrangements with BellSouth for the provision of 
91 1 emergency service to Birch’s customers. Birch’s emergency 91 1 services will be 
equivalent to those provided by local exchange companies in the areas to be served by 
Birch in the State of Florida. 

FORM PSWCMU s(irm5) 
Required by Chapter 364.337 F.S. 
1148513 



APPLICATION FORM 

AFFl DAVIT 

By my signature below, I, the undersigned officer, attest to the accuracy of the 
information contained in this application and attached documents and that the applicant 
has the technical expertise, managerial ability, and financial capability to provide 
alternative local exchange service in the State of Florida. I have read the foregoing and 
declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the information is true and correct. 
I attest that I have the authority to sign on behalf of my company and agree to comply, 
now an din the future, with all applicable Commission rules and orders. 

Further, I am aware that pursuant to Chapter 837.06, Florida 
Statutes, "Whoever knowingly makes a false statement in 
writing with the intent to mislead a public servant in the 
performance of his official duty shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in 
s. 775.082 and s. 775.083". 

Official: 7- 2 5 .  -Zoo0 
'Date 

Title: Senior Vice President (816) 300-3225 
Telephone Number 

Address: 2020 Baltimore Avenue 
Kansas City, Missouri 64108 



Proof From the Florida Secretary of State 
That Birch Has Authority To Operate in Florida 



Katherine Harris 
Secretary of State 

May 18,2000 

TAMARA ODOM 
csc 
TALLAHASSEE, FL 

Qualification documents for BIRCH TELECOM OF THE SOUTH, INC. were filed on 
May 18,2000 and assigned document number F00000002797. Please refer to this 
number whenever corresponding with this office. 

Your corporation is now qualified and authorized to transact business in Florida as of 
the file date. 

A corporation annual repotVuniforrn business report will be due this office between 
January 1 and May 1 of the year following the calendar year of the file date. A Federal 
Employer Identification (FEI) number will be required before this report can be filed. If 
you do not already have an FEI number, please apply NOW with the Internal Revenue 
by calling 1-800-829-3676 and requesting form SS-4. 

Please be aware if the corporate address changes, it is the responsibility of the 
corporation to notify this office. 

Should you have any questions regarding this matter, please telephone (850) 487- 
6051, the Foreign Qualificatioflax Lien Section. 

Buck Kohr 
Corporate Specialist 
Division of Corporations 

Account number: 072100000032 

Letter Number: 400A00028357 

Account charged 70.00 

Division of Corporations - P.O. BOX 6327 -Tallahassee, Florida 32314 
~~ ~ 



APPLICATION BY FOREIGN CORPORATION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO TRANSACT 
BUSINESS IN FLORIDA 

IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 607.1503, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE FOLLOWING IS SUBMITTED TQ 
REGISTER A FOREIGN CORPORATION TO TRANSACT BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA. _ _  

J ,  .1 ",*.- 
:. :, . ,. q J  ' . :$'::-,, .*' .:, ,, Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. 

;. 
-9 ,- .. . 

AA 

(Name of corporation; must include the word "INCORPORATED", "COMPANY. "CORPORATION or 

natural person or partnership if not so contained in the name at present.) 
words or abbreviations of like import in language as will clearly indicate that it is a corporation instead of a , I.,. . .  a -;.,; , , 

, '  
/?. e..-, 

-/ '.$Y ', 

.=: 
+ "' /, 

<. . 43-1877678  2,  Delaware 3. 
G 

(State or country under the law of which it is incorporated) (FEI number, if applicable) 

4. February 8 ,  2000 5, Perpetual 
(Date of incorporation) (Duration: Year corp. will cease to exist or "perpetual") 

6. Upon approval 
(Date f i s t  transacted business in Florida.) (SEE SECTIONS 607.1501. 607.1502 and 817.155, F.S.) 

2020 Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, MO 64108 

7. 

(Current mailing address) 

8. Provision of telecommunication services 
(Putpose(s) of corporation authorized in home state or country to be carried out in state of Florida) 

9. Name and street address of Florida registered agent: (P.O. Box or Mail Drop Box N a a c c e p t a b l e )  

Corporation Service company 

1201 Hays Street 

Tallahassee , Florida, 32301 
(Zip code) 

Name: 

Office Address: 

10. Registered agent's acceptance: 

Having been named as registered agent and to accept service ofprocess for the abovkstated corporation ai the place designated in 
this application, I hereby accept the appointment as registered agent and agree to act in this capacify. I further agree to comply 
with the provisions of all statutes relative to the proper and complete performance of my duties, and I am familiar with and accept 
the obligations of my position as registered agent. 

Corporation Service Company 
B y : % d  & (2A.d.- 

\ begistered aient's signahhe) 

11. Attached is a certificate of existence duly authenticated, not more than 90 days prior to delivery of this application to the 
Department of State, by the Secretary of State or other official having custody of corporate records in the jurisdiction under the law of 
which it is incorporated. 

12. Names and addresses of officers andor directors: (Street address ONLY - P.O. Box NOT acceptable) 

~~ 



A. DIRECTORS (Street address only - P.O. Box NOT acceptable) 

-. Director: David E. Scott 

Address: 2020 Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, MO 64108 

wc -' ' : Director: Bradley A. Moline 

Address: 2020  Baltimore Avenue 
_. , -. ~ .-* ,>. Kansas City, MO 64108 -A;<<:. 

Address: 2020  Baltimore Avenue , <: . ".: ;.:. 
v .~ . .  . .  

-,. I ,  . i'. Director: .. / t:. 

Address: 

B. OFFICERS (Street address only - P.O. Box NOT acceptable) 

president: David E .  Scott 

Address: 2020  Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, MO 64108 

Vice President: 

Address: 

~ ~~~~ 

secretary: & Senior Vice President: Gregory C. Lawhon 

Address: 2020  Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, MO 64108 

T ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ :  & Senior Vice President: Bradley A. Moline 

Address: 2020  Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, MO 64108 

NOTE: If necessary, you may attach an addendum to the application listing additional officers and/or directors. 

13. 
(#@&e of Chairman, Vice Chairman, or any officer listed in number 12 of the application) 

14. Gregory C. Lawhon, Senior Vice President 
(Typed or printed name and capacity of person signing application) 



EXHIBIT B 

Birch’s Price List 



Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. PSC Price List No. 1 
Original Page 1 

Local Exchange Telecommunications Services Price List 

of 
.~ 

Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. 

for the 

State of Florida 

Issued: June 8,2000 

1155624rl -FL 

Effective: 

Issued by: 
David E. Scott, President 
2020 Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, Missouri 64108 



Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. PSC Price List No. 1 
Original Page 2 

CHECK SHEET 

Pages 1 through 58 inclusive of this Price List are effective as of the date shown on the bottom of 
the respective pages. Original and revised pages, as named below, comprise all changes from the 
original Price List and are currently in effect as of the date at the bottom of this page: 

Pace Number 
1 Original 
2 Original 
3 Original 
4 Original 
5 Original 
6 Original 
7 Original 
8.- Original 
9 Original 
10 Original 
11 Original 
12 Original 
13 Original 
14 Original 
15 Original 
16 Original 
17 Original 
18 Original 
19 Original 
20 Original 
21 Original 
22 Original 
23 Original 
24 Original 
25 Original 
26 Original 
27 Original 
28 Original 
29 Original 
30 Original 
31 Original 
32 Original 
33 Original 

Issued: June 8,2000 Effective: 

Issued by: 
David E. Scott, President 
2020 Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, Missouri 64108 



Birch Telecom of the South. Inc. PSC Price List No. 1 
Original Page 3 

Paee Number 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 

45 
46 
47 
48 
49 
50 
51 
52 
53 
54 
55 
56 
57 
58 

44 

CHECK SHEET (continued) 

Issue 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 
Original 

Issued: June 8,2000 Effective: 

1155624"l -PL 

Issued by: 
David E. Scott, President 
2020 Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, Missouri 64108 



Birch Telecom of the South. Inc . PSC Price List No . 1 
Original Page 4 
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A. 

B. 

C. 

PRICE LIST FORMAT 

PAGE NUMBERING - Sheet numbers appear in the upper right comer of the sheet. Sheets 
are numbered sequentially. However, new sheets are occasionally added to the Price List. 
When a new sheet is added between sheets already in effect, a decimal is added. For 
example, a new page added between pages 1 and 2 would be page 1.1, 

PAGE REVISION NUMBERS - Revision numbers also appear in the upper right comer of 
each sheet. These numbers are used to determine the most current sheet version on file with 
the Commission. For example, the 4th revised Sheet 14 cancels the 3rd Revised Sheet 14. 
Because of various suspension periods, deferrals, etc., that the Commission follows in their 
Price List approval process, the most current sheet number on file with the Commission is 
not -. always the sheet in effect. Consult the Check Sheet currently in effect. 

CHECK SHEETS - When a Price List filing is made with the Commission, an updated check 
sheet accompanies the Price List filing. The check sheet lists the sheets contained in the 
Price List, with a cross reference to the current revision number. 

When new sheets are added, the check sheet is changed to reflect the revision. All revisions 
made in a given filing are designated by an asterisk (*). There will be no other symbols used 
on this sheet if these are the only changes made to it (.Le., the format, etc., remains the same, 
just revised revision levels are indicated on some sheets). The Price List user should refer 
to the latest check sheet to find if a particular sheet is the most current on file with the 
Commission. 
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EXPLANATION OF SYMBOLS 

When changes are made in any Price List page, a revised page will be issued canceling the Price List 
page affected. Changes will be identified on the revised page(s) through the use of the following 
symbols: 

A discontinuation or deletion. 

A change that results in an increase to a customer’s bill. 

Moved from or to another Price List location. 

New. 

A change that results in a reduction to a customer’s bill. 

A change in text or regulation, but no change in rate or charge. 

.~ 
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APPLICATION OF PRICE LIST 

This Price List contains the regulations, terms, conditions, services offerings, rates and charges 
applicable to Birch Telecom of the South, Inc.’s (“Company”) hrnishing of local exchange and 
intrastate intraLATA toll telephone service in the State of Florida to customers within all areas 
served by Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers authorized to operate in the State of Florida. The 
rates and rules contained herein are subject to change pursuant to the statutes, rules and regulations 
of the State of Florida. 

This Price List is on file with the Florida Public Service Commission at 2540 Shumard Oak 
Boulevard, Gerald Gunter Building, Tallahassee, Florida 32399. In addition, this Price List is 
available for review at the Company’s corporate headquarters located at 2020 Baltimore Avenue, 
Kansas City, Missouri 64108. .~ 
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

900 Call Restriction -Allows customers to restrict 900 prefix outgoing calls from being placed over 
their exchange access lines. 

Auto Redial - Enables the customer to automatically redial the last outgoing telephone number. 
When the telephone number is busy, the Company's equipment will keep trying to call the number 
being redialed for a maximum of 30 minutes. 

Business - When used in relation to service, means service provided in offices, stores, factories and 
all other places for business use. 

Call Blocker .~ - Enables the customer to block calls from preselected telephone numbers andor the 
last incoming call (without knowing the number). To block specified telephone numbers, the 
customer builds a screening list. To block an unknown number after receiving a call, the customer 
enters a code to add the number to their screening list. If facilities are unavailable to provide 
incoming call screening via the customer's list, standard call completion will occur. Customers 
whose telephone numbers are blocked are directed to a Company recorded announcement. 

Call Forwarding - Automatically routes incoming calls to a designated answering point selected 
by the subscriber, regardless of whether the user's station is idle or busy. The subscriber may change 
the designated answering point using the telephone key pad. 

Call Forwarding-Busy Line - Automatically routes incoming calls to a pre-designated answering 
point when the called line is busy. 

Call Forwarding-Busy Line/Don't Answer - Allows incoming calls that encounter a busy 
condition or are not answered after a predetermined number of rings to be automatically forwarded 
to a predesignated telephone number within the exchange or the Long Distance Telecommunications 
Network. The Call Forwarding customer is responsible for the payment of charges (e. g., tolls 
charges) for each call between the Call Forwarding equipped telephone line and the line to which 
the call is being forwarded. 

Call Forwarding-Don't Answer - Automatically routes incoming calls to a pre-designated 
answering point when the called line is not answered after a preset number of rings. 
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS (continued) 

Call Return - Enables a Customer to automatically redial the telephone number of the last incoming 
call. If that telephone number is busy, the Company's equipment will keep trying to call the number 
being redialed for a maximum of 30 minutes. 

Call Transfer - Provides the capability to transfer or add a third party, using the same line. 

Call Transfer Disconnect - Enables business customers to add on another line to an established call 
creating a three-way call. The Call Transfer Disconnect subscriber may disconnect from the 
three-way call and allow the other two parties to continue talking, thereby freeing their line for the 
purpose of originating another call. The Call Transfer Disconnect feature cannot be used to expand 
a calling scope and is, therefore, not available to customers subscribing to an optional flat-rate local, 
toll or expanded calling plan. Call Transfer Disconnect cannot be used to avoid toll charges. Call 
Transfer Disconnect customers are responsible for any toll or other charges associated with calls they 
originate. 

Call Waiting - Provides the user with a burst of tone to indicate that another call is waiting. The 
second call can either be answered by flashing the switchhook or hanging up the phone and being 
rung back by the caller. 

Call Waiting ID - Allows for the display of the name and/or number of a new caller when user is 
already talking on the telephone and receives another phone call on the customer's CPE and allows 
the customer to decide to answer the new incoming call or not. 

Call Waiting ID Options - Allows Call Waiting ID customer to identify the name and/or number 
of an incoming caller when already talking on the telephone and receive another phone call on 
customer's CPE. The customer may decide how to handle the second caller from a menu choice 
known as Disposition Codes appearing on the customer's CPE as menu options. 

Cancel Call Waiting - Allows a user to cancel the Call Waiting feature on a per call basis by dialing 
a specific two digit code. 

Caller ID - Number - Identifies the 10-digit number of the calling party before the call is answered. 
Specialized answering equipment is required to display the calling party information. The calling 
party may block the display of their number by dialing a code prior to placing the call. 

Caller ID - Name - Identifies the name associated with the calling number before the phone is 
answered. This feature requires Caller ID - Number. 
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS (continued) 

Caller ID on Call Waiting - Provides calling number and calling name delivery following the Call 
Waiting tone. 

Caller ID Blocking - Blocks the delivery of the number and name to the called party on a per call 
basis. Can either be "selective" or "complete." 

Calling Features - Optional telephone services allowing customers to efficiently manage the call 
flow generated over their exchange access lines. 

Collect Call - Denotes a billing arrangement by which the charge for a call may be reversed 
providedthe charge is accepted at the called service point. A collect call may be billed to a calling 
card or third party number. In the case of a telephone which is identified as Customer-Owned Pay 
Telephone Service, the charges must be billed to a calling card or third number, or the call may be 
reoriginated from the called service point. 

Company -Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. unless the context indicates otherwise. 

Commission - The Florida Public Services Commission, unless the context indicates otherwise. 

Conference Telephone Service- The furnishing of simultaneous connection between three or more 
exchange access arrangements. If Long Distance Message Telecommunications rates would apply 
on a connection between any two of the exchange access arrangements so connected. conference 
service will be furnished in accordance with this Tariff. 

CPE - Customer Provided Equipment. 

Customer - The Person which orders or uses the service and is responsible for the payment of rates 
and charges and compliance with tariff regulations. 

Customer Account - A customer's record relating to the service or equipment billed to a single 
telephone number. Service may be all on one premises or extended to other premises as long as it 
is part of the main telephone system and billed to the main telephone number. 

Customer Alerting Enablement - Allows residence and business lines to receive an audible alerting 
tone (intermittent dial tone) transmitted from the central office. 
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS (continued) 

Customer Premises - One Customer Premises is all space in the sanie building occupied by a 
Customer and all space occupied by the same Customer in diffcrent buildings on the samc property. 

Customer Provided Equipment (CPE) - Equipmcnt provided by the Customer. 

Demarcation Point - That point of interconncetion between the Company's facilities and the wiring 
at the Customer Premises. The Demarcation Point shall consist of wirc or a jack conforming IO 
Subpart F of Part 68 of the Federal Communications Commission's rulcs and regulations (a network 
interface). 

The network interface may be located at a point other than the normal demarcation point where the 
network jntcrface is already established by the presence of ncnvork equipment on the effective date 
of this Tariff. For multi-unit structures (e.g., apartments, college campuses, shopping centers), thc 
structurc owner shall make the final decision on whether the structure shall bc treated as a multi-unit 
structure with one Demarcation Point per unit or, as a single unit with one Demarcation Point for 
the entire structure. The structure owncr shall havc thc option of having the Demarcation Point 
placed at a location other than that determincd by the Company, provided thc structure owner pays 
any additional construction costs and such location is consistent with the minimum point ofcntry 
standard. 

With regard to premises for any structure that is built to be mobile (e&, mobile homes, recrcatimal 
vchicles), the Company may place the Demarcation Point on a post or pole at or near the pad whcrc 
such structure is intcnded to rest. Boat docks and similar prcmises may be treated by the Company 
as a single unit premises, with the Demarcation Point being placed on thc shore. 

Direct Inward Dialing (DID) - Allows an incoming call to reach a station line without attendance 
assistance. 

Direct Outward Dialing (DOD) - A service attnbutc that routes outgoing calls dircctly lo the 
exchange network without attendant assistance. 

Directory Assistance - Senkc  whereby Customers may request assistance in determining telephone 
numbcrs when the listcd name is provided. 

Directory Assistance Call Completion (DACC) - Scrvice whereby customers may request 
completion of local or intraLATA long distance calls to a rcquested number by either the Directory 
Assistance operator (Semi-Automated) or the Directory Assistance audio rcsponse system that 
provides the rcquested directory number (Fully Automatcd). 

Issued: June 8,2000 Effective: 

Issued by: 
David E. Scott, President 
2020 Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, Missouri 64108 



Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. PSC Price List No. 1 
Original Page 12 

Directory Listing - The publication in the Florida Bell Telephone Company a/Wa BellSouth 
Telecommunications, Inc. (hereinafter "BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc.") White Pages directory 
of information relative to the customers' telephone numbers ("the Directory"), by which telephone 
users are enabled to ascertain the telephone number of a desired telephone. 

Additional Listings - A separate and alphabetically distinct listing for the names of anyone 
else living at the end user's home or, for example, partners in a business. 

Alternate Listings - A listing of an alternate telephone number to be called in case no 
answer is received at the primary call number. 

Dual Name Listings - A listing provided for two persons who reside at the same address or 
for a person known by two first names. 

Extra Lines - An extra line (consisting of five words or any fraction thereof) under the 
Primary Listing for the proper placement of telephone calls and not for advertising purposes 
or to show store hours. 

Foreign Listings - Allows the Customer to have a Directory listing outside of hisher local 
area. 

Night Number Terminal Service - Allows callers to be routed to a specific line or trunk in 
a hunt group. The Night Number is strapped in the central office to either a telephone 
number or a terminal working at the end user's location. 

Nonlisted Service - A listing, at the customer's request, is omitted from the Directory, but 
appears on Directory Assistance records. 

Nonpublished Exchange Service - A listing, at the customer's request, is omitted from the 
Directory but appears on Directory Assistance with NP instead of the telephone number. 

Primary Listing - One listing in the Directory, at no charge, when applying for telephone 
service. 

Regular Extra Listings - A listing for the same address and phone number as, and in 
addition to, the Primary Listing in the Directory. 

Residence Bold or Script Listings - Special print styles (bold or script) available for listings 
in the residence Directory. 
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Residence Family Space Listings - Allows the Customer to have first names or nicknames 
of family members placed within a customized space outlines with a bold box. 

Residence Custom Extra Line Listing - A customized extra line(s) associated with the end 
user’s alphabetical residential listing which allows the end user to further describe himself 
or herself. Subject to approval by the Company, one to eight lines of descriptive information 
may be placed between the end user’s name and address in their directory listings. 

Residence Logo Listing - Allows an end user to choose a logo from a pre-selected menu of 
approved logos, which will appear with the end user‘s listing in the Directory. The entire 
listing will be enclosed within a box with the logo itself appearing in a space below the listed 
name and above the listed address. 

Saretarial Listings - A listing contracted for by a Customer in the secretarial services 
business whereby that Customer’s patrons, with their permission, are listed alphabetically in 
the Directory with the Customer’s telephone number. 

Disconnection - The temporary cessation of telecommunications service 

DN - Dependent Number. See “Multi-Directory Numbers.” 

Dual Tone Multi-Frequency (DTMF) - The pulse type employed by tone dial station sets. 

Exchange - A telephone system which provides for service within a specified area known as the 
“Exchange Area.” 

Exchange Access Line - A central office line which provides access to the exchange telephone 
network for local and long distance telephone service and includes the service, central office 
equipment and all outside plant facilities furnished by the Company. 

Exchange Service - The furnishing of service for telephone communication within local service 
areas in accordance with the provisions of this Tariff. 

Extended Area Service - A Local Exchange Service that is provided between two or more 
contiguous exchange areas. 

Flat Rate Service - Exchange Service furnished for a specified sum without regard to the amount 
of use. 
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS (continued) 

Hunting - Series - A hunting arrangement that provides for sequential hunt over members identified 
within the hunt group. The hunt for an idle line begins at the telephone number dialed and proceeds 
sequentially through the lines identified in the hunt group until an idle line is found or the last 
assigned number within the hunt group is reached. If an idle line is found, the hunt stops and the idle 
line is rung. If all lines are busy, the caller receives a busy signal. 

Hunting - Circle - A hunting arrangement similar to sequential hunting except, if no idle line is 
found by the time the last line in the group is reached, the hunt circles back to the first line in the 
group and hunts up to but not including the line where the hunt started. 

Hunting: Preferential - Some or all of the lines in a hunt group may have an associated preferential 
hunt list. This hunt list permits a pre-hunt over a subset or preferential group of lines before hunting 
through the multiline hunt group. 

Individual (1-Party) Line Service - A grade of Exchange Service which provides for a maximum 
of one main station on a line. 

Intercept Referral Service-Basic - Used when a customer disconnects service or changes his 
telephone number. Calls to the intercepted telephone number are referred to an operator or a 
recorded message. The caller is provided With information such as a new telephone number and/or 
name and/or address. This service is provided to residential customers for a minimum of 30 days, 
while capacity on facilities exists. 

Intercept Referral Service-Special - Same as Intercept Referral Service - Basic, plus it provides 
additional information to the caller. 

Intercom Calling - Enables single line customers to set up internal communications (intercom) 
between multiple telephone extensions. The customer establishes intercom calls by dialing a code 
and hanging up, the telephone handset. The code activates distinctive ringing to alert intercom users 
of an intercom call. Three-way Calling is necessary for the operation of Intercom Calling. This 
feature is obsolete except for existing customers at existing locations. 

Interexchange Channel - That portion of a channel which interconnects exchanges in which the 
stations are located. 
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS (continued) 

LATA - Local Access and Transport Area (LATA) denotes a geographic area established for the 
administration of telecommunications service. It encompasses designated local operating Company 
exchanges which are grouped to serve common social, economic and miscellaneous purposes. 

Local Messages - A local message is a telephone conversation of any prescribed length between two 
telephone stations. It is the measurement upon whch the charges for telephone communications arc 
based when the calling station and the station to which communications is established arc both 
within the same local service area. 

Local Service Area - That area within which a Customer can make telephone calls at exchange 
rates. . 

Multi-Directory Numbers - Allows customers to establish up to three telephone numbers on the 
same access line. Each number is assigned a distinctive ring. The billing telephone number is the 
"master" number and has a standard ring. The other number(s) are dependent numbers and are 
assigned individual distinctive rings. 

Multiline Hunt Group - Rotary (hunting) service provided in Electronic Switching System (ESS) 
offices where a standard seven-digit number is assigned only to the first line in a customer's number 
group. Subsequent lines are designated by using two-, three- or four-digit numbers dependent on 
the type of ESS office. The Company reserves the right to determine when Multiline Hunt Group 
numbers arc assigned. 

Night Number Service - Allows calls to be routed to a specific line or trunk in a hunt group. The 
Night Number is strapped in the Central Office to either a telephone number of a terminal working 
at the end user's location. Night numbers associated with a terminal will not hunt. 

Operator Services 

Non-Automated - Where the person originating the call dials zero or a special access 
number (e. g., an 800/888 number), and the operator dials the number and collects billing 
information for completion of the call. 

Semi-Automated - Where the personal originating the call dials zero or a special access 
number (e. g., an 8001888 number), (or 1+ calls from pay telephones), then dials the desired 
telephone number, and the operator collects billing information for completion of the call. 
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS (continued) 

Fully Automated - Fully automated service is where the person originating the call dials 
zero or a special access number (e.g., an 8001888 number), then dials the desired telephone 
number, and then dials the service selection codes as instructed by the automated billing 
equipment, and the call is completed without the assistance of an operator. 

Person - An individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, or any other entity. 

Priority Call - Provides the customer with a distinctive ring or Call Waiting tone (if the customer 
has subscribed to Call Waiting), when the customer is called from preselected telephone numbers. 
The customer can construct or modify the telephone number screening list by dialing a unique code. 
The Company's equipment will screen incoming calls against the screening list and provide a 
distinctive ring for telephone numbers on the list. 

Remote Call Forwarding - A service whereby calls placed to a telephone number are automatically 
forwarded by central office equipment to another number designated by the end user. The Remote 
Call Forwarding number may be either a different exchange (remote) or another central office area 
within the same exchange (!ocal). Additional paths may be provided to handle multiple calls to the 
Remote Call Forwarding number as long as there are at least an equal number of lines at the 
terminating end. Any toll portions of calls are billed to the Customer. 

Remote Access to Call Forwarding - Allows the user to activate and/or deactivate the Call 
Forwarding feature from any remote location, using a Touch-tone phone. 

Residence or Residential - When used in relation to service, means service provided in private 
residence for personal non-business use. 

Selective Call Forwarding - Enables the customer to forward incoming calls from preselected 
telephone numbers to another telephone number. The customer can construct or modify a telephone 
number screening list by dialing an activation code. The Company equipment will screen incoming 
calls against the customer's list and forward only those telephone numbers on the list. 

Sent-Paid - Denotes a billing arrangement whereby a call is charged to the service point originating 
the call. 

Series Completion - Telephone numbers assigned in a rotary (hunting) number group where each 
number assigned is a standard seven-digit number. The Company reserves the right to determine 
when series completion numbers are assigned. 
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS (continued) 

Simultaneous Call Forwarding - Provides the customer that also subscribes to an appropriate call 
forwarding service with the ability to forward multiple incoming calls simultaneously to another 
telephone number designated by the customer. The lineitrunks at the Simultaneous Call Forwarding 
customer's terminating location must equal or exceed the aggregated number of potential originating 
calls from all customer locations. The Simultaneous Call Forwarding customer is responsible for 
the payment of charges (e. g., toll charges) for each call between the Simultaneous Call Forwarding 
equipped telephone and the line to which the call is being forwarded. This service cannot be used 
to avoid toll. 

Speed Calling - Allows a subscriber to establish a speed calling list, which associates telephone 
numbers-with a unique q-digit and/or 2-digit speed calling code. Initial entry and changes to the 
speed calling list are directly input from the associated subscriber line. This feature is available as 
an eight code list or a thirty code list. Code lists may include local and/or toll telephone numbers. 

Station - Telephone equipment from or to which calls are placed. 

Three-way Calling - Allows a station in the talking state to add a third party to the call. This 
feature may be used on both incoming and outgoing calls. 

Toll Restriction - Allows the customer to establish, on a per line basis, call restrictiohs by the 
calling party. 

Trunk - A commercial channel between two switching (i.e., Central Office, PBX) systems. 

Termination - The permanent cessation of telecommunications service. 

Two-Point Service, Person-to-Person - That service where the person originating the call specifies 
to the Company operator a particular person, department or office to be reached. 

Two-Point Service, Station-to-Station - That service where the person originating the call dials the 
telephone number desired or gives to the Company operator the telephone number of the desired 
service point, or gives only the name and address under which the number of the service point is 
listed, and does not specify a particular person, department or office to be reached. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS 

2.1 Undertaking of the Company 

2.1.1 The Company undertakes to hrnish telecommunications service pursuant to the 
terms of this Tariff in connection with one-way andor two-way information 
transmission between points within a calling scope in portions of the State of Florida, 
as specified herein. 

The furnishing of service under this Tariff is subject to the availability on a 
continuing basis of all the necessary facilities and is limited to the capacity of the 
Company's facilities as well as facilities the Company may obtain from other carriers 
to furnish service from time to time as required at the sole discretion of the 
Company. 

The Company reserves the right to limit or to allocate the use of existing facilities, 
or of additional facilities, offered by the Company, when necessary because of lack 
of facilities, or due to some other cause beyond the Company's control. 

The Company may undertake service-affecting activities that may occur in normal 
operation of the Company's business. Such activities may include, but are not 
limited to, equipment or facilities additions, removals or rearrangements and routine 
preventive maintenance. Generally, such activities are not specific to an individual 
Customer but affect many Customers' services. No specific advance notification 
period is applicable to all service activities. With some emergency or unplanned 
service-affecting conditions, such as an outage resulting from wiring or equipment 
damage, notification to the Customer may not be possible. 

Customers may be required to enter into written service orders which shall contain 
or reference a specific description of the service ordered, the rates to be charged, the 
,duration of the services, and the terms and conditions in this Tariff. Customers will 
also be required to execute any other documents as may be reasonably requested by 
the Company. 

Applications for initial or additional service made verbally or in writing become a 
contract upon the establishment of the service or facility. 

2.1.2 

2.1.3 

2.1.4 

2.1.5 

2.1.6 
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2.2 

2.3 

SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

Limitations of Service 

2.2.1 The Company offers service to all Persons who desire to purchase service from the 
Company consistent with all provisions of this Tariff. Persons interested in the 
Company's services shall submit information to the Company which fully satisfies 
the Company and identifies the services requested. 

Service is offered subject to the availability of the necessary facilities and equipment, 
necessary arrangements with other carriers and billing capabilities, and is subject to 
the provisions of this Tariff. The Company reserves the right not to provide service 
to or from a location where legally prohibited. 

2.2.2 

.. 

2.2.3 The Company reserves the right to discontinue furnishing service when necessitated 
by conditions beyond its control, or when the Customer is using the service in 
violation of any provision in this Tariff, the rules and regulations of the Commission, 
or the law. 

2.2.4 Title to all facilities provided by the Company under this Tariff remains with the 
Company. Prior written permission from the Company is required before any 
assignment or transfer. All regulations and conditions contained in this Tariff shall 
apply to all such permitted assignees or transferees, as well as all conditions for 
service. 

Use of Service 

2.3.1 Permitted Uses 

Service may not be used for any unlawful purposes, or for any purpose for which any 
payment or other compensation is received by the Customer, except when the 
Customer is a duly authorized and regulated common carrier. 

2.3.2 Minimum Service Period 

The minimum period of service is one month (30 days), unless otherwise stated in 
this Tariff. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

2.3.3 Fixed Service Period 

If Customer and the Company have agreed to a specified term of service under any 
service order, then following expiration of the initial term of service, or any 
extension thereof, service shall continue on a month-to-month basis at the then 
current rates unless terminated by either party upon 30 days' written notice. 

2.3.4 Termination 

Any termination shall not relieve Customer of its obligation to pay any charges 
incurred under this Tariff or in any service order prior to termination. The rights and 
obligations which by their nature extend beyond the termination of the term of the 
service order shall survive such termination. 

- 

2.4 Liability 

2.4.1 The liability of the Company for any claim or loss, expense or damage, due to any 
interruption, delay, error, omission, or defect in any service, facility, or transmission 
provided under this Tariff or any service order shall not exceed the amount of the 
credit allowance described in Section 2.6 herein. The extension of credit allowances 
as described in Section 2.6 shall be the sole remedy of Customer and sole liability of 
the Company for any interruption, delay, error, omission, or defect in any service, 
facility, or transmission provided under this Tariff or any service order. In no event 
will the Company be liable for any direct, indirect, consequential, incidental, 
exemplary, punitive, or special damages, or for any lost business, goodwill, income 
or profits, even if advised of the possibility of the same. 

2.4.2 The Company shall not be liable for any claim or loss, expense, or damage for any 
interruption, delay, error, omission, or other defect in service, facility, or 
transmission provided under this Tariff or any service order, if caused by or resulting 
from: any person or entity other than the Company; any malfunction of any service 
or facility provided by any Person other than the Company; labor difficulties; fire, 
flood, earthquake, or any other act of God; explosion; war; riot or civil disturbance; 
any law, order, regulation, direction, action or request of any federal, state or local 
government or any department, agency, commission, bureau, or other instrumentality 
of federal, state or local government; or by any other cause beyond the Company's 
control. 
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2.4.3 The Company shall not be liable for and shall be fully indemnified and held harmless 
by Customer against any claim of loss, expense, or damage, including indirect, 
special, or consequential damage for: 

2.4.3.1 Defamation, libel, slander, invasion of privacy, inhngement of copyright or 
patent, unauthorized use of any trademark, trade name, or service mark, 
unfair competition, interference with or misappropriation, or violation of any 
contract, proprietary or creative right, or any other injury to any person, 
property, or entity arising from the material, data, information, or content 
revealed to, transmitted, processed, handled, or used by the Company under 
this Tariff; 

2.4.3.2 Connecting, combining, or adapting the Company's facilities with Customer's 
apparatus or systems; 

2.4.3.3 Any loss, destruction or damage to property of the Company, the Customer, 
or any third party, or the death or injury to persons, including, but not limited 
to, employees or invitees of either party, to the extent caused by or resulting 
from the negligent or intentional act or omission of the Customer, its 
employees, agents, representatives, family members or invitees; 

2.4.3.4Any claim, loss, damage, expense or liability for infringement of any 
copyright, patent, trade secret, or any proprietary or intellectual property right 
of the Company or any third party, arising from any act or omission by the 
Customer, including, without limitation, use of the Company's services and 
facilities in a manner not contemplated by this Tariff or any agreement 
between the Customer and the Company; or 

2.4.3.5 Any personal injury or death of any person or for any loss of or damage to 
Customer Premises or any other property, whether owned by Customer or 
others, caused directly or indirectly by the installation, maintenance, location, 
condition, operation, failure, presence, use, or removal of equipment or 
wiring provided by the Company, if not caused by gross negligence of the 
Company. 
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2.4.4 

SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

Emergency 91 1 Service (E91 1) is offered solely as an aid in handling assistance calls 
in connection with fire, police and other emergencies. The Company is not 
responsible for any losses, claims, demands, suits or any liability whatsoever, 
whether suffered, made, instituted or asserted by the Customer or by any other party 
or person for any personal injury to or death of any person or persons, and for any 
loss, damage or destruction of any property, whether owned by the Customer or 
others, caused or claimed to have been caused by: (1) mistakes, omissions, 
interruptions, delays, errors or other defects in the provision of this service, or (2) 
installation, operation, failure to operate, maintenance, removal, presence, condition, 
location or use of any equipment and facilities furnishing this service. 

The Company is not responsible for any infringement or invasion of the right of 
privacy of any person or persons, caused directly or indirectly, by the installation, 
operation, failure to operate, maintenance, removal, presence, condition, occasion or 
use of Emergency 91 I Service features and the equipment associated therewith, or 
by any services furnished by the Company including, but not limited to, the 
identification of the telephone number, address or name associated with the telephone 
used by the party or parties accessing Emergency 91 1 Service, and which arise out 
of the negligence or other wrongful act of the Company, the Customer, its users, 
agencies or municipalities, or the employees or agencies of any one of them. 

When a Customer with a nonpublished telephone number places a call to the 
Emergency 91 1 Service, the Company will release the name and address of the 
calling party, where such information can be determined, to the appropriate local 
governmental authority. By subscribing to service under this Tariff, Customer 
acknowledges and agrees with the release of information as described above. 

The Company will supply subscriber information to update the Emergency 91 1 
Service database at the time the Company submits subscriber orders for basic local 
exchange telecommunications service to BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc.. 

At the time the Company provides basic local service to a customer by means of the 
Company's own cable pair, or over any other exclusively owned facility, the 
Company will be obligated to make the necessary equipment or facility additions in 
the 91 1 service provider's equipment in order to properly update the database for 91 1. 
At that time, the Company will be obligated to provide facilities to route calls from 
the end users to the proper PSAP. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

The Company recognizes the authority of the E91 1 customer to establish service 
specifications and grant final approval or denial of service configurations offered by 
the Company. 

The Company will collect 91 1 surcharges and remit all surcharge revenue to the 
appropriate governmental. 

2.4.5 No agent or employee of any other camer shall be deemed to be an agent or 
employee of the Company. 

2,4.6 THE COMPANY MAKES NO WARRANTY REGARDING THE PROVISION OF 
SERVICE PURSUANT TO THIS TARIFF, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO 
THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR 
A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. 

2.5 Interruption of Service 

Customer will be entitled to a credit allowance for an interruption of service which is not 
caused by or does not result from the negligence or act of Customer or to the failure of 
channels, equipment, power supplies, and/or communications systems provided by Customer 
or Persons other than the Company. A credit allowance is subject to the provisions of this 
section and the other sections of this Tariff, including, but not limited to, the general liability 
provisions set forth in Section 2.4 herein and the terms of Section 2.6 herein. Customer is 
obligated to notify the Company immediately of any interruption in service for which the 
Customer desires a credit allowance. Before giving such notice, Customer shall ascertain 
that the interruption is not being caused by any action or omission of Customer within his 
or her control, or is not in wiring on Customer's side of the Demarcation Point or equipment, 
power supplies, or communications systems, if any, furnished by Customer or Persons other 
than the Company. 

2.6 Responsibilities of the Customer 

2.6.1 All Customers assume general responsibilities in connection with the provisions and 
use of the Company's service. When facilities, equipment, and/or communications 
systems provided by others are connected to the Company's facilities, Customer 
assumes additional responsibilities. Customers are responsible for: 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

2.6.1.1 Placing orders for service; paying all appropriate charges for service rendered 
by the Company; complying with the Company's regulations governing the 
service; and assuring that its users comply with regulations. 

2.6.1.2 Providing: 

a. the name(s) and address(es) of the person(s) responsible for the 
payment of service charges; and 

b. the name(s), telephone number(s), and address(es) of the Customer 
contact person(s). 

2.6.1.3 Paying the Company for the replacement or repair of the Company's 
equipment when the damage results from: 

a. the negligence or willful act of Customer or user; 

b. improper use of service; or 

c. any use of equipment or service provided by others. 

2.6.1.4 Providing at no charge, as specified from time to time by the Company, any 
needed personnel, equipment, space and power to operate the Company's 
facilities and equipment installed on the Customer Premises, and the level of 
heating and air conditioning necessary to maintain a proper operating 
environment on such premises. 

2.6.1.5 Obtaining, maintaining, and otherwise having full responsibility for all 
rights-of-way and conduit necessary for installation of and associated 
equipment used to provide services to the Customer from the cable building 
entrance or property line to the location of the equipment space described 
above. Any costs associated with the obtaining and maintaining the 
rights-of-way described herein, including the costs of altering the structure 
to permit installation of the Company provided facilities, shall be borne 
entirely by, or may be charged by, the Company to the Customer. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

2.6.1.6 Providing the Company's authorized employees, contractors, or agents access 
to the Customer's premises at all reasonable hours for any purpose reasonably 
pertinent to furnishing of telephone service. 

2.6.1.7 Complying with all laws and regulations applicable to, and obtaining all 
consents, approvals, licenses and permits as may be required with respect to 
the location of the Company's facilities and equipment in any Customer 
Premises or the rights-of-way for which the Customer is responsible under 
this section; and granting or obtaining permission for the Company's 
employees, contractors, or agents to enter the premises of the Customer at 
any time for the purpose of installing, inspecting, maintaining, repairing, or, 
upon termination service as stated herein, removing the facilities or 
equipment of the Company, and not creating or allowing to be placed any 
liens or other encumbrance< on the Company's equipment or facilities; 

2.6.1.8 A Customer who subscribes to the Company's Exchange Service and resells 
these services to others shall be responsible for complying with all laws and 
regulations of the State of Florida, which relate in any way to its provision of 
local telephone service, including, but not limited to, laws and regulations 
regarding consumer protection, billing and collection practices, tariffing 
obligations, and payment of applicable taxes. The Company has no 
obligation to provide notice to, or otherwise communicate with, Customers 
regarding local telephone service provided by another carrier. 

2.6.1.9 Providing a safe place to work and complying with all laws and regulations 
regarding the working conditions on the premises at which the Company's 
employees, contractors, or agents shall be installing or maintaining the 
Company's facilities and equipment. 

2.6.2 Availability of Service for Maintenance, Testing, and Adjustment 

Upon reasonable notice, the facilities provided by the Company shall be made 
available to the Company for such tests and adjustments as may be necessary to 
maintain them in satisfactory condition. No interruption allowance will be granted 
for the time during which such tests and adjustments are made. 

2.6.3 Credit Allowances 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

2.6.3.1 Credit for failure of service or equipment will be allowed only when failure 
is caused by or occurs in facilities or equipment owned, provided and billed 
for, by the Company. 

2.6.3.2 Credit allowances for failure of service or equipment starts when Customer 
notifies the Company of the failure or when the Company becomes aware of 
the failure and ceases when the operation has been restored and an attempt 
has been made to notify Customer. 

2.6.3.3 Customer shall notify the Company of failures of service or equipment and 
make reasonable attempts to ascertain that the failure is not caused by 
Customer Provided Equipment, any act or omission of the Customer, or in 
wiring or equipment located on the Customer's side of the Demarcation Point. 

2.6.3.4 Only thoseportions of the service or equipment disabled will be credited. No 
credit allowances will be made for: 

a. interruptions of service resulting from the Company performing 
routine maintenance; 

b. interruptions of service for implementation of a Customer order for 
a change in the service; 

intemptions caused by the negligence or willful act of omission of 
Customer or its authorized user; or 

c. 

d. interruptions of service because of the failure of service or equipment 
provided by Customer, authorized user, or other carriers. 

2.6.3.5 Credit Allowance - Directory 

For errors or omissions in listings in alphabetical telephone directories and 
information records furnished without additional charge, the Company shall 
have no liability. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

Subject to the provision of Section 2.4 of this Tariff, the Company shall 
allow, for errors or omissions in alphabetical telephone directories (excluding 
the use of bold face type), or in information records, an amount within the 
following limits: 

a. For listings in alphabetical telephone directories furnished at 
additional charge, as set forth herein, an amount not in excess of the 
charge for that listing during the effective life of the directory in 
which the error or omission occurred. 

b. For listings in the information records furnished at additional charge, 
as set forth herein, an amount not in excess of the charge for the 
listing during the period of omission or error. 

2.6.4 Cancellation by Customer 

2.6.4.1 Customer may cancel service any time after meeting the minimum service 
period. Termination charges will apply if Customer cancels prior to the 
expiration of a one-year or other fixed term service contract. Such 
termination charge will be equal to one month's usage as projected in the 
Company's proposal for service, or the actual average monthly usage to date, 
whichever is higher, plus the monthly account charge for the remainder of the 
contract period. 

2.6.4.2 If Customer orders service requiring special facilities dedicated to the 
Customer's use and then cancels the order before the service begins, or before 
completion of the minimum service period, or before completion of some 
other period mutually agreed upon by Customer and the Company, a charge 
will be made to Customer for the nonrecoverable portions of expenditures or 
liabilities incurred expressly on behalf of Customer by the Company and not 
fully reimbursed by installation and monthly charges. If based on the order, 
any construction has either begun or been completed, but no service 
provided, the nonrecoverable cost of such construction shall be borne by 
Customer. 

Issued: June 8,2000 Effective: 

Issued by: 
David E. Scott, President 
2020 Baltimore Avenue 

Kansas City, Missouri 64108 



Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. PSC Price List No. 1 
Original Page 28 

SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

2.6.5 Payment and Charges for Service 

2.6.5.1 Charges for service are applied on recumng and nonrecurring bases. Service 
is billed on a monthly basis on or about the same day each month. Service 
continues to be provided until canceled by Customer or by the Company in 
accordance with provisions of this Tariff. 

2.6.5.2 Payment will be due pursuant to applicable Commission rules. The 
Company includes its name and its toll-free telephone number on all 
invoices. 

.. 

2.6.5.3 The Customer is responsible for payment of all charges for service furnished 
to the Customer, including, hut not limited to all calls originated at the 
Customer's number(s); received at the Customer's number(s), e.g., collect, 
800; billed to the Customer's number(s) via third-party billing; incurred at the 
specific request of the Customer; or placed using a calling card issued to the 
Customer. Charges based on actual usage during a month will be billed 
monthly in arrears. All fixed monthly and nonrecurring charges for services 
ordered will be billed monthly in advance. 

2.6.5.4 Service may be denied pursuant to the Commission's rules regarding 
disconnection of service for nonpayment. Restoration of service will be 
subject to all applicable installation charges. 

2.6.5.5 Customer is liable for all costs associated with collecting past due charges, 
including all attorney's fees. 

2.6.5.6 Billing information provided to each customer on a monthly basis shall 
include but not be limited to: 

a. 

b. 

c. 

The number of access lines for which charges are stated. 

Each applicable telephone number andor account number. 

The beginning or ending dates of the billing period. 

d. The date the bill becomes delinquent if not paid on time. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

e. 

f. 

g. 

h. 

I. 

j. 

k. 

1. 

m, 

The unpaid balance (if any). 

The amount for basic service and an itemization of the amount due 
for toll service, if applicable, including the date and duration of each 
toll call. 

An itemization of the amount due for taxes, franchise fees, 911 
surcharges, universal service fund charge, local number portability 
charge, end user common line charges, primary interexchange carrier 
charges and other surcharges as may be necessary and appropriate, 
including any of the foregoing charges passed through to the 
Company by BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc.. 

The total amount due. 

If applicable, the amount of a deposit and interest accrued on a 
deposit which has been credited to the charges stated. 

A telephone number where inquiries may be made. 

If a deposit is held by the company. 

Optional services may be billed as a total of all optional services for 
which a flat monthly charge is made. 

Credit for service outages will also be reflected. 

2.6.5.7 During the first billing period in which a residential customer receives 
service, the Company provides each customer an insert or other written notice 
which contains an itemized account of the charges for the equipment and 
service for which the customer has contracted. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

2.6.5.8 Ifnotice of a dispute as to charges is not received in writing, in person or via 
telephone message by the Company within 30 days after billing is received 
by the Customer, the invoice shall be considered correct and binding on the 
Customer, unless extraordinary circumstances are demonstrated. Any 
disputed charges that cannot be resolved between Customer and the Company 
may be forwarded to the Commission's Consumer Services Division. 

2.6.6 Advance Payments and Deposits 

2.6.6.1 Advance Payments 

The Company may require a Customer or applicant for service to make an 
advance payment (1) if the applicant is unable to establish that he had a 
previous account with a telephone utility for a period of at least 12 months 
for which all undisputed charges were satisfactorily paid, or (2) if the 
applicant has had no previous telephone service or has had previous 
telephone service of less than 12 months, the applicant's credit record will be 
accessed and evaluated by means of a mechanized retrieval system between 
the Company and nationally recognized credit bureaus. No security payment 
will be required of those applicants who meet the Company's criteria, as 
evaluated by the scoring model. The criteria used in assessing a score is as 
follows: collection judgments, written-off accounts, outstanding collection 
accounts, various degrees of delinquency history from 30-180 days and not 
paid in full or current at the time of scoring, bankruptcies, liens, other public 
records. The advance payment will not exceed an amount equal to all 
nonrecurring charges and two month's estimated recurring charges, as a 
condition of continued or new service. In addition, where special 
construction is involved, the advance payment may also include an amount 
equal to the estimated nonrecurring charges for the special construction and 
two month's estimated recurring charges. The advance payment will be 
credited to the Customer's initial bill and, to the extent that a credit balance 
remains after the amount of the initial bill has been satisfied, then the credit 
balance will be applied to subsequent bills in the same manner until there is 
no balance remaining on the advance payment. 

2.6.6.2 Deposits 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

The Company reserves the right to examine the credit record of all service 
applicants as stated above and require a security deposit, not to exceed two 
month's estimated recumng charges, when determined to be necessruy to 
assure future payment. The security deposit will be computed by the 
Company in accordance with Commission rules and regulations. 

Cash Deposits will accrue interest at a rate that shall be equal to the current 
interest rate established by the Commission for consumer deposits. If the 
deposit is made within 30 days of receipt of deposit, no interest payment will 
be paid. If the Company retains the deposit more than 30 days, payment of 
interest shall be made retroactive to the date of deposit. 

Payment of the interest to the customer shall be annually if requested by the 
customer, or at the time the deposit is returned or credited to the customer's 
account. The deposit shall cease to draw interest on the date it is returned or 
credited to the customer's account. The deposit shall cease to draw interest 
after the discontinuance of service. 

If Customer pays all undisputed charges for 12 consecutive billing cycles, the 
deposit shall be promptly refunded along with accrued interest, or credited to 
future charges on subsequent bills. 

a. Residential Customers Requirements 

No deposit will be required: 

(1) If it can be verified that the residential applicant has been a 
customer of any telephone company in Florid& for the same 
kind of service within the last two (2) years, and is not 
delinquent in payment of any telephone service account and 
during the last 12 consecutive months of service did not have 
more than two occasions in which a bill for telephone service 
was paid after becoming delinquent, did not present a 
dishonored check, and never had service disconnected for 
nonpayment, or 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

(2) If the residential applicant hmishes in writing a satisfactory 
guarantee to secure payment of bills for the service required. 
Guaranty contracts shall be on a form provided by the 
Company which shall include the Company's right to transfer 
charges i?om a defaulted bill of the guaranteed account to the 
account or accounts of the guarantor. Guarantors must be 
present Company customers and must be acceptable as 
guarantors to the Company. 

b. Business Customers Requirements 

If the credit of an applicant for Business Service h2s not been 
established satisfactorily to the Company, the applicant may be 
required to make a deposit. 

c. Existing Customers Requirements 

A present customer may be required to post a new or additional 
deposit as a condition of continued service if undisputed charges have 
become delinquent in two out of the last 12 billing periods or if the 
customer has had service disconnected during the last 12 months, has 
presented a dishonored check or has had significant changes in toll or 
recurring charges. 

d. Amount of Deposit or Guaranty Contract 

The amount of the deposit shall not exceed the estimated charges for 
two months tariffed services plus 30 percent of the monthly estimated 
charge for the Customer. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

e. Refund of Deposits or Return of Guaranty Contracts 

If service is not connected, or after disconnection of service, the 
Company shall promptly and automatically refund the customer's 
deposit plus accrued interest on the balance, if any, in excess of the 
unpaid bills for service furnished. A transfer of service ffom one 
premises to another within the service area of the Company shall not 
be deemed a disconnection for application of deposits, and no 
additional deposit may be required unless otherwise permitted. 

When the customer has paid bills for 12 consecutive months without 
having service disconnected for nonpayment and without having 
more than two occasions in which a bill was delinquent, and has not 
presented a dishonored check, and when the customer is not 
delinquent in the payment of the current bills, the Company shall 
promptly and automatically refund the deposit plus accrued interest 
in the form of a credit to the customer's bill, or void the guarantee. If 
the customer does not meet these refund criteria, the deposit and 
interest may be retained. 

The deposit and interest may be retained pending the resolution of a 
dispute with respect to charges secured by the deposit. 

2.6.7 Bad Check Charge 

The Company will bill Customer a one-time charge of $25.00 if Customer's check 
for payment of service is returned for insufficient or uncollected funds, closed 
accounts, or any other insufficiency or discrepancy necessitating return of the check 
a t  the discretion of the drawee bank or other financial institution. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

2.6.8 Late Payment Charge 

The Company may apply a late payment charge if any portion of the Customer's 
payment is received by the Company after the payment due date, or if any portion of 
the payment is received by the Company in funds which are not immediately 
available upon presentment. The late payment charge shall be applied to the portion 
of the payment not received by the date due, multiplied by a factor. The late factor 
shall be 1.5% per month. 

Collection procedures are unaffected by the application of the late payment charge. 
The late payment charge does not apply to final amounts. 

2.7 Responsibilities of the Company 

2.7.1 Provision of Equipment and Facilities 

2.7.1.1 The Company shall use reasonable efforts to make services available to a 
Customer on or before a particular date, subject to the provisions of and 
compliance by the Customer with the regulations contained in this Tariff and 
applicable rules of the Commission. 

2.7.1.2 The Company shall use reasonable efforts to maintain facilities and 
equipment that it fumishes to the Customer. The Customer may not, nor may 
the Customer permit others to, rearrange, disconnect, remove, attempt to 
repair or otherwise interfere with any of the facilities or equipment installed 
by the Company, except upon the written consent of the Company. 

2.7.1.3 The Company may substitute, change, or rearrange any equipment or facility 
at any time and ffom time to time, but shall not thereby materially reduce the 
technical parameters of the service provided to the Customer. 

2.7.1.4 Subject to the arrangement of the Company and to all of the regulations 
contained in this Tariff, special construction of facilities may be undertaken 
on a reasonable efforts basis at the request of the customer. Special 
construction is that construction undertaken and characterized by one or more 
of the following: 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

a. Facilities requested are not presently available, and there is no other 
requirement for the facilities so constructed. 

Facilities requested are of a type other than that which the Company 
would normally utilize in the furnishing of its services. 

Facilities requested are over a route other than that which the 
Company would normally utilize in the furnishing of its services. 

Facilities requested are in a quantity greater than that which the 
Company would normally construct. 

Facilities are requested on an expedited basis. 

Facilities are requested on a temporary basis until permanent facilities 
are available. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e.  

f. 

g. Facilities are requested in advance of normal construction. 

2.7.2 Calculation of Credit Allowance 

Pursuant to limitations set forth in Section 2.6.3, when service is interrupted the 
credit allowance will be computed on the following basis: 

2.7.2.1. No credit shall be allowed for an interruption of less than twenty four hours. 

2.7.2.2 Customer will be credited at the proportionate monthly charge involved for 
each twenty-four hours or fraction thereof of interruption. 

2.7.3 Cancellation of Credit 

Where the Company cancels a service and the final service period is less than the 
monthly billing period, a credit will be issued for any amounts billed in advance, 
prorated at 1/30th of the monthly recurring charge for each day after the service was 
discontinued. This credit will be issued to Customer or applied against the balance 
remaining on Customer's account. 
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2.7.4 Disconnection of Service by the Company 

2.7.4.1 The Company may discontinue service or cancel an application for service, 
without incurring any liability for any of the following reasons: 

a. 

b. 

C. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

Nonpayment of a bill for regulated telecommunications services 
within the period; 

Failure to make a security deposit; 

Violation of or noncompliance with any provision of law, or of the 
tariffs or terms and conditions of service of the telecommunications 
service provider filed with and approved by the Commission: 

Refusal to permit the telecommunications service provider reasonable 
access to its telecommunications facilities for recovery, maintenance, 
and inspection thereof. 

Interconnection of a device, line, or channel to telecommunications 
service provider facilities or equipment contrary to the 
telecommunications service provider's terms and conditions of service 
on file with and approved by the Commission. 

Use of telephone service in such manner as to interfere with 
reasonable service to other end-users. 

2.7.4.2 Residential service may be discontinued during normal business hours on or 
after the date specified in the notice of discontinuance. Service shall not be 
discontinued on a day when the offices of the Company are not available to 
facilitate reconnection of service or on a day immediately preceding such a 
day. 

2.7.4.3 Residential service shall not be discontinued unless written notice by 
first-class mail is sent or delivered to the Customer at least five days prior to 
the date of the proposed discontinuance. 
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2.7.4.4 Customers shall have a minimum of 12 days from the rendition of a bill to 
pay the charges stated. 

2.7.4.5 At least 24 hours preceding a discontinuance, the Company shall make 
reasonable efforts to contact the Customer to advise it of the proposed 
discontinuance and what steps must be taken to avoid it. 

2.7.4.6 Access to 91 1 will be maintained during temporary disconnections for non- 
payment of a residential Customer's local service. 

2.7.4.7 Insufficient reasons for denial or disconnection of service: 

a. 

b. 

C. 

d. 

e. 

Nonpayment for telephone service by a previous occupant at the 
premises for which service is sought, or by reason of nonpayment of 
any amount back-billed due to misapplication of rates provided the 
applicant enters into a deferred payment plan. The Company shall 
not disconnect or suspend service without mailing or delivering a bill 
to the customer for the amount due. 

Residential service will not be disconnected for failure to pay a bill 
for a business service. 

Business service will not be disconnected for failure to pay a bill for 
a residential service. 

Service will not be withheld from a customer whose name was 
fraudulently used to obtain service at another location without the end 
user's permission or knowledge. 

The Company shall not deny service to a customer for nonpayment 
of an amount past due for more than three (3) years, if the company 
cannot substantiate the charges with a copy of the customer's bill. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

f. 

h. 

Service shall not be discontinued to a current customer in good 
standing who accepts an additional household member owing a 
previous bill to the Company, unless that additional household 
member is listed on the lease arrangements or another utility service 
as a responsible party, or unless the household member shared service 
with the customer at a different or same location. 

The Company shall not provide billing and collection for any 
provider of intrastate telecommunications services who does not have 
proper authority to operate in the State of Florida. 

Local exchange service shall not be denied or terminated for 
nonpayment of non-regulated services or disputed charges. 

2.7.4.8 The Company's Notice of Disconnection shall contain the following 
information: 

a. 

b. 

C. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

The words "NOTICE OF DISCONNECTION or words with the 
same meaning, in print type larger than the print type of the notice 
text. 

The name, address and telephone number of the Customer. 

A statement of the reason for the proposed disconnection and the cost 
(to the Customer) for reconnection. 

The date on or after which service will be disconnected unless 
appropriate action is taken. 

The telephone number in bold print of the Company where the 
customer may make an inquiry. 

A statement that the customer must contact the Company regarding 
the disconnection, prior to contacting the Commission's Consumer 
Affairs Division. 
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g. The address and telephone number of the Commission's Consumer 
Affairs Division, in print size which is smaller than the print size used 
for the Company's telephone number 

The services that are being disconnected, whether local andor toll, 
and if the service to be disconnected is local service, a statement that 
the customer must also contact their IXC if such customer wishes to 
terminate such service in order to avoid incurring additional charges 
for such service. 

h. 

.. 2.7.4.9 The following additional information shall be in the notice unless said 
information can be obtained in the telephone directory and the notice refers 
the customer to the location in the directory where the information can be 
obtained: 

a. A statement of how a customer may avoid the disconnection of 
service, including a statement that the customer must notify the 
Company on the day of payment as to the place and method of such 
payment when the bill is paid at a place other than the office of the 
Company. 

A statement that informs the customer where payments may be made 
or how to obtain a listing of authorized payment agencies. 

b. 

2.7.5 Equal Access 

The Company will allow Customers the choice of intraLATA and interLATA 
interexchange carriers. 
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SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

2.8 Restoration of Service 

If service is disconnected for nonpayment, service will be reestablished only upon receipt of 
payment of all charges due, whch include charges for service and facilities during the period 
of disconnection and which may include a service restoration fee. If the Customer has a 
history of payments returned for insufficient funds, the Company may require payment by 
cash, money order, personal check or certified check. If payment is made by personal check, 
restoration will be effected upon clearance of the check. When a Customer's service has been 
disconnected in accordance with this Tariff and the service has been terminated through the 
completion of the Company's service order, service will be reestablished only upon a basis 
o f  an application for new service. 

During the period of disconnection, Customer's telephone number will not be reassigned. 
Once service has been terminated, the telephone number may be reassigned to another 
Customer. 

2.9 Taxes and Surcharges 

2.9.1 Customer will be billed and is responsible for payment of applicable E911, 
Telecommunications Relay Service (TRS), universal service fund charges, local 
number portability charge, end user common line charges, primary interexchange 
carrier charges, and all federal, state and local taxes, fees, assessments and surcharges 
assessed in conjunction with service used. In addition to any of the foregoing 
charges paid directly by the Company, the Company will also pass through to the 
Customer an amount equal to the government fees, taxes, and surcharges that the 
Company pays through BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc.. 

2.9.2 All taxes, surcharges and assessments (Le., sales tax, municipal utilities tax, kanchise 
fee, E911, TRS) will be listed as separate line items and are not included in the 
quoted rates. 

2.10 Start of Billing 

For billing purposes, the start of service is the day of acceptance by the Customer of the 
Company's service or equipment. 
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2.12 

2.13 

SECTION 2 - RULES AND REGULATIONS (continued) 

Service Connection and Facilities on Customer's Premises 

The Company shall furnish and maintain all facilities including protective apparatus, to 
provide telecommunications service except as may be otherwise specified in this Tariff. All 
facilities shall conform to the established construction standards of the Company. 

Except as otherwise specified in this Tariff, all equipment furnished by the Company in 
connection with a Customer's service shall be carefully used and only duly authorized 
employees of the Company or its contractors or agents shall be allowed to connect, 
disconnect, change or alter in any manner any or all such facilities. 

Customer will be held responsible for loss of or damage to any facilities furnished by the 
Company unless such loss or damage is due to causes beyond the Customer's control. 

At the termination of service the Company may remove any and all of its property located 
at the Customer Premises, as provided for in this Tariff, 

No equipment apparatus, circuit or device not furnished by the Company shall be attached 
to or connected with the facilities furnished by the Company, whether physically, by 
induction or otherwise, except as provided in this Tariff. In case any such unauthorized 
attachment or connection is made, the Company shall have the right to remove or disconnect 
the same; or suspend the service during the continuance of said attachment or connection; 
or to terminate the service. 

Telephone Number Intercept 

Whenever a Customer's telephone number is changed after a directory is published, the 
Company will intercept all calls to the former number for 30 days and give the calling party 
the new number, provided existing central office equipment will permit and the Customer 
so desires. 

Disputes 

In the event of a dispute between a customer and the Company regarding any bill for 
telephone service, the Company shall make an investigation as required by the particular 
case, and report the results to the customer. In the event the dispute is not resolved, the 
Company shall inform the customer of the complaint procedures of the Commission. 
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Notwithstanding any other section of the Company's tariffs, the customer's service shall not 
be subject to discontinuance for nonpayment of that portion of a bill under dispute pending 
the completion of the determination of the dispute, but in no event to exceed 60 days. The 
customer is obligated to pay any billings not disputed. 

2.14 Level of Service Quality 

The Company holds itself out to provide the same level of service quality as that of the 
Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers authorized to operate in the State of Florida. 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES 

3.1 General 

3.1.1 The Company will offer “basic local service” at a flat rate for unlimited local calling, 
which shall include access to 91 1, operator services, and telecommunications relay 
services. 

Exchange access lines are subject to the nonrecuning charges as specified below. 

Rates for basic local exchange service are applied on the basis of statewide groupings 
according to the total number of exchange access lines, PBX trunks and network 
access registers in the local calling area excluding the Extended Calling Service 
exchanges. 

3.1.2 

3.1.3 

3.2 Basic Local Service 

3.2.1 The rates specified below for “Basic Local Service” entitle Customers to access all 
exchange access lines bearing the central office designations of the Customer’s 
exchange and all exchange access lines bearing the central office designations of 
additional exchanges in the extended area service category on a flat rate basis. 

Monthly exchange rates shown below are applicable in each exchange for classes of 
basic local exchange service offered. 

The rates specified herein entitle Customers to an unlimited number of messages to 
all exchange access lines bearing the designation of central offices within the serving 
exchange and extended area service additional exchanges or portions of exchanges. 

3.2.2 

3.2.3 

3.3 Basic Local Service Rates - Residence 

Group 
1 2 3 4 5 6 usoc 

3.3.1. Individual service - $7.30 $7.70 $8.10 $8.40 $8.80 $9.15 1 FR++ 
Rate Groups 1-6 
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Group 
7 8 9 10 11 12 usoc 

3.3.2 Individual service - $9.50 $9.80 $10.05 $10.30 $10.45 $10.65 lFR++ 
Rate Groups 7-12 

3.4 Basic Local Service Rates - Business 

Group 
1 2 3 4 5 6 USOC 

3.4.1 Individual line service - $19.80 $20.80 $21.90 $22.90 $23.85 $24.90 1FB 
Rate Groups 1-6 

.. 

3.4.2 Multi-IineExchange $1.60 $1.68 $1.77 $1.85 $1.93 $2.02 N/A 
Access Line Additive, 
per line' - Rate Groups 1-6 

Group 
7 8 9 10 11 12 USOC 

3.4.3 Individual line service - $25.75 $26.60 $27.40 $28.00 $28.60 $29.10 1FB 
Rate Groups 7-12 

3.4.4 Multi-line Exchange $2.09 $2.15 $2.22 $2.27 $2.32 $2.36 NIA 
Access Line Additive, 
per line' - Rate Groups 7-12 

3.5 Residence and Business Basic Local Rates by Exchange 

Exchange 

Archer 
Baldwin 
Belle Glade 

Residence 
Per Line 

$8.80 
$10.05 
$8.10 

Business 
Per Line* 

$23.85 
$27.40 
$21.90 

Note: The Multiline Exchange Acccss Line Additive does not apply to Customers with one exchange access line. 
Note: The Multiline Exchange Access Line Additive applies per line to Flat Rate sewice Customers with more than one exchange access line. 
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ExchanPe 

Big Pine Key 
Boca Raton 
Boynton Beach 
Bronson 
Brooksville 
Bunnell 
Cantonment 
Cedar Keys 
Century 
Chiefland 
Chipley 
Cocoa 

Cocoa Main 
(West of Indian River) 
Cocoa Memtt Island 
(East of Indian River) 

Cocoa Beach 
Coral Springs 
Cross City 
Daytona Beach 
DeBary 
Deerfield Beach 
Deland 
DeLeon Springs 
Delray Beach 

East Orange 
Eau Gallic Area 

Eau Gailie Beach Area 

Dunnellon ' 

(West of Indian River) 

(East of Indian River) 

Residence 
Per Line 

$10.50 
$10.30 
$10.30 
$11.00 
$8.80 
$8.10 
$9.15 
$7.30 
$9.15 
$8.10 
$8.10 

$9.50 

$9.50 

$9.50 
$10.65 
$7.70 
$9.15 
$8.80 
$10.65 
$8.80 
$8.40 
$9.80 
$9.15 
$10.45 
$9.50 

$9.50 

Business 
Per Line' 

$28.63 
$28.00 
$28.00 
$29.81 
$23.85 
$21.90 
$24.90 
$19.80 
$24.90 
$21.90 
$21.90 

$25.75 

$25.75 

$25.75 
$29.10 
$20.80 
$24.90 
$23.85 
$29.10 
$23.85 
$22.90 
$26.60 
$24.90 
$28.60 
$25.75 

$25.75 

=I: The Multiline Exchange Access Line Additive does not apply to Customers with one exchange access line. 
Note: The Multiline Exchange Access Line Additive applies per line to Flat Rate service Customers with more than one exchange access line. 
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Residence Business 
Per Line Per Line’ Exchange 

$8.10 $2 1.90 Femandina Beach 
$8.10 $21.90 Flagler Beach 
$10.65 $29.10 Ft. Lauderdale 
$8.80 $23.85 Ft. Pierce 

Gainesville $9.15 $24.90 
$9.50 $25.75 Geneva 

Graceville $8.10 $21.90 
Green Cove Springs $10.45 $28.60 
Gulf Breeze $9.15 $24.90 
Havana $9.15 $24.90 
Hawthome $8.80 $23.85 
Hobe Sound $9.15 $24.90 
Holley Navarre $9.15 $24.90 
Hollywood $10.65 $29.10 
Homestead $10.65 $29.10 
Islamorada $8.40 $22.90 
Jacksonville $10.30 $28.00 
Jacksonville Beach $10.05 $27.40 

$11.44 $31.13 
Jensen Beach $8.80 $23.85 
Julington $10.05 $27.40 
Jupiter $10.05 $27.40 
Key Largo $8.40 $22.90 
Keystone Heights $8.10 $21.90 
Key West $8.40 $22.90 
Lake City $8.40 $22.90 
Lynn Haven $8.80 $23.85 
Marathon $8.10 $21.90 
Maxville $10.05 $27.40 
Melbourne $9.50 $25.75 
Miami $10.65 $29.10 

Jay 

Note 1 : The Multiline Exchange Access Line Additive does not apply to Customers with one exchange access line. 
Note 2: The Multiline Exchange Access Line Additive applies per line to Flat Rate service Customers with more than one exchange access line. 
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Residence Business 
Per Line Per Linez Exchange 

Micanopy $8.80 $23.85 
Middleburg $10.05 $27.40 
Milton $9.15 $24.90 
Munson $9.15 $24.90 
Newberry $8.80 $23.85 
New Srnyma Beach $8.40 $22.90 
North Dade $10.65 $29.10 
North Key Largo $8.10 $2 1.90 
Oak Hill $8.40 $22.90 
Old Town $7.70 $20.80 
Orange Park $10.45 $28.60 
Orlando $10.45 $28.60 
Oviedo $10.45 $28.60 
Pace $9.15 $24.90 
Pahokee $8.10 $21.90 
Palatka $8.40 $22.90 
Palm Coast $8.10 $21.90 
Panama City $8.80 $23.85 
Panama City Beach $8.80 $23.85 
Pensacola $9.15 $24.90 
Pemne $10.65 $29.10 
Pierson $8.40 $22.90 
Pomona Park $8.40 $22.90 
Pompano Beach $10.65 $29.10 
Ponte Vedra Beach $10.05 $27.40 
Port St. Lucie $9.15 $24.90 
St. Augustine $8.40 $22.90 
St. Johns $8.40 $22.90 
Sanford $9.80 $26.60 
Sebastian $9.15 $24.90 
Stuart $9.15 $24.90 

Note: The Multiline Exchange Access Line Additive does not apply to Customers with one exchange access line. 
Note: The Multiline Exchange Access Line Additive applies per line 10 Flat Rate service Customers with more than one exchange access line. 
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Exchange 

Sugarloaf Key 
Sunny Hills 
Titusville 
Trenton 
Vernon 
Vero Beach 
Weekiwachee Springs 
Welaka 
West Palh Beach 
Yankeetown 
Youngstown-Fountain 
Yulee 

Residence 
Per Line 

$8.40 
$8.10 
$8.80 
$11.00 
$8.10 
$8.80 
$8.80 
$8.40 
$10.05 
$8.40 
$8.80 
$9.80 

Business 
Per Linez 

$22.90 
$21.90 
$23.85 
$28.63 
$21.90 
$23.85 
$23.85 
$22.90 
$27.40 
$22.90 
$23.85 
$26.60 

3.6 PBX Trunks 

PBX trunks are offered for residence and business service as follows: 

3.6.1 Residence - Two Way -Rate Groups 1-6 

Group 
1 2 3 4 5 6 usoc 

$13.51 $14.20 $14.88 $15.38 $16.07 $16.66 TFR 

3.6.2 Residence - Two Way - Rate Groups 7-12 

Group 
7 8 9 10 11 12 usoc 

$17.25 $17.77 $18.19 $18.62 $18.86 $19.21 TFR 
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3.6.3 Business-Rate Groups 1-6 
Group 

1 2 3 4 5 6 usoc 
3.6.3.1 Combination $33.66 $35.36 $37.23 $38.93 $40.55 $42.33 TFC 

3.6.3.2 Out dial $33.66 $35.36 $37.23 $38.93 $40.55 $42.33 TFU 

3.6.3.3 Inward only $33.66 $35.36 $37.23 $38.93 $40.55 $42.33 TFN 

3.6.3.4 DID $33.66 $35.36 $37.23 $38.93 $40.55 $42.33 DDlX 
(Direct In-Dial) 

.. 

3.6.3.5 DID Combination $67.32 $70.72 $74.46 $77.86 $81.10 $84.66 TDDCX 

3.6.4 Business-Rate Groups 7-12 
Group 

7 8 9 10 11 12 usoc 
3.6.4.1 Combination $43.78 $45.22 $46.58 $47.60 $48.62 $49.47 TFC 

3.6.4.2 Out dial $43.78 $45.22 $46.58 $47.60 $48.62 $49.47 TFU 

3.6.4.3 Inward only $43.78 $45.22 $46.58 $47.60 $48.62 $49.47 TFN 

3.6.4.4 DID $43.78 $45.22 $46.58 $47.60 $48.62 $49.47 TDDlX 
(Direct In-Dial) 

3.6.4.5 DID Combination $87.56 $90.44 $93.16 $95.20 $97.24 $98.94 TDDCX 

3.7 Basic Local Service Residence Package 

3.7.1 The Basic Local Service Residence Platinum Package provides the following features 
in conjunction with “basic local service”: The access line includes Touch-Tone 
capability. 

The rate specified for this package entitles a residence Customer to access all 
exchange access lines in the Customer’s local calling area. 

3.7.2 
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The rate specified herein also entitles a residence subscriber to unlimited use of the 
following services and features: 

3.7.3 

3.7.3.1 Custom Calling Services (all services except Three-way Calling with 
Transfer which is only available with the Two- and Three-Line Plans). 

3.7.3.2 Touchstar Services excluding Calling Number Delivery Blocking-Permanent 

3.7.3.3 Customized Code Restriction 

3.7.3.4 RingMaster Service 

3.7.3.5 Message Waiting Indication 

3.7.3.6 Obsolete Custom Calling Services 

3.7.4 Customers may select an unlimited number of compatible services or features from 
the sections listed above. 

3.7.5 Residence customers may subscribe to the Two-Line Plan or the Three-Line Plan for 
the Basic Local Service Residence Platinum Package. Both plans offer hunting, call 
hold, and call pick-up (the ability to answer an incoming call from another line) at 
no additional charge in addition to the features listed in the preceding subsection. All 
services and features specified as available with the Basic Local Service Residence 
Platinum Package are available with each line of a multiline package. All lines in 
each multiline package must be on the same account and at the same premises. The 
discounted monthly rates specified below apply in the following exchanges only: 

Boca Raton, Boynton Beach, Coral Springs, Deerfield Beach, Delray Beach, Fort 
Lauderdale, Hollywood, Homestead, Jacksonville, Jacksonville Beach, Miami, North 
Dade, Orange Park, Pemne, Pompano Beach and West Palm Beach 

Regular monthly rates apply in all other exchanges. 

3.7.6 Service charges specified in this Price List do not apply to the conversion of an 
existing service to or from the Basic Local Service Residence Platinum Package. 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES (continued) 

Existing customers of the Basic Local Service Residence Package can not take 
advantage of special promotions for the Basic Local Service Residence Package or 
any of the services and features specified in subsection 3 above unless specifically 
allowed by the terms of the special promotion. 

Rates and Charges for the Basic Local Service Residence Package 

3.7.8.1 The following monthly rates apply for the Basic Local Service Residence 
Package. A portion of each line rate equal to the rate for basic local service - 
residential individual line specified above is classified as Basic Service. The 
remainder of each line rate is classified as Non-Basic Residential Optional 
Service. 

3.7.7 

3.7.8 

3.7.8.2 Individual line service - Residence 

Suspend Rate Monthly Rate USOC 
a. Per line $5.50 $29.70 NIA 

Discounted Regular 
b. Per Two-Line Plan package $1 1 .OO $47.90 $57.90 CCML2 

(3) Per Three-Line Plan package 16.50 $66.10 $86.10 CCML3 

3.8 Basic Local Service Business Package 

3.8.1 The Basic Local Service Business Package is offered where facilities and equipment 
are available. 

The Basic Local Service Business Platinum Package is offered to business Customers 
and consist of four components: a line, calling features, listings and rotary service. 

3.8.2.1 The line component of these packages is basic local service - business. 

3.8.2.2 The calling features associated with this plan are listed below. For each line, 
the Basic Local Service Business Platinum Package also provides the 
Customer with an unlimited number of compatible calling features from the 
following list. 

3.8.2 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES (continued) 

Calling Features 
Call Forward 
Busy Line 
Call Forward Don't Answer 
Call Forward Don't Answer Ring Control 
Call Forward Variable 
Flexible Call Forwarding 
Call Waiting 
Speed Calling 8 
Speed Calling 30 
Three Way Calling 
Message Waiting Indicator - Audible 
Message Waiting Indicator - Visual 
Call Return 
Call Block 
Call Tracing 
Repeat Dialing 
Call Selector 
Preferred Call Forwarding 
RingMaster I 
RingMaster II 
Remote Access Call Forwarding 
Three Way Calling with Transfer 
Caller ID Number Delivery 
Enhanced Caller ID with Call Management, with Anonymous Call Rejection 

Enhanced Caller ID with Call Management, with ACR and Call Forwarding 
Don't Answer 
Enhanced Caller ID with ACR 
Caller ID Name and Number Delivery with ACR 
Caller ID Name and Number Delivery - Multiline Hunt Group 
Surrogate Client Number 
Flexible Call Forwarding with Audio Calling Name 

(ACR) 

3.8.2.3 A foreign listing and an additional listing are each available to Customers of 
the Basic Local Service Business Package. 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES (continued) 

3.8.2.4 Rotary service is also available for Customers of the Basic Local Service 
Business Platinum Package for Business 3-line package. 

3.8.3 Rates And Charges for the Basic Local Service Business Platinum Package 

Each 1 -line package 
Each 2-line package 
Each 3-line package 

Monthly 
Rate LEQL 
$52.00 COMP 1 
$94.00 COMP2 
$142.00 COMPH 

The service order charges specified in this Price List are applicable for the installations of new lines 
at the Customer’s premises. These charges are not applicable for existing customers who wish to 
move from an existing line to the Basic Local Service Business Package. 

3.9 Connection and Service Charges 

3.9.1 A service charge is a nonrecumng charge or charges applying to the ordering, 
installing, moving, changing, rearranging or furnishing of telecommunication 
services or facilities. Service Charges are categorized as follows: 

3.9.1.1 Line Connection Char= - Line Connection Charge (First Line andor 
Additional Line) applies for establishing an exchange access line or trunk. 
The charge includes service ordering, central office work, exchange access 
line work and a standard voice miniature six position network interface. 

3.9.1.2 Line Chanee Charge - Line Change Charge (First Line andor Additional 
Line) applies per line to miscellaneous customer requested changes on 
existing service for, but not limited to, number change and suspendrestore. 

3.9.1.3 Secondary Service Charge - Secondary Service Charge applies per customer 
request for the receiving, recording, and processing of customer requests to 
change services or add new or additional services. 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES (continued) 

3.9.1.4 Premises Work C h a r s  - Premises Work Charge is a nonrecumng charge 
based on the labor time and miscellaneous materials required to rearrange the 
drop wire, protector and/or network interface. Schedule of Charges for 
Connecting or Changing Service 

3.9.2 Schedule of Charges for Connecting or Changing Service 

3.9.2.1 Line Connection Charge (applies per exchange access line or trunk) 

Residence Business usoc 
a. First Line $40.00 $56.00 NIA 
b. Additional Line (each) $12.00 $12.00 NIA 

3.9.2.2 Line Change Charge (applies per exchange access line or trunk) 
Residence Business usoc 

a. First Line $23.00 $38.00 NIA 
b. Additional Line (each) $11.00 $1 1.00 NIA 

3.9.2.3 Secondary Service Charge 
Residence Business usoc 

a. Each $10.00 $19.00 NIA 

3.9.2.4 Premises Work Charge 

a. First 15-minute increment or fraction thereof 
Residence Business USOC 

(1)  Per increment $25.00 $28.00 NIA 

Each additional 1 5-minute increment or fraction thereof b. 
Residence Business USOC 

(1) Per increment $9.00 $9.00 NIA 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES (continued) 

3.10 Timing of Usage 

Chargeable time begins when connection is established between the calling station and the 
called station, and ends when either party "hangs up." The Company uses hardware andor 
software for answer detection. 

3.1 1 Telecommunications Relay Services 

For calls received from the telecommunications service, the Company will, when billing 
such calls, discount such calls by fifty percent (50%) off of the otherwise applicable rate 
for a voice, non-relay call, except where either the calling or called party indicates that 
.. either party is both hearing and visually impaired, in which case the Company shall 
discount the call by sixty percent (60%) off of the otherwise applicable rate for a voice, 
non-relay call. 

3.12 Miscellaneous 

3.12.1 Operator Service Charges 

Description 

Station-to-Station Service 

Calling Card 
Non-Automated $1.50 $2.00 

Semi-Automated $1.50 $2.00 
Fully Automated $0.30 $1.00 

Collect 
Non- Automated 
Semi- Automated 
Fully Automated 

$1.50 
$1.50 
$1.50 

$2.00 
$2.00 
$2.00 

Billed to a Third Number 
Non-Automated $1.50 $2.00 
Semi- Automated $1.50 $2.00 
Fully Automated $1.50 $2.00 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES (continued) 

Sent-Paid 
Non- Automated 
Semi- Automated 

Person-to-Person Service 
Non- Automated 
Semi-Automated 

Other Services 

.~ Busy Interrupt 

3.12.2 Directory Assistance Service 

Line Status Verification 

$1.50 
$1.50 

$2.00 
$2.00 

$1.00 
$1.00 

$2.00 
$2.00 

$4.00 
$4.00 

$3.00 
$3.00 

3.12.2.1 

a. 

b. 

Rates 

Where the customer places a sent-paid direct dialed call to 
Directory Assistance, the charge for each call (maximum of 
two numbers requested) is $0.60. 

Where the customer places a call to the Directory Assistance 
attendant via an operator or has Directory Assistance Service 
Charges are billed to a third number; or a special billing 
number, the charge for each call (maximum of two requests 
per call) is $.60. 

Directory. xistance Call Completion 3.12. 

3.12.3.1 Rates 

Directorv Assistance Call Completion 

Fully-Automated DACC 
Sent-Paid Non-Coin 
Collect 
Bill to Third Number 

$0.20 
$1.50 
$1.50 

Rate 
Max. 

$0.30 
$2.00 
$2.00 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES (continued) 

Directorv Assistance Call Completion Min. 

Semi-Automated DACC 
Sent-Paid 
Collect 
Bill to Third Number 

Person-to-Person 

$1.50 
$1.50 
$1.50 

$1.50 

Rate 
Max. 

$2.00 
$2.00 
$2.00 

$2.00 

3.12.4 National Listing Service 

National Listing Service (NLS) is a service whereby customers may request 
listing information for areas outside their LATA or home NPA. Requests for 
listings that are intraLATA or within the customers home NPA are billed 
under the current Directory Assistance plan. 

Callers access NLS by dialing 1+411 or 0+411. Only calls made for listings 
outside the customers' local directory assistance scope as defined above will 
be eligible for NLS. 

The regulations and rates set forth below apply to all calls from customers 
who request assistance in determining telephone number information of 
national subscribers as defined in xxx. above. 

The customer will he charged for each listing request made during the call. 
The NLS rate applies per listing request whether or not a number is provided 
including requests for numbers which are non-published, non-listed or not 
found. There are no allowances associated with NLS. 

There are no exemptions from billing for requests for NLS 
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SECTION 3 - SERVICES, RATES AND CHARGES (continued) 

3.12.4.1 Rates 

Charge Per Listing Request Min. Max. 

Sent Paid Request $0.75 $1.00 
Alternately Billed Requests $1.00 $1.30 
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PART I 

THIS FORM 10-K CONTAINS CERTAIN FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS THAT INVOLVE RISKS 
AND UNCERTAINTIES. OUR ACTUAL RESULTS COULD DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE 
ANTICIPATED IN THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AS A RESULT OF CERTAIN FACTORS, 
INCLLJTJING THOSE SET FORTH UNDER THE CAPTION "BUSINESS--RISK FACTORS" AND 
ELSEWHERE IN THIS FORM 10-K. UNLESS THE CONTEXT SUGGESTS OTHERWISE, REFERENCES 
IN THIS FORM 10-K TO " W E , "  TSE "COMPANY" OR "BIRCH" MEAN BIRCH TELECOM, INC. AND 
ITS WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES. 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

OVERVIEW 

We are a rapidly growing integrated comunicationa provider. We seek to 
become the leading provider of telecormunications services for small and 
mid-sized businesses in each of the cities we serve. We offer state-of-the-art 
telecommunications services to our customers. who today are located throughout 
Miseouri. Kansas and Texas. These voice and data service offerings include local 
and long distance telephone service. Internet access. web hosting. integrated 
voice and data tranamission over broadband linea and customer premises equipment 
sales and services. We offer these services to our customers through a 
combination of leased and owned network fac 
collocations and tranemission equipment thro ut our markets to deliver 
digital subscriber line service. which will .dart dedicated high-speed 
Internet access and eventually voice service,. We expect to have over 130 
collocatione operational by the end of this year. Our revenue for the year ended 
December 31, 1999 was $60.5 million, a 132% increase over 1998. 

BUSINESS STRATEGY 

< e a .  We arc currently deploying 

We believe that our business is poised for rapid expansion and that our 
experienced management team is well prepared to execute our focused business 
strategy. The key elements of our strategy include: 

FOCUSING ON SMALL AND MID-SIZED BUSINESS CUSTOMERS 

We focus on meeting the needs of small and mid-sired businesses in each of 
the cities w e  serve. Our tailored servlce offerings, direct sales model. and 
proactive Customer service approach allow us to differentiate ourselves and 
achieve significant penetration into this very large. established customer 
base. -We believe small and mid-sized businesses have not received a 
satisfying level of attention from the incumbent telephone companies, are 
unaware of their telecommunications network options and value our 
consultative, direct sales approach. 

PROVIDING COMPLETE SERVICE PACKAGES THAT ARE TAILORED TO OUR CUSTOMERS 

Our service offerings are specifically designed for the needs of our target 
customers. We provide simplified. feature-rich packages of services. 
superior valve and a single source for all of our customers' networking 
requirements, all conveniently billed on a single invoict. Our service 
offerings include features offered in packages that w e  belleve are not 
generally available from other providers. OUT packages are prlced to offer 
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savinge of 101 to 4 0 1  from comparable services provided by the incumbent 
telephone company. Our  direct sales representatives consult with our 
customers in person and assist them in selecting service packages 
appropriate for their needs. 
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CREATING A STRONG BRAND PRESENCE 

We have quickly achieved a high level of brand awareness in our markets 
through an aggressive multi-media advertising campaign targeted at the 
incumbent telephone company. O u r  marketing efforts include billboard, radio 
and print advertising, as well as sponsorship of major local events, 
affiliations with local organizations and direct mailings. We believe we 
have been able to achieve a higher level of brand awareness in our  markets 
than any other new market entrants. We plan to use our proven marketing and 
advertising strategy to help us achieve rapid and deep penetration in each 
new market w e  enter. 

DEPLOYING A DIRECT SALES FORCE IN EACH Of OUR HARKETS 

We deploy a large locally-baaed sales force focused on achieving a 
significant market share in each of our markets. We believe that our 
cxteneively marketed brand name, visible local preeence. readily available 
services and emphasis on personal customer seraice have enabled our 
170-person sales force to achieve high levele of productivity and quickly 
penetrate new markets. 

INVESTING IN INDUSTRY-LEADING. S-LE BACK OfFICE SYSTEMS 

We believe our etate-of-the-art billing and operating systems are capable of 
supporting a eignificant number of lines. These systems. which include 
Saville Convergent Billing Platform-TM-, Metasolv Telecom Business 
Solution-TM- and Harris Network Management-TM-, have already withstood the 
test of high volumes and rapid growth within our opr-ition. Over the past 
year, we have expanded our provisioning capacity fl ,000 lines per month 
to nearly 15,000 lines per month and believe that o tisting 
infrastructure can support continued capacity incrr A .  

MAIhPTAINING MAXIMUM NETWORK FLEXIBILITY 

- IhPTEGRATING DATA AND VOICE NETWORK SERVICES. By integrating both data and 
voice services, we believe we will be able to deliver a broadband digital 
subscriber line connection to a significant percentage of our customers. 
We believe this integration will yield bandwidth flexibility to our 
customers and the strategic advantage of an improved product with reduced 
monthly costs. 

- CAPITALIZING ON OUR UNBUNDLED NETWORK ELEMENT PLATFORM. We provide Service 
to a majority of our customers by leasing substantially all of the 
unbundled network elements from the incumbent telephone company and using 
our advanced back office systems to combine these elements into integrated 
Birch-branded voice services. This platform has allowed us to offer voice 
services to customers located virtually anywhere in our markets and 
achieve high gross margins and superior returns on incremental capital 
invested. The unbundled network element platform, or UNE-P. allows us to 
minimize current capital expenditures and maintain design flexibility for 
the next generation of telecommunications technology. 

- POSITIONING FOR MASS DEPWYMENT OF BROADBAND. Our  network oblective is to 
mass-deploy broadband facilities (primar:ly digital subscriber lines) that 
support both voice and data over a single line. We are implementing 
collocations at central offices of the incumbent telephone company 
throughout our markets and intend to deploy packet switches that can 
handle voice and data Over a single line as soon a s  they become available. 

EXPANDING OUR GEOCRAPHIC REACH 
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We currently serve 17 markets that have populations ranging in size from 
95,000 to 4.5 million, and we intend to offer our services in 20 additional 
markets before the end of 2001. We expect to 
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expand our operations in Texas and into Oklahoma in the second quarter of 
this year and to comence service in the regions served by Ameritech and 
BellSouth in 2001. We have developed systems. network capabilities and an 
experienced sales force and customer service team that poeition us to 
rapidly penetrate these new markets and regions. 

GROWING THROUGH ACQUISITIONS 

We have completed six acquisitions since our inception in December 1996 for 
total consideration of $27.7 million. From time to time. we consider making 
additional acquisitions to further complement our service Capabilities or 
expand our geographic scope. We believe we have been highly successful in 
integrating our acquisitions. With our diverse sources of capital and highly 
sophisticated stockholders and board members, we believe we are well 
positioned to continue to evaluate a variety of these opportunities and make 
selected acquisitions where appropriate. 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES 

OFFERED SERVICES 

We design our voice and data services to appeal to enall and mid-eired 
businesses that value simple integrated comunications service packagee from a 
single provider. We believe that the key to attracting and retaining our target 
customers is to offer a comprehensive set of Services. These services include 
voice offerings of local lines. features and long distance at flat per-minute 
rates, and data offerings including dedicated digital subscriber line and 
dial-up Internet access. web hosting and other data services. 

We divide our service offerings generally into three broad cat* . = e :  
voice. Internet and web hosting. The chart below sets forth the di dnt 
service packages and options provided within each of these categor-.s. 

SERVICE PACKAGES 

VOICE 

- . --.-......._____..._...~.~~~.~~.~.. 
BIRCH BASIC 

BIRCH BELLS 
A standard line 

Birch Basic with any three non- 
premium customer-selected features 

Birch Bas2.c with any seven 
customer-selected features 

Call answering, messaging and 
message waiting indicator 
optional features include fax 
mail. pager notification and 
extenaion mailboxes 

Inside wire protection plan 

A two-way dedicated connection to 

BIRCH BELLS AND WHISTLES 

VOICE MAIL 

LINEBACKER 

MIGHTY MOUTH 
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us, a trunk level one digital 
transmission link, direct inward 
dialing and number identification 
for inbound calls 

INTERNET - - -...________________________________ 
DIAL 

Unlimited Internet access, two 
email boxes per account, remote 
access to email via the Web and 
five megabytes of storage apace 
plus any cuetomer-selected 
features 

DIAL COMPLETE 
Dial plus extended period of 
inactivity before disconnect 

A dedicated integrated services 
digital network, an on-premise 
integrated service digital network 
router, up to 25 email boxes, 
dedicated Internet protocol 
addresses for public applications, 
network address translation. 
custom domain services. plus any 
customer-selected features 

A s-ymnetric digital subscriber 
line service, an on-premise 
router, up to 100 email boxes. 
Internet protocol addresses for 
public applications, network 
address translation, custom domain 
services, plus any custoaer- 
selected features 

A t,wo-way dedicated connection to 
us, an on-premise router. up to 
100 email boxee. Internet protocol 
addressee for public applications, 
network address tranalation. 
custom domain services. olus any 

ISDN COMPLETE 

DSL COMPLETE 

T1 COMPLETE 

. .  
customer-selected features 

THE INTEGRATOR 
A two-way dedicated connection to 
us, an on-premise integrated 
router for voice and data, 
customer selection of voice and 
data channels to a maximum of 4 0 ,  
selected voice features. up to 5 0  
email boxes, Internet protocol 
addresses for public applications, 
network address translation, 
custom domain services, plus any 
customer-selected features 

WEB HOSTING 
. .................................. 
SPACE GENIE 

Space Genie web-building tool, 10 
megabytes of storage, 1.000 
megabytes of monthly traffic. 
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online account status report. site 
submission to major search 
engines, custom domain services, 
10 email addresses. 
autorespondere. autofowardcrs and 
web-based management of email 
tools plus any customer-selected 
features 

SPACE CADET 
Space Genie plus 20 additional 
megabytes of storage, 1,000 
additional megabytes of monthly 
traffic, c o m n  gateway interface 
binary accesB. and script library, 
web-based management of common 
gateway interface script 
auto-install and statistics plus 
any customer-selected features 
Additional optional features 
include encryption services 
support for real audio/video and 
support for Microsoft FrontPage 
exteneions 

Space Cadet plus an additional 4 5  
megabytes of scorage, 3.000 
megabytes of monthly traffic, 10 
email addressee, autoresponder. 
and autoforwarders and support for 
real audio/vidco 

SPACE HOG 
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DELIVERY OF SERVICES 

UNE-P 

We lease all of the unbundled network elements necessary to provide service 
from the incumbent local exchange carriers. We believe that our UNE-P strategy 
allows us to enter into new markets more quickly than if we had initially 
deployed our own network facilities. This strategy also reduces initial capital 
requirements in each market, allowing us to focus our capital resources 
initially on t?.: critical areas of sales, marketing and operations support 
systems. In addition, we believe UNE-P will allow us to avoid further deploying 
circuit switches and maintain design flexibility for the next generation of 
telecommunications technology. 

BROADBAND 

We intend to install digital subscriber line equipment at our collocation 
sites. at our switch Sites and at our customers' locations. We believe this 
equipment will allow us to deliver multiple voice calls and data traffic over a 
single. standard telephone line and is expected to provide us with substantial 
cost savings. Using DSL technology, we believe w e  will increase the amount of 
information we carry on a standard telephone line, which w e  refer to as 
bandwidth. to up to 1.5 million bits per second. The bandwidth is the equivalent 
of 2 4  regular voice telephone lines. O u r  digital subscrlber line equipment will 
be programmed to allocate the available bandwidth. 

We believe this technology will reduce our coscs since we will lease a 
reduced number of standard telephone lines per customer from the incumbent 
carrier. For example. if a customer today has eight voice lines, we must order 
from and provision through the Incumbent carrier eight individual standard 
telephone lines. if the same customer were to buy our sexv1ce whlch uses dlgital 
subscriber line technology. we would only order and provision one standard 
telephone line from the incumbent carrier. Also, w e  expect that future products 
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and aervices designed to take advantage of the increased bandwidth provided by 
digital subscriber line technology will allow us to generate incremental revenue 
with attractive margins. 

CUSTOMER PREMISES EQUIPMENT 

We offer our customers equipment they need to run their internal phone 
systems, including data routers and wiring, telephone equipment and integrated 
access devices. We also sell and service standard key systems, private branch 
exchanges and voice-mail system, and provide inside-wire services for 
comnercial accounts, including wiring for data networking, in Kansas and 
Missouri. We are an authorized equipment distributor for Northern 
Telecom, Inc., Toshiba America Information Systems, Inc.. NEC America, Inc., 
Executone Information Systems, Inc. and Tadiran Electronic Industries, Inc. 

SALES AND MARKETING 

SALES 

As of March 23, 2000, we had a direct sales force of 170 representatives 
operating from 23 offices throughout Missouri. Kansas and Texas. Of these 
representatives. 28 were primarily Belling customer premises equipment and the 
remaining 142 were selling local, long-distance. data and Internet services. The 
sales representatives are Supported by sales managers. Over the next 12 months, 
we plan to increase our sales staff in existing markets and open additional 
sales officee in Texas and Oklahoma and in Ameritech's and BellSouth's regions. 
We supplement our sales efforts through brand awareness efforts including local 
and regional advertising, public relatione and local sponsorships. 

We seek to convert small to mid-sired business customers from the incumbent 
provider of telecomunications services in their market and to establish a 
solid, long-term relationship with them. 
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Our  sales representatives meet with prospective customers to gain a thorough 
understanding of their business and telecomunications requirements. Sales 
representatives then suggest alternatives for operat'm enhancements and cost 
savings based on our service packages. 

We compensate our sales representatives with a competitive base salary, 
stock options and comissione based on sales results. We use a revenue-based 
commission structure that enables us to attract productive sales people 
experienced in disciplined, activity-based sales. This commission structure is 
baaed on incremental revenue and is not subject to a cap. 

We do not actively market to residential customers. Nonetheless. we have 
found that our sales and promotional efforts attract residential customers, many 
of whom are owners or employees of businesses using our telecommunication 
services. Residential customers call our customer service center to receive 
forms to apply for service. We do not pay sales commissions for residentia.1 
sales. 

ADVERTISING AND PROMOTION 

We coiduct extensive marketing campaigns in our local markets. We make use 
of advertising and public relations to attract small to mid-sired business 
customers and contrast our  service attributes With Southwestern Bell's. Our 
marketing campaign includes billboard, radio and print advertising. as well as 
sponsorship of major local events, affiliations with local organizations and 
direct mailings focusing on public relations. We also believe that our 
willingness to serve residential customers--unlike many other competitive local 
exchange carriers--creates greater interest in our development among the news 
media and general public. In the past. our market launches have attracted 
extensive local media coverage. 

In keeping with our philosophy of being accessible to our C U S ~ O ~ ~ T S .  w e  
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establish local sales and customer service offices in most of the cities and 
towns that we serve. In many of theBe cities and towns. we are the only provider 
of local telephone service that maintains an office. Our offices are open to 
walk-in traffic and often are located in high-profile areas. 

Because we are able to deliver a comprehensive set of products to our target 
customers, we believe we have etrong customer loyalty. Our customer churn rates 
have generally been leas than 1.5% per month. 

PRICING 

We do not intend to position ourselves as the cheapest provider of services, 
especially long distance services. We target customers who value the convenience 
of our service offerings and personalized customer service. Customers who have 
the higheet price sensitivity are likely to move frequently among providers. 
driving up churn rates. However. we do set our pricing so that our local 
business customers can ge: erally save from 1 0 1  to 40% on the incumbent 
provider's rates. Internet, long distance and customer premises equipment axe 
generally priced at rates competitive with that of other service providers. 
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om MI\RKETs 

The following chart sets forth the markets in which we provide service or 
expect to provide service by May 2000. 

- 
........ 

or. JO..ph, *i..OUI,...... 
TVk., rA" ............ 
"IFhIL.. ?an....... 
Un... city. *i..ar 
BC. mi.. *i..ouri 
.C.WDnL. TU.. . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Port "orth. T*.*. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
LonT"icr/Ur.hall. T I U . .  ................ 
h l c r .  T~Ui. ............................. 
".CO. TCaa. .............................. 
RDU.LOII. ~=Ui.. .......................... 
A".tI". rex .............................. 
Corpu. Chrxerl. Texas .................... 
W k .   ell... ......................... 
Dall.. . Ter.... .......................... 
S U I  A=ylr.=".O. l e u . .  ...................... 
W r l l l o .  Tc..... ........................ 
*idl."d/Me.... lex.. .................... 
Wichita V.11.. Texan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
.Lbiicne. .hlr ............................. 
91 m.0. .., ............................ 
Orher. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  H I A  H/A 

+ Population data derived from the United States Bureau of the Census. State 
and Metropolitan Areas datebook 1991 to 1998. 

BACK OFFICE SYSTEMS 

Back office systems refer to the hardware and software systems that support 
the primary functions of our operations. including: 

- order entry and provisioning; 
- billing; 

data center; 
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- trouble management; and 
- sales support. 
Our goal is to have a back office that allows us to convert our customers' 

service from their current local providers to our networks easily and quickly. 
Over time, we strive to have "flow through" provisioning capabilities, allowing 
services to be implemented through a single systems interface that updates all 
ordering, inventory, billing and monitoring systems. 
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We have implemented the primary elements of our back office, including order 
entry. provisioning. billing and network management. We believe we have selected 
the best application for each function. The following table describes our key 
back office systems that provide crucial operational functionality, their 
purpose and timeline for implementation. 

_ _ _ _ _  
Southwestern Bell electronic direct ordering 
Verigate and provisioning for 

local telephone service 

Saville CBP(TM) bi 1 1 ing 

Metasolv TBS (TM) order management 
inventory 
provisioning 
trouble management 
customer service 

Harris HNM(TM) network management 

DSET ITM) electronic bonding gateway to incumbent 
telephone company 

HNC ATACS(TM1 fraud management 

TED enhanced call record mediation 

TBD applicaticn integration middleware 

TBD customer care 
sales force automation 

01 1998 

Ql 1999 

Q2 1999 

c4 1998 

02 2000 (est.) 

Q2 2000 lest.) 

03 2000 (est.) 

94 2000 ( e s t . )  

Q4 2000 (est.) 

ORDER ENTRY AND PROVISIONING 

Order entry involves the initial loading of Customer data into our 
infomation systems. Currently. our sales executives take orders and our 
customer care and provisioning representatives load the initial customer 
information into our  Saville billing system and our MetaSolv provisioning 
system. We intend to increase the efficiency and data accuracy of these 
provisioning activities by implementing a sales force automation system to be 
combined with Saville CBP and Metasolv TBS through applicarion integration 
middleware. This system will facilitate entry of sales orders from the sales 
offices and transmit relevant account and order information to Saville CBP and 
MetaSolv TBS. Implementing this system will eliminate several manual steps in 
the provisioning process. 

We use the MetaSolv TBS-TM- system co manage and track the timely completion 
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of each etep in the provisioning process. When MetaSolv is coupled with 
capabilities of the DSET electronic bonding system. we believe we will be able 
to submit orders to external business partners. including Southwestern Bell, 
electronically, thereby minimizing implementation time, coordination 
complexities and installation costa. Currently, we provision orders 
electronically through Southwestern Bell's electronic provisioning system, or 
Verigate. 

In addition to the cost benefits aasociated with the electronic installation 
of access lines and inventory management system. the Metasolv system improves 
our internal processes in various other ways, including: 

- directing electronic customer orders to the appropriate employee. 
prompting them to complete required provisioning tasks, including network 
component assignments and management of outeide vendor activities; and 
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- tracking order progress and alerting operations personnel of steps 
required to fulfill orders within standard work intervals. 

The MetaSolv TBS system enables a customer care coordinator to keep an 
installation on schedule and notify the customer of any potential delays. Once 
an order has been completed, we update our billing system to initiate billing of 
installed services. 

BILLING 

The Saville billing system provides our cumtomere with a consolidated 
invoice for all of our services. Customer calls generate billing recorda that 
are transmitted from the call records to the Saville billing system. These 
records are then proceseed by the billing software. which calcularea usage 
costs. integrates fixed monthly charges. calculatee taxation and provides the 
data ncccseary to create a rrimple customer invoice. We provide invoice 
information to a third party printer, which prepares and distributes bills to 
our customers. Our customers pay us directly. 

This Saville system allows us to add advanced features such as special 
discounts baaed on call volume. or number of services used. complex local 
taxation and discrete billing options by type of service ordered. We believe 
these features are exceptionally important given our sophisticated client base. 

TROUBLE MANAGEMENT 

We use MetaSolv TBS-TM-. a customer care and trouble management system, to 
provide high quality customer service. Our trouble management system is 
integrated into the operational support system. It enables our customer care 
personnel to track customer problems proactively. assign repair work to the 
appropriate technical teams and provide employees and management access to 
comprehensive reports on the status of service activity. 

NETWORK MANAGEMEM 

We use the Harris Network Management system to continuously monitor and 
operate our switch networks. The information provided by the Harris system 
allows our network operations staff to quickly repair problems in the networks, 
thereby eliminating or minimizing impacts to our customers. 

SOUTHWESTERN RELL VERIGATE 

Verigate is the Southwestern Bell end-user interface system that allows our 
customer service. trouble management and service provisioning representatives to 
access the Southwestern Bell operating systems. Verigate allows us to send local 
service requests to receive order commitments back f rom,  reserve new telephone 
numbers with. v i e w  an order's status at, and test or report cilstomer problems to 
Southwestern Bell. 
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DATA CENTER 

During the second quarter 2000, we plan to occupy an 8 . 0 0 0  square foot data 
center in Kansas City, Missouri. We believe this center has sufficient space to 
support significant increases in our access lines, custmers and employees. 

NETWORK FACILITIES 

LEASED FACILITIES 

During 1999, we began to lease substantially all of the network elements 
from Southwestern Bell and combine these elements into integrated Birch-branded 
voice services without deploying a switch. By 
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ueiag UNE-P. we are able to offer our services to a broader geographical area 
than we can by using our own switches. Many of our competitors are limited to 
serving customers that are located near their facilities. UNE-P allows us to 
B e N e  many customers in disparate geegraphic areas. 

Where we have installed switches. we lease transmission facilities from 
Southwestern Bell to connect our switches to our collocated equipment in 
Southwestern Bell's central officee and to unbundled loops. Given the current 
capacity of existing local networks, we do not anticipate having to build local 
transmiaaion facilitiea in the future. Similarly, we believe that the capacity 
of existing long-distance networks renders direct ownership of long distance 
transmission facilities unnece~mary. 

Leasing, rather than building, facilities supports our strategy of rapid 
local market development because our sales activity is not constrained by 
network expenditures. Moreover, by leasing transmission facilities, we can offer 
our services throughout a metropolitan area and we are not constrained by the 
limited number of locations in which we could build transmission facilities. 

OWNED FACILITIES 

We deploy data transmission packet switches in most of our markets. We use 
these packet switches to transmit data over our leased transmission lines and 
plan to use these packet switches to transmit our lor.3 distance voice traffic 
once our conversion plan is implemented. 

We currently operate local/long distance circuit switches in Kansas City and 
St. Louis. Missouri and Wichita, Kansas. We do not intend to deploy more circuit 
switches because we believe voice-capable packet switches will be more 
economical to operate in the future. Additionally, we collocate our electronic 
equipment at Southwestern Bell's central offices to support future digital 
subscriber line services and existing circuit switches. Collocation allows us to 
Connect to transmission lines we lease from Southwestern Bell. 

At the customer's premises, we connect unbundled loops directly to 
customer-owned equipment. We may also deploy electronic equipment (intelligent 
channel banks or access servers) that concentrate data and voice traffic. This 
enables US to obtain higher capacity from the transmission l i n e  of the incumbent 
local exchange carrier. 

OPERATIONS 

EMPORIA AND KANSAS CITY SERVICE CENTERS 

Our service centers in Emporia. Kansas and Kansas City. Missouri are 
critical to our ability to offer excellent service and to support growth. These 
service centers process orders, interface with Southwestern Bell's operational 
support systems and provide Customer  service. trouble resolution. billing and 
collection Services for our customers. These service Centers provide rapid. 
human assistance rather than the automated. cumbersome Customer interface 
currently used by many telecommunlcatlons provlders. 
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FIELD TECHNICAL OPERATIONS 

Our field technicians service our facilities and customer-owned facilities. 
These technicians install. repair and maintain digital switches, transmission 
equipment, private branch exchangee. key systems, data equipment and inside 
wiring. including wiring for data networking, We believe field technicians are 
often the most respected source of telecommunications advice for small and 
mid-eized business customers. We believe that having a skilled, in-demand group 
of technicians supports our customer base, provides expertise for data 
deployment and strengthens customer loyalty. 
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COMPETITION 

The telecommunications industry is highly competitive. We believe we compete 
principally on the basis of customer service, accurate billing, variety of 
services and, to a lesser extent. pricing levels and less complex pricing 
structures. Our ability to compete effectively depends upon our continued 
ability to maintain high quality. market-driven aervices at prices generally 
equal to or below those charged by competitors. To maintain our competitive 
poeturc, we believe that we must be able to provide high quality integrated 
communications services and be positioned to reduce our prices in response to 
potential competition. Any of these reductions could adversely affect us. Many 
of our current and potential competitors have financial, technical, marketing, 
personnel and other resources, including brand name recognition, substantially 
greater than ours. as well an other competitive advantages over us. 

INCVMBENT TELEPHONE COMPANIES 

In our existing marketa, we compete principally with Southwestern Bell. As a 
recent entrant in the telecomnvnications services industry. we may not achieve a 
significant market share for any of our services in our markets. In particular, 
Southwestern Bell and other local telephone companies have long-standing 
re 'onships with their CuBtowrs. have financial, technical and marketing 
rer :es substantially greater than ours, have the potential to subsidize 
cc 
be.. fit from existing regulations that favor these incumbent local exchange 
carriers over ua in some respects. While recent regulatory initiatives, which 
allow competitive local exchange carriers such as us to interconnect with 
incumbent local exchange carrier facilities, provide increased business 
opportunities for us, these interconnection opportunities have been, and likely 
will continue to be, accompanied by increased pricing flexibility for and 
relaxation of regulatory oversight of the incumbent local exchange carriers. 
Future regulatory decisions could grant incumbent local exchange carriers 
increased pricing flexibility or other regulatory relief. These initiatives 
could also have a material adverse effect on us. 

' ,  itive services with revenue from a variety of businesses and currently 

COMPETITIVE LOCAL EXCHANGE CARRIERS/INTEREXCHE CARRIERS/OTHER MARKET 
ENTRANTS 

We also face competition from other current and potential market entrants. 
These market entrants include long distance carriers that compete with our long 
distance services  and seek to enter, reenter or expand into the local exchange 
market. AThT. GTE. MCI WorldCom and Sprint are among these carriers. Competitive 
local exchange carriers, resellers of local exchange services. competitive 
access providers. cable television companies. electric utilities. microwave 
carriers. wireless telephone system operators and private networks built by 
large end users also compete with US. In addition. consolidation and strategic 
alliances within the telecommunications industry, or the development of new 
technologies could put us at a competitive disadvantage. Not only does the 
Telecommunrcations Act impose regulatory requirements on all local 
telecomunications servlce providers. but it also grants the FCC expanded 
authorlty to reduce the level of regulation applicable to any telecommunications 
service provider. including any incumbent telecommunications service prov~ders. 
The manner in which these provisions of the Telecommunications ACL are 
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implemented and enforced could have a material adverse effect on our ability to 
compete successfully against incumbent local exchange carriers and other 
telecommunications service providers. 

The changes in the Telecommunications Act radically altered the market 
opportunity for new telecomunications service providers. Because the 
Tclecomnunications Act requires local exchange carriers to unbundle their 
network-, new telecomunications service providers are able to rapidly enter the 
market by installing switches and leasing trunk and loop capacity. Newer 
providers, like us and some competitors that we may encounter in some of our 
markets, will not have to replicate existing facilities until traffic volume 
justifies building them, and can he more opportunistic in designing and 
implementing networks. 
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In addition to the new telecommunications service providers, interexchange 
carriers and other competitors listed above, we may face competition from other 
market entrants such as electric utilities, cable television companies and 
wireless companies. Electric utilities have existing assets and low cost access 
to capital which could allow them to enter a market rapidly and accelerate 
network development. Cable television companies are entering the 
telecomunications market by upgrading their networks with fiber optics and 
installing facilities to provide fully interactive transmission of broadband 
voice, video and data communications. Finally. wireless companies intend to 
develop wireless technology for deployment in the United States as a broadband 
eubstitute for traditional wireline local telephones. Some Internet companice 
are also developing applications to deliver switched voice comunications over 
the Internet. 

LONG DISTANCE SERVICES 

The long distance telecomunications industry has numerous entities 
competing for the same customers and a high churn rate, as customers frequently 
change long distance providers in rcsponee to offeringa of lower ratea or 
promotional i -tives. Prices in the long distance market have declined 
significantly ecent years and are expected to continue to decline. Our 
primary compe' :s are the major interexchange carriers and resellers of long 
distance 8ervL 5 8 .  We believe that pricing levels are a principal competitive 
factor in providing long distance service; however, we seek to avoid direct 
price competition by packaging long distance service. local service, cuBtomcr 
premises equipment and Internet access service together with a simple pricing 
plan. 

NSTOMER PREMISES EQUIPMENT 

We compete with numerous equipment vendors and installers and 
telecomunications management companies for the sale of customer premises 
equipment and related services. We generally offer our products at prices 
consistent with other providers and differentiate our service through our 
product packages. 

DATA/INTERNET SERVICES 

The Internet services market is highly competitive, and w e  expect that 
competition will contmue to intensify. Internet service, meaning both Internet 
access and on-line content services. is provided by Internet service providers. 
satellite-based companies. long distance carriers and cable television 
companies. Many of these companies provide direct access to the Internet and a 
variety of supporting services to businesses and individuals. In addition, many 
of these companies, such as America Online. Inc., MSN, Prodigy Services Company 
and WebTV Networks. offer on-line content services consisting of access to 
closed, proprietary information networks. Long distance companies, among others, 
are aggreaaively entering the Internet access markets. Long distance carriers 
have substantial transmission capabilities, traditionally carry data t o  large 
numbers of customers and have an established billing system infrastructure that 
permits them to add new services. Satellite companies are offering broadband 
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access to the Internet from desktop PCB. Cable companies are starting to provide 
Internet services using cable modems to Customers in major markets. Many of 
these competitors have substantially greater financial, technological, 
marketing, personnel, name-brand recognition and other resources than those 
available to UQ. 

EUPLOYEES 

At December 31, 1999. we employed 935 persons. Additionally. we occasionally 
hire temporary employees. We are not party to any collective bargaining 
arrangemente and believe that our relationship with our employees is good. 
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REGULATION 

REGULATORY OVERVIEW 

We are subject to regulation by federal. state and local government 
agencies. Hiatorically, the FCC had jurisdiction over interstate long distance 
services and international services, while state regulatory commissions had 
jurisdiction over local and intrastate long distance services. 

In 1996, Congress paeeed the Telecomnunications Act of 1996. opening the 
local market to competition and allowing the Bell operating companies to compete 
for the first time in the long distance market within their local service 
regions once specified conditions were met. The Telecommunications Act 
fundamentally changed the way telecommunications is regulated in this country. 
The PCC was given a major role in writing and enforcing the rules under which 
new competitors could compete in the local rnarkctplace. Those rules. coupled 
with additional rules and decieions promulgated.by the various state regulatory 
comissions, form the core of the regulatory framework under which we operate in 
providing local exchange service. 

With a few limited exceotione, the FCC continues to retain exclusive 
jurisdiction over our prc 'm of interstate and international long distance 
service, and the state rep ory commissions regulate our provision of 
intrastate local and long .;ance service. Additionally, municipalities and 
other local government age..;ies may regulate limited aspects of our business. 
such as use of government-owned rights-of-way. and may require permits such as 
zoning approvals and building permits. 

In the aftermath of the Telecommunications Act, the regulation of the 
telecomunicativns industry has been in a state of flux. The FCC and state 
regulatory commissions have adopted many new rules to implement this legislation 
and encourage competition. but that implementation is ongoing. The following 
summary of regulatory developments does not purport to describe all current and 
proposed federal. state and local regulations and legislation affecting the 
telecommunications industry. Many of these are currently the subject of judicial 
proceedings. legislative hearings and administrative proposals, any of which 
could change. in varying degrees. the manner in which this industry operates. We 
cannot predict at this time the outcome of these proceedings or their impact 
upon the telecommunications industry or on us. 

THE TELECCNMUNICATIONS ACT 

THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS ACT'S LOCAL COMPETITION FRREIEWORK 

One of the key goals of the Telecommunications Act is to encourage 
competition In local telephone service. To do chis. the Telecommunications Act 
provides chree means by which telecommunications service provlders can enter the 
local phone service marketplace. The three modes of entry are as follows: 

- RESALE. Incumbenc telephone companies are required to permit new 
telecommunicatzons service providers to purchase their services for resale 
to che public at a wholesale rate that is less than the rate charged by 
the incumbent telephone companies to their retail customers. 
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- ACCESS TO NEmORK ELEMENTS. Incumbent telephone companies are required to 
lease to new telecommunications service providers the various elements in 
their network that are used to provide local telephone service. The leased 
part8 of the incumbent telephone companies' networka are known as 
unbundled network elements. The incumbent telephone companies must make 
unbundled network elements available at rates that are based on their 
forward-looking economic costs. 

- CONSTRUCTION OF NEW FACILITIES. New teleCOmmuniCatiOnS service providers 
may also enter the local phone service market by building entirely new 
facilities. The incumbent telephone companies are required to allow new 
telecommunications service providers to interconnect their 
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facilities with the incumbent telephone company's, so each carrier's 
customers can reach the other's. 

To facilitate new telecommunications service providers' entry into local 
telephone markets using one or more or some combination of these three methods, 
the Telecommunications Act imposes on incumbent telephone companies the 
obligation to open their networks and markets to competition. When requested by 
competitors, incumbent telephone companies are required to negotiate. in good 
faith, agreemente that lay out t e r n  governing the interconnection of their 
network, access to unbundled network elements and resale. Incumbent telephone 
companies must alao allow competing carriers to "collocate," or place their o m  
equipment in incumbents' central offices. 

In addition, all local exchange carriers, including both incumbent and new 
telecommunications service providers, are subject to the following requirements: 

- INTERCONNSCTION. All local telecomunications service providers must 
permit their competitors to interconnect with their facilities either 
directly or indirectly. Incumbent telephone Companies are additionally 
obligated to permit interconne -n at any technically feasible point 
within their networks. on nondj minatory terms. at prices baaed on cost 
(which may include a reasonabl- ,fit); 

NUHBER PORTABILITY. All local telecommunications service providers must 
implement number portability technology that allows a customer to retain 
its existing phone number if it switches from one local exchange carrier 
to a competitor. This technology primarily benefits new telecommunications 
service providers, which can gather market share more easily if customers 
can switch to these carriers without changing telephone numbers: 

RECIPROCRL COMPENSATION. All local telecommunications service providers 
must complete local calls originated by other telecommunications service 
providers under reciprocal compensation arrangements. That is. the local 
provider terminating a local call is entitled to payment from the local 
provider originating a call. Chargee assessed by the incumbent telephone 
company for terminating calls originated on a new telecommunications 
service provider's network must be based on a reasonable approximation of 
additional cost. The FCC recently determined that Internet service 
provider-bound traffic is interstate in nature. not local, and is 
therefore outside the scope of the Telecommunlcations Act's reciprocal 
compensation provisions. The FCC has initiated a proceeding to determine 
appropriate carrier-to-carrier compensation for Internet service 

provider-bound traffic. At the Same time, the f C C  has declined to overturn 
a multitude of state decisions requiring incumbent telephone companies to 
pay new telecommunications service providers compensation for delivering 
Internet traffic to Internet service providers that had selected a new 
telecommunications 6ervIce provider as their local service provider. The 
FCC's decision is on appeal. and incumbent teleahone comoanies are also .. 
expected t9 ask states or federal Courts to reverse the existing state 
determinations. 
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- DIALING PARITY. Requires all local telecommunications service providers 
to provide nondiscriminatory access to telephone numbers, operator 
services, directory assistance and directory listing with no unreasonable 
dialing delays. Local dialing parity ensures that customers on one local 
exchange carrier do not have to dial extra digits to reach customers on a 
different local or toll carrier's network; and 

- ACCESS TO RIGHTS-OF-WAY. Requires all local telecomunications service 
providers to permit competing providers access to poles. ducts, conduits 
and rights-of-way at reasonable and nondiscriminatory rates. terms and 
conditions. The FCC has opened a proceeding seeking to define in greater 
detail the scope of the incumbent telephone company's obligation to 
provide access to rights-of-way that it owns or controls, including those 
within its own central offices and other buildings. and buildings owned by 
private third parties. 

1 5  

Executing an interconnection agreement does not guarantee a new 
telecommunications service provider unfettered access to the incumbent telephone 
company's market. Interconnection agreements between incumbent telephone 
companies and new telecommunications eervice providers may have short terns, 
requiring the new telecommunications service provider to renegotiate the 
agreements on a regular basis. Incumbent telephone companies may not provide 
timely provisioning or adequate service quality. thereby impairing a new 
telecomunicationa service provider's reputation with customers who can easily 
switch back to the incumbent telephone company. In addition, the prices set in 
the agreements or through state regulatory commission arbitration proceedings 
may be subject to changes mandated by state regulatory comiesiona as they 
develop pennanent ~ l e s  governing interconnection and may not in all instances 
be set at levels that allow new telecomunications service providers to compete 
effectively. 

THE FCC'S RULES IMPLEMENTING THE TELECOHMLlNICATIONS A C T S  LOCAL COHPETITION 
PROVISIONS 

In August 1996, the PCC issued an order imp1 ting the local competition 
provisions of the Telecommunications Act. The FC. tablished rules about how 
interconnection and collocation were to be provi. :d. put forth a method that 
state commissions should use to establish prices for interconnection and 
unbundled network elementa, and apecified which parts of an incumbent's network 
must be made available as unbundled network elements to competing carriers. The 
FCC also held that incumbent telephone companies must provide new 
telecomunications service providers with "combinations" of unbundled network 
elements. making it possible for new telecommunications service providers, in 
many instances, to provide service to customers by leasing all of the component 
unbundled network elements from the incumbent telephone company. This method of 
providing service is known as the unbundled network element platform, or U N - P .  
Specifically, among other rules, the FCC established a list of seven network 
elements. comprising most of the significant facilities, features, 
functionalities or capabilities of the network, that the incumbent telephone 
companies must unbundle. In addition, the FCC mandated a particular 
forward-looking pricing methodology for these network elements that produces 
relatively low element prices that are favorable to competitors. 

After the FCC released its rules, numerous parties challenged the rules 
before the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit. The Eighth 
Circuit overturned many of the FCC's rules on the grounds that the agency had 
exceeded its authority and misinterpreted the law. 

On January 25, 1999, the United States Supreme Court largely reversed the 
Eighth Circuit's decision. holding that the FCC has general jurisdiction to 
implement the local competition provisions of the Telecommunications Act and 
reestablishing the validicy of many of the FCC's interconnection rules. In so 
doing, the Supreme Court stated that the FCC has authority to set pricing 
guidelines for unbundled network elements. to prevent incumbent telephone 
companies from separating existing combinations of network elements. and to 
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establiah "pick and choose" rules regarding interconnection agreements. "Pick 
and choose" rules would permit a carrier seeking interconnection to pick and 
choose among the terms of service from other interconnection agreements between 
the incumbent and various new telecommunications service providers. 

Although it upheld the FCC's jurisdiction to establish unbundled network 
clement pricing guidelines, the Supreme Court did not evaluate the specific 
"forward-looking" pricing methodology adopted by the FCC, and the case has been 
remanded to the Eighth Circuit for further consideration of tbqt specific 
pricing methodology. Some incumbent telephone companies have argued that this 
pricing methodology does not allow adequate compensation for the provision of 
unbundled network elements. The Eighth Circuit heard oral arguments on this 
pricing issue on September 16, 1999, but has not yet issued a ruling. We cannot 
predict the outcome of this proceeding. If the Eighth Circuit fails to uphold 
the FCC's forward-looking pricing methodology. it may materially adversely 
affect our business. 
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Additionally, the Supreme Court vacated the FCC rules defining what network 
elements muet be unbundled and made available to the n e w  telecomunications 
service providers by the incumbents. The Supreme Court held that the FCC must 
provide a stronger rationale to support the degree of unbundling ordered. 

On November 5 ,  1999, in response to the supreme Court's =ling. the FCC 
released new rules specifying which portions of the incumbent telephone 
Companies' networks must be made available as unbundled network elements. The 
FCC reaffirmed that incumbent telephone companies must provide unbundled access 
to the following six network clemcnta: 

- loops. including loope used to provide high-capacity and advanced 
telecommunications services such as digital eubecriber lines; 

- network interface devices; 

- local circuit switching; 
- dedicated and shared transport; 
- signaling and call-related databases; and 

- operations support systeme 

The FCC removed from the list of unbundled network elements operator service 
and directory asaistance. The FCC concluded that the market has developed 
sufficiently that new telecommunications service providers can and do 
self-provide these services. or acquire them from alternative sources. The FCC 
also noted that incumbent telephone companies remain obligated under the 
non-discrimination requirements of the Communications Act of 1934 to comply with 
the reasonable request of a new telecommunications service provider that 
purchases these services from the incumbent telephone companies to rebrand or 
unbrand those services, and to provide directory assistance listings and updates 
in daily electronic batch files. In *ddition. the competitive checklist 
contained in section 271 of the Communications Act of 1934 requires Bell 
operating-companies to provide nondiscriminatory access to these services. 

The FCC also modified the local switching unbundled network element. 
concluding that incumbents need not provide access to unbundled local circuit 
switching for Customers with four or more lines that are located in the densest 
parts of the top 50 metropolitan statistical areas so long as the incumbent 
makes available an alternative arrangement for reaching customers. known as the 
enhanced extended link. The enhanced extended link allows new telecommunications 
service providers to gain access to customers without collocating I n  every 
central office. because it combines the local loop with a multiplexer and 
transport to the n e w  telecommunications service provider's local existing 
collocated facilities or switch. Notwithstanding the FCC's rulzng. unrestricted 
access to unbundled switching 1s available in Texas. where state rulings requlre 
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incumbent telephone companies to make switching available as an unbundled 
network element. 

In iddition to these changes, the FCC also: 

- Limited the scope of the shared transport unbundled network clement, 
holding that the incumbent must only offer shared transport as a unbundled 
network element where unbundled local circuit switching is provided. 

- Held that incumbents are not required to offer packet switching as a 
unbundled network element in most cases. 

- Held that both the loop and transport unbundled network elements include 
access to "dark fiber." Dark fiber is distinguished from "lit fiber" 
transmission capacity in that dark fiber is sold independently from the 
electronics necessary to "light" the fiber and transmit information. The 
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availability of dark fiber from incumbents as  a unbundled network element 
could create an additional source of dark fiber in the market. 

- Ordered "sub-loop unbundling," which will allow new telecommunications 
service providere to connect at any feasible point along the local loop, 
and not just at the central office. In some incumbent networks, subloop 
unbundling will make it easier for new telecomunications aervice 
providere to u ~ e  portions of the unbundled network element loop to offer 
advanced services, such as digital subscriber lines. In a separate order. 
the FCC also ordered the unbundling of the "high-frequency" portion of the 
loop, which also makes it easier and less expensive for new 
telecomunications service providers to use unbundled network elements to 
offer advanced services, such as digital aubscriber linee. 

The FCC's decision regarding unbundled network elcmenta is currently the 
subject of petitions for reconsideration filed at the FCC by various parties, 
including us. Some incumbent telephone companies have aeked the FCC to land 
the limitation on switching by, among other things, extending ita geogi c 
scope. We and other new tclecormnunicationa service providers have askei ; FCC 
to either do away with the limitation or make it applicable to only  la.^ $r 
customers. We cannot predict the outcome of this proceeding. If the FCC further 
restricts the availability of unbundled switching, it could adversely affect our 
ability to serve customers efficiently. 

Another open question is whether incumbent telephone companiee are required 
to combine network elements not currently combined in their networks for 
requesting new telecommunications service providera. The FCC's rules  requiring 
the incumbent telephone companies to do 80 were vacated by the Eighth Circuit. 
hut the FCC and the new telecommunications service provider industry have asked 
that court to reinstate the rules in the wake of the Supreme Court's decision. 
If the rules are reinstated, it will significantly expand the ability of new 
telecommunications service providers to provide service to customers using 
network elements purchased from the incumbent telephone Companies. Also 
unsettled is the scope of the FCC's rule requiring incumbent telephone companies 
to provide requesting new telecommunications service providers with combinations 
of network elements that are "currently combined" in the incumbent telephone 
company's network. The new telecommunications service provider industry has 
taken a broad view of this requirement, interpreting it to mean that new 
telecommunications service providers are entitled to pxchase network element 
combinations so long as they are combined anywhere in the incumbent telephone 
company's network. The incumbent telephone companies, by contrast. have taken a 
much narrower view. arguing that the rule requires the incumbent telephone 
companies only to provide combinations of network elements that are currently in 
service to a particular Customer. The ultimate resolution of this question could 
expand or restrict our ability to provide service to OUT customers using network 
elements purchased from the Incumbent telephone company. 

The Eighth Circuit is expected to rule on the pricing issue in the next 
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several months and may aleo rule on the incumbent telephone companies' 
obligation to provide new network element combinations in the same decision. It 
is not clear when the FCC or the courte will act to define the scope of 
"currently combined." The poaaible impact of the resolution of these open issues 
on existing interconnection agreements between incumbent telephone companies and 
new telecommunications service providers or on agreements that may be negotiated 
in the future cannot be determined at this time. 

In addition to its rulings regarding interconnection and unbundled network 
elements. the PCC has issued a series of orders on the ability of new 
telecommunications service providers to provide digital subscriber lines and 
other high-bandwidth services to their customers for. among other things, 
Internet access. Those orders have made clear that new telecommunications 
service providers are entitled to collocate the equipment necessary to provide 
those services in incumbent telephone companies' central offices; that incumbent 
telephone companies must, where technically feasible, provide new 
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telecommunications service providere with high-quality loops capable of 
supporting digital subscriber lines and that the incumbent telephone companies 
must provide new telecommunications service providers with information 
concerning the make-up of their networks to allow the new telecommunications 
service provider to determine if a particular customer can be served with 
digital subscriber line service. However, many of the details of the orders' 
implementation are unsettled and we cannot assure you that the rules are 
sufficient to ensure that the incumbent telephone companiee meet their 
obligations. 

THE STATES' ROLE IN IMPLEMENTING THE LOCAL COMPETITION PROVISIONS 

Although the FCC eetablishes nationwide guidelines governing entry by new 
telecomunications service providers under the Telecommunications Act, state 
regulatory commissions also have major roles in implementing the local 
competition provieions of the act. Among other thinge, state regulatory 
commissions must approve or reject interconnection agreement-. and they have 
chief responsibility for arbitrating and mediating these agreements if the 
negotiating carriers cannot reach an understanding on the agreement's terms. 
State regulatory commissions are also charged with developing and implementing 
cost-based prices for interconnection and unbundled network elements. in 
accordance with the Telecommunications Act and the forward-looking pricing 
guidelines set by the FCC. State regulatory conmissions are also permitted to 
establish additional unbundled network elements consistent with federal law and 
pol icy. 

BELL OPERATING COMPANIES ENTRY INTO LONG DISTANCE 

The Telecommunications Act also seeks to encourage local competition by 
requiring the regional Bell operating companies to demonstrate on a 
state-by-state basis that they have adequately opened their network and market 
to competitors before they can provide long distance service to end users in 
their own local service areas. Specifically. the Telecommunications Act lays out 
a 14-point checklist which generally requires a regional Bell operating company 
to prove to the FCC that it has complied with the interconnection and network 
access obligations discussed above and that it faces effective competition in 
the state where it seeks to provide long distance service. While the FCC has 
ultimate responsibility for deciding whether the checklist conditions have been 
met. the FCC is required to first consult with the appropriate state regulatory 
commission. 

Southwestern Bell is in the process of applying for authority to provide 
long distance service in Texas. The FCC is expected to rule on Southwestern 
Bell's application in April 2000. Southwestern Bell has also begun the process 
of applying for long distance authority in Kansas by making a preliminary filzng 
with the Kansas state regulatory commission. If Southwestern Bell receives 
approval from the FCC as described above. Southwestern Bell will be able to 
provide in-region long distance services,  which will enable it to provide 
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customers with a full range of local and long distance telecommunications 
services. The ability of Southweatern Bell to provide long distance services is 
expected to be an additional source of competition for US. 

OTHER FEDERAL REGULATION 

The FCC regulates our interstate and international service offerings. Those 
services include our provision of interstate and international long distance 
service and our  provision of interstate access service. The FCC has established 
different levels of regulation for dominant carriers and non-dominant carriers. 
Incumbent telephone companies. such as the Bell operating companies and GTE, are 
currently considered dominant carriers. and are subject to extensive rate and 
operational regulation, while new telecomunications service providers such as 
we are considered non-dominant carriers. and are subject to substantially less 
regulation. 
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INTERSTATE AND INTERNATIONAL LONG DISTANCE SERVICES 

Interstate and international long distance service8 of non-dominant carriers 
are subject to relatively little regulation by the FCC. Our provision of 
international long diatance services requires prior authorization by the FCC 
under Section 214 of the Telecommunications Act, which we have obtained. We are 
aleo required to file tariffs with the FCC for international long distance 
service on an ongoing baaie. 

Under the FCC's streamlined regulation of non-dominant carriers, we may 
install and operate facilities for the transmission of domestic interetate 
comnunicatione without prior FCC authorization. 

In addition, in October 1996, the FCC adopted an order in which it 
eliminated the requirements that non-dominant interstate interexchange carriers 
maintain tariffs on file with the FCC for domestic interstate services. The 
order does not apply to the switched and special access services of the Bell 
operating companies or other local exchange carriers. The FCC order was issued 
under authority granted to the FCC in the 1996 Act to "forbear" from regulating 
any telecommunications services provider under some circumstances. After a 
nine-month transition period. relationships between interstate carriers and 
their customers would be set by contract. At that point, long distance companies 
would be prohibited from filing tariffs with the FCC for interstate, domestic, 
interexchange services. Several parties filed notices for reconsideration of the 
FCC order and other parties appealed the decision. On February 13. 1997. the 
United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit stayed the 
implementation of the FCC order pending its review of the order on its merits. 
Currently, that stay remains in effect and interstate long distance telephone 
companies are therefore still required to file tariffa. 

The D.C. Circuit heard oral argument on the merits of the FCC's detariffing 
order on March 14, 2000, but has not yet issued an order. If the stay is lifted 
and the FCC order becomes effective, telecommunications carriers will no longer 
be able to rely on the filing of tariffs with the FCC as a means of providing 
notice to customers of prices. terms and conditions on which they offer their 
interstate services. The FCC has required that non-dominant interexchange 
carriers pDst their rates. terms and conditions for all their interstate, 
domestic services on their Internet web sites if they have one; this rule is 
effective once the FCC's mandatory detariffrng order cakes effect. This may 
result in significant administrative expenses for us. The obligation to provide 
non-discriminatory, just and reasonable prices remains unchanged under the 
Communications Act of 1934. Tariffs also allow a carrier to limit its liability 
to ita customers, including in connection with service interruptions. If tariffs 
are eliminated. we may become liable for costs that w e  would have been able to 
limit through cariff filings. and w e  cannot assure you that the patencial 
liabilities will noc have a material adverse effect on our  results of operations 
and financial condition. 

ACCESS SERVICES 
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Unlike dominant carriers. which arc subject to extensive rate regulation. w e  
and other non-dominant carriers are subject to relatively little regulation of 
our interstate access services. The PCC has eliminated the requirement that 
non-dominant carriers must file tariffs for their access services. While no 
longer mandatory, carriers may continue to file access tariffs. We have chosen 
to continue to do so. 

In August 1999, the FCC granted incumbent telephone companies subject to 
price cap rate regulation, including the regional Bell operating companies, 
substantial pricing flexibility with regard to some interstate access services. 
Among other things. the FCC's new rules permit incumbent telephone companies, 
upon a showing that the services in question are eubject to sufficient levels of 
competition, to offer volume and term discounts and contract tariffs for 
particular access services. The new rules also allow incumbent telephone 
companies. upon meeting a higher competitive standard, to file tariffs for their 
access services free from many rate structure requirements. To the extent these 
regulatory 
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initiatives enable or require incumbent telephone companies to offer selectively 
reduced rates for some access services, the rates we may charge for these access 
services will likely be constrained. In addition, the FCC has recently initiated 
a proceeding to examine whether to regulate the rates that new 
telecomunications service providers charge for their access services. While the 
FCC has received considerable opposition from the new telecommunications service 
provider industry and others to doing so. we cannot assure you that the FCC will 
not adopt some form of regulation for new telecommunications eervice provider 
access charges. The timing of the FCC'e decision is uncertain. 

In addition to the pricing flexibility described above, the FCC is currently 
considering a joint proposal from ATLT. Bell Atlantic, BellSouth, GTE, SBC 
Comnunicationa and Sprint to lower significantly and delevcrage interstate 
access charges for participating price cap local exchange carriers. The FCC 
could issue an order on this propoaal in the first half of 2000. If adopted, 
these pricing reforms could increase competition among carriers offering local 
exchange and exchange access service in our operating area. 

ADDITIONAL FEDERAL ISSUES 

ACCESS TO POLES, DUCI'S, CONOUITS AND RIGHTS-OF-WAY. Am area of the law that 
remains in flux concerns the extent of a carrier's obligations to provide access 
to poles, ducts, conduits and rights-of-way. We are obligated under SectLon 224 
of the Communications Act to permit other carriers reasonable access to our 
poles. ducts, conduit- and rights-of-way and the FCC has adopted comprehensive 
rules governing how access is to be provided. The FCC is also currently 
considering additional rules. including whether access to rooftops and space 
inside buildings, including buildings awned by Utilities. should be mandated 
under the Telecommunications Act. 

EEO REPORT. The FCC requires ua to file an annual employment report to 
comply with the FCC's equal employment opportunity policies. 

TRUTH IN BILLING. The FCC has adopted new rules designed to make it easier 
for custohers to understand the bills of telecommunications carriers. These new 
rules establish requirements regarding the formatting of bills and the 
infomation that must be included on bills. These rules have been appealed in 
federal court. 

ANT-SLAMMING RULES. The FCC implemented the so-called "anti-slamming" 
rules. which protect consumers whose pre-subscribed carriers have been switched 
without their consent. Under the rules, a carrier found to have slammed a 
customer is subject to substantial fines and must remove from the consumer's 
bill all charges incurred within 30 days of the slamming. While w e  do not engage 
in these pract i ces ,  a slamming fine. i f  levied. could have a material Impact on 
OUT business in the future. 
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CUSTOMER PROPRIETARY NETWORK INFORMATION. In February 1998. the FCC adopted 
rules implementing Section 222 of the Communications ACC of 1934. which governs 
the use of customer proprietary network information by Celecommunications 
carriers. Customer proprietary network information generally includes any 
information regarding a subscriber's use of a telecommunications eervice, where 
it is obtained by a carrier solely by virtue of the carrier-customer 
relationship. The FCC has clarified that Customer proprietary network 
information does not include a subscriber's name, telephone number, and address, 
as this information is generally not derived from the carrier's provision of a 
telecommunications service to a customer. Under the FCC's rules, a carrier may 
only use a customer's proprietary network information to market services that 
are "necessary to, or used in," the provision of a service that the carrier 
already provides to the customer. unless it receives the customer's prior oral 
or written consent to use that information to market other services. In 
December 1999, the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit vacated 
the FCC'a original and modified customer proprietary network information rules 
on the grounds that they violate the First Amendment. However, Section 222 of 
the Coranunications Act remains the law and that section, in addition to the 
FCC a 8 
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now-vacated rules, provides mome guidance on the use of customer proprietary 
network information rules. Uncertainty regarding reetrictiona on the use of 
customer proprietary network information rules may impede our ability to market 
integrated packages of services effectively and to expand existing customera' 
use of our services. 

UNIVERSAL SERVICE. On May 8 ,  1997, the FCC released an order establishing a 
significantly expanded federal universal service subsidy regime under the 
Tclecomunications Act. The universal service program provides support to 
carriers serving low-income customers and customers who live in areas where the 
cost of providing telecommunicat~ions services in high. In addition, the PCC 
eetabliahed new subsidies for telecommunications and SON information Bcrvices 
provided to qualifying schools and libraries and for services provided to rural 
health care providers. Providers of interstate telecommunications services. as 
well as other entities, such as private carriers offering excess capacity to end 
ueer customers, must pay for these programs. O u r  contribution to the federal 
support funds would be calculated based on a percentage of our gross end-user 
interstate and international telecommunications revenues. The assessment rate 
for the second quarter of 2000 is 5.7101t of interstate and international 
end-user telecommunications revenues. The contribution factor issued by the FCC 
varies quarterly. The amounts contributed may be billed to customers. Currently, 
the FCC is calculating assessments based on the prior year's revenues. Assuming 
that the FCC continues to calculate contributions based on the prior year's 
revenue-. we believe chat we will not be liable to contribute any material 
amount to these programs during 2000 because we had limited interstate and 
international end user revenues in 1999. The thresh012 before w e  are required to 
contribute is a $10,000 contribution, which translates into roughly $175,000 in 
interstate end user telecommunications revenues. With respect to subsequent 
years. however, we are currently unable to quantify the amount of any 
contributions that we will be required to make or the effect that these required 
contributions will have on our financial condition. 

The FCC has recently adopted the cost model which it will use to determine 
the support needed in high-cost areas and the inputs for the model. The new 
high-cost support mechanism, which went into effect on January 1. 2000 for 
non-rural carriers.  substantially increases the amount of high-cost support 
provided to non-rural carriers. The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth 
Circuit recently issued an order upholding in part. and reversing in part. the 
May 8th FCC order implementing these funds. Numerous FCC orders revising these 
funds are subject to petitions for reconsideration and further petitions for 
appeal. The outcome of these proceedings or their effect Cannot be predicted. 

In addition to the universal service mechanisms described above. the FCC is 
currently considering a 3ornt proposal from Bell Atlantic. BellSouth, GTE. SBC 
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Communications, ATLT, and Sprint to create a $ 6 5 0  million fund to provide 
universal service support for interstate access charges. If adopted, this 
proposal could significantly increase the contribution obligations of other 
telecommunications carriers. 

COMMUNICATIONS ASSISTANCE FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT ACT. Under this act, 
telecommunications carriers are required to: (11 provide law enforcement 
officials with call content and call identifying information under a valid 
electronic surveillance Warrant, and ( 2 )  reserve a sufficient "umber of circuits 
for use by law enforcement officials in executing court authorized electronic 
surveillance. If we provide facilities-based services. we may incur costs in 
meeting both of these requirements. In particular, regarding the requirements 
related to call content and identification, except in very limited circumstances 
the government is required to compensate carriers only for the costs of making 
equipment installed or deployed before January 1. 1995 compliant with this act. 
while the telecommunications induatry is attempting to negotiate legislative and 
administrative changes to this reimbursement cut-off date. as it stands today, 
we will be financially responsible for ensuring that our post-1995 equipment is 
in compliance. Regarding the Circuit capacity requirements. the government will 
finance any necessary increases in capacity for equipment that we have 
specifically identified as installed or deployed prior to September 8 .  1998. and 
we are reaponsible for paying only for any necessary increases in capacity for 
equipment installed or deployed after that date. 
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STATE AND LOCAL REGULATION 

In general, state regulatory commissions have regulatory jurisdiction over 
us when our facilitiee and services are used to provide local and other 
intrastate services. Under the Telecommunications Act, state comnissions 
continue to set the requirements for providers of local and intraetate services. 
including quality of services criteria. State regulatory comnissions also can 
regulate the rates charged by new telecommunications service providers for 
intrastate and local services and can set prices for interconnection by new 
telecommunications service providers with the incumbent telephone company 
networks, in accordance with guidelines set by the FCC. In addition, state 
regulatory commissions in many instances have authorit! under state law to adopt 
additional regulation- governing local competition,. F J  long as the state's 
actions are not inconsistent with federal law or regulation. 

Most state regulatory commissions require companies that wish to provide 
intrastate common carrier services to register or be certified to provide these 
services. These certifications generally require a showing that the carrier has 
adequate financial. managerial and technical resources to offer the proposed 
services in a manner consistent with the public interest. In most states, we are 
also required to file tariffs setting forth the terms, conditions and prices for 
services that are classified as intrastate. and to update or amend our tariffs 
as rates change or new products are added. We may also he subject to various 
reporting and record-keeping requirements. 

We are currently certified by the Missouri Public Service Commission. the 
Kansas Corporation Comission. the Texas Public Utilities Commission and the 
Oklahoma Corporation Commission to provide both local and intrastate long 
distance service in those states. We have tariffs on file in each of these 
statea. 

If we choose to install our own transmission facilities, w e  may be required. 
in some cities. to obtain street opening and construction permits. permission to 
use rights-of-way, zoning variances and other approvals from municipal 
authorities. We also may be required to obtain a franchise to place facilities 
in public rights of way. In some areas, w e  may be required to pay license or 
franchise fees for these approvals. We cannot assure you that fees will remain 
at Current levels, or that our competitors will face the Same expenses, although 
the Telecommunications Act requires that any fees charged by municipalities be 
reasonable and non-discriminatory as among telecommunlcations carrxers. 



BIRCH TELECOU INCMO - IO-KIDS - A n n u l  Report Date Filed: 3/30/2000 

23 

R I S K  FACTORS 

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS: 

WE HAVE A HISTORY OF OPERATING LOSSES, AND WE MAY NOT BE PROFITABLE IN THE 
PVTURE. 

We have incurred significant losses since we began operations as a 
competitive teleconmunications provider and expect to continue to incur losses 
in the future as we build OUT network. For the year ended December 31, 1999, we 
had operating losses of $49.7 million and a net loss of $61.8 million. A8 of 
December 31, 1999, we had an accumulated deficit of $79.8 million. We expect to 
experience losses during our network and service deployment, which will continue 
for the foreseeable future. Prolonged effects of generating losses without 
additional funding may rertrict our ability to pursue our business strategy. 

If we cannot achieve profitability from operating activities. we may not be 
able to meet: 

- our capital expenditure requirements; 
- our debt service obligations; or 

our working capital needs 

OUR HIGHLY LEVERAGED CAPITAL STRUCTURE LIMITS OUR ABILITY TO OBTAIN ADDITIONAL 
FINANCING AND COmD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR BUSINESS IN SEVEFAL OTHER WAYS. 

The level of our outstanding debt greatly exceeds the level of our revenue 
and stockholders' equity. An of December 31, 1999, we had $125.8 million of 
long-term indebtedness outstanding. including $10.0 million outstanding under 
our senior credit facility and $114.7 million of senior notes outstanding. This 
indebtedness represented 1 0 3 . 5 1  of our total capitalization at that date. We 
may, and are also permitted under the terms of our debt instruments to, incur 
substantial indebtedness in the future. 

Our  large amount of indebtedness could significantly impact our business for 
the following reasons: 

- it limits our ability to obtain additional financing to complete our 
roll-out plan. to develop new services or to otherwise respond to 
unanticipated competitive pressures: 

- it means that we will need to dedicate a substantial portion of our 
operating cash flow to fund interest expense on our senior credit facility 
and our senior notes. thereby reducing funds available for working 
capital. capital expenditures or other purposes; 

- it makes us vulnerable to interest rate fluctuations because our senior 
credit facility loans bear interest at variable rates; 

- it limits our ability to compete with companies who are not as highly 
leveraged. especially those who may be able to price their service 
offerings at levels below those we can or are willing to match; and 

- it limits our ability to expand into new markets and to react to changing 
market conditions. changes in our industry aid economic downturns. 

OUR EXISTING DEBT INCLUDES RESTRICTIVE AND FINANCIAL COVENANTS THAT LIMIT OUR 
OPERATING FLEXIBILITY. 

Our  senior  credit facility and the indenture relating to our senior notes 
contain Covenants that, among other things. restrict our ability to take 
specific actions. even if we believe them to be in our besc Interest. These 
include restrictions on our ability to: 
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- incur additional debt; 
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- pay dividends or distributions on. or redeem or repurchase, capital stock; 
create liens or negative pledges with respect to our assets; 

- make investments, loans or advances; 
- issue, sell or allow distributions on capital stock of specified 
subsidiaries; 

- enter into sale and leaseback transactions; 
prepay or defease epecified indebtedness; 

- enter into transactions with affiliates; 
enter into specified hedging arrangements; 

- merge. consolidate or sell our assets; or 
- engage in any business other than telecommunications 
The senior notes also require us to offer to purchase these notes from the 

holdere at 101a if we undergo a change of control. In addition, the senior 
credit facility imposes financial covenants that require us to comply with 
specified financial ratios and tests. including minimum revenues, minimum 
EBITM/maximum EBITDA losses. minimum access linea, senior secured debt to total 
capitalization. maximum capital expenditures, maximum leverage ratios, minimum 
intereat coverage ratios and pro forma debt service coverage ratios. We cannot 
assure you that we will be able to meet these requirements or satisfy these 
covenants in the future. If we fail to do so, our debte could become imediately 
payable at a time when we are unable to pay them. This could adversely affect 
our ability to carry out our business plan and would have a negative effect on 
our financial condition. 

WE EXPECT TO GROW AND CANNOT GUARANTEE THAT WE WILL BE ABLE TO EFFECTIVELY 
MANAGE OUR FVIURE GROWTH. 

If we auccessfully implement our business plan, our operations will expand 
rapidly, and we will be providing packaged telecommunications services on a 
widespread basis. This could place a significant strain on OUT management. 
operational, financial and other resources and increase demands on our systems 
and controls. Failure to manage our future growth effectively could adversely 
affect the expansion of our customer base and service offerings. We cannot 
assure you that we will successfully implement and maintain efficient 
operational and financial systems. procedures and controle or successfully 
obtain, integrate and manage the employees and management. operational, 
financial and other resources necessary to manage a developing and expanding 
business in our evolving, highly reg"1ated and increasingly competitive 
industry. 

TO EXPAND AND DEVELOP OUR BUSINESS WE WILL NEED A SIGNIFICANT AMOUNT OF CASH, 
WHICH WE MAY BE UNABLE TO OBTAIN. 

The expansion and development of our business and the deployment of our 
networks. SeNlces and systems will require significant capital expenditures 
working capital and debt Service and generate negative operating cash flows. 

The actual amount and timing of o u r  future capital requirements may differ 
materially from our estimates as a result of, among other rhings. the demand for 
our services and regulatory. technological and competitive developmenrs. 
including additional market developments and new opportunities. in our industry. 
O u r  revenue and costs may also be dependent upon facrors that are not  wlthln our 
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control, including regulatory and legislative developments, the response of our 
competitors to their lose of customers to us and to changes in technology. the 
nature and penetration of services that we may offer and the number of 
subscribers and the services for which they subscribe. Due to the uncertainty of 
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these factors, actual revenues and costs may vary from expected amounts, 
possibly to a material degree, and these variation8 are likely to affect our 
future capital requirements. 

We also expect that we will require additional financing or may require 
financing sooner than anticipated to complete our roll-out plan or if our 
development plans change or prove to be inaccurate. We may also require 
additional financing in order to develop new services or to otherwise respond to 
changing business conditions or unanticipated competitive prcesuree. Sources of 
additional financing may include commercial bank borrowings, vendor financing, 
or the private or public sale of equity or debt securities. If we decide to 
raise additional funds through the incurrence of debt, our interest obligations 
will increase, and we m y  become subject to additional or more restrictive 
financial covenants, which could impair our ability to develop our business. We 
cannot aasure you that we will be successful in raising Sufficient additional 
capital on favorable terms or at all. Failure to raise sufficient funds may 
require us to modify, delay or abandon some of our future expansion or 
expenditure plans. 

RESISTANCE BY POTENTIAL CUSTOMERS TO ACCEPT US AS A NEW PROVIDER OF 
TELECUHMUNICATTIONS SERVICES HAY REDUO3 OUR ABILITY TO INCREASE OUR REVENUE 

The succes~ of our service offerings will depend upon, among other things, 
the willingness of additional customers to accept us as a new provider of 
integrated communicatione services. We cannot assure you that we will be 
successful in overcoming the resistance of potential customerB to change their 
service provider. particularly those that purchase services from the traditional 
telephon- companies, or that customers will buy our Services. Any lack of 
custom -ceptance would reduce our ability to increase our revenue. 

IF WE . JNABLE TO DEVELOP OR INTEGRATE OUR SYSTEMS OR PROPERLY MAINTAIN ANLl 
UPGRADL PHEM. WE HAY NOT BE ABLE TO BILL OUR CUSTOMERS EFFECTIVELY OR PROVIDE 
ADEQUATE CUSTOMER SERVICE. 

Sophisticated back office information and processing systems are vital to 
our growth and our ability to monitor costs, hill customers, provision customer 
orders, achieve operating efficiencies and maintain our operating margins. Our 
plans for the development and implementation of these systems rely, for the most 
part, on choosing products and services offered by third party vendors and 
integrating these products and services in-house to produce efficient 
operational solutions. We cannot assure you that w e  will successfully implement 
these systems on a timely basis or that we will implement them at all. We also 
cannot assure you that, once implemented, these systems will perform as w e  
expect. Risks to our business associated with our systems include: 

- failure by these vendors to deliver their products and services in a 
timely and effective manner and at acceptable costs; 

- failure by us to identify all of our information and processing needs 
adequately; 

failure of our related processing or information systems: or 

failure by us to effectively integrate new products or services 

Furthermore. as our suppliers revise and upgrade their hardware. software 
and equipment technology, we could encounter difficulties in integrating this 
new technology intc o u r  business or the n e w  systems may not be appropriate for 
o u r  business In addition, our right to use these systems depends upon license 
agreements with third party vendors Vendors may cance. or e l e c t  not to renew 
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some of these agrecmenta, which m y  adversely affect us. 
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WE MAY NEED TO RELY ON THE ESTABLISHED LOWL TELEPHONE COMPANIES TO IMPLEMENT 
OUR SERVICES SUCCESSNLLY. THEIR FAILURE TO COOPERATE WITH US C O W  ADVERSELY 
AFFECT THE SERVICES WE OFFER. 

We are a recent entrant into the local telecommunications services industry. 
The local exchange Services market in most states wan only recently opened to 
competition. There are numerous operating complcxitiea associated with providing 
these services. We will be required to develop new products. services and 
systems and will need to develop new marketing initiatives to sell these 
services. we cannot assure you that we will be able to develop these products 
and services. 

We plan to deploy high capacity voice and data switches in most of the 
markets we serve. We initially intend to rely on the networks of established 
telephone companies or those of new market entranta for some aspects of 
transmission. Federal law requires most of the traditional local telephone 
companies to lease or "unbundle" elements of their networks and permit us to 
purchase the elements w e  need, thereby decreasing our operating expenses. We 
cannot assure you that this unbundling will continue to occur in a timely manner 
or that the prices for these elements will be favorable to us. Our current 
strategy depends in large part on our ability to provide service to our 
customers by leasing all of the network elements necessary to provide local 
telephone senrice from the incumbent telephone company rather than through the 
use of our o m  equipment and facilities. UNE-P allows us to minimize capital 
expenditures and permits us to enter new markets quickly, while allowing us to 
maintain significant gross margins. If the incumbent local telephone companies 
do not cooperate in making UNE-P available, our ability to provide service to 
customers could be materially adversely affected. 

In addition, our ability to implement successfully our services will require 
the negotiation of interconnection and collocation agreements with establiehed 
telephone companir ?d other new market entranta, which can take considerable 
time, effort and e. ' re and is subject to federal, state and local regulation. 
Interconnection a? .! 'mta are agreements between local telecommunications 
services providers 'hat set forth the terms and conditions governing how those 
providers will interconnect their networks and/or purcnase or lease network 
facilities and services. 

Our interconnection agreements with Southwestern Bell provide that our 
connection and maintenance orders will receive the same attention as 
Southwestern Bell's end-user customers and that Southwestern Bell will provide 
capacity at key telecommunications intersections to keep call blockage within 
induetry standards. Accordingly, w e  depend and will continue to depend on 
southwestern Bell and, as we expand our  network. we will depend on other 
traditional telephone companies to assure uninterrupted service and competitive 
services. Blocked calla result in customer dissatisfaction and risk the loss of 
business. Interconnection agreements. such as  our agreements with Southwestern 
Bell. typically have short terms. requiring us to renegotiate frequently. Some 
of our agreements with Southwestern Bell have one year or less remaining before 
w e  will have to renegotiate them. We cannot assure you that we will be able to 
renegotiats these interconnection agreements in our existing markets, or 
negotiate new interconnection agreements in new markets, on favorable terms. In 
addition, the prices set forth in our interconnection agreements may be subject 
to significant rate increases at the discretion of the regulatory authority in 
each state in which we operate. O u r  profitability partially depends on these 
state-regulated rate structures. We cannot assure you that the rates charged to 
us under the interconnection agreements will allow us to offer low enough usage 
rates to attract a sufficient number of customers and to operate our business 
profitably or at favorable gross margins. 

Many new carriers have experienced difficulties in working with the 
established telephone companies with respect to orderlng. interconnecting. 
leasing premises and implementing the systems used by these new carriers to 
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order and receive unbundled network elements and wholeaale services. We cannot 
assure you that established telephone companies will be accommodating to us. If 
we are unable to obtain the cooperation of an established telephone company in a 
region, our ability to offer local services in this region on a timely and 
cost-effective basis would be adversely affected. In addition, 
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both proposed and recently completed mergers involving regional ,Bell operating 
companies and other competitors could facilitate a combined entity's ability to 
provide many of the services we offer. thereby making it more difficult to 
compete against them. 

DIGITAL SUBSCRIBER LINE TECHNOLOGY MAY NOT OPERATE AS EXPECTED ON INCUMBENT 
LOCAL CARRIER NETWORKS AND MAY INTERFERE WITH OR BE AFFECTED BY OTHER TRAWSPORT 
TECXWOUSIES . 

Our ability to provide digital subscriber line services to potential 
customers depends on the quality, physical condition, availability and 
maintenance of telephone lines within the control of the incumbent carriers. If 
the telephone linea are not adequate. we may not be able to provide digital 
subscriber line services to many of our target Customers, and this will diminish 
our expected revenue. We believe the current condition of telephone lines in 
many cases may be inadequate to permit us to fully implement these services. We 
also believe that the incumbent carriers may not maintain or  improve the 
telephone lines in a condition that will allow us to implement our digital 
Subscriber line services effectively. Further, the incumbent carriers may claim 
their lines are not of sufficient quality to allow us to fully implement or 
operate our digital subscriber line services. In addition, some customers uae 
technologies other than copper linee to provide telephone services. and as a 
result. digital subscriber line services might not be available to these 
cuntomers. 

A11 transport technologies using copper telephone lines have the potential 
to interfere with. or to be interfered with by, other traffic on adjacent copper 
telephone lines. This interfe - could degrade the performance of our  services 
or make us unable to provide E cc on selected lines. In addition, incumbent 
carriers may claim that the p .ial for interference by digital subscriber 
line technology permits them tr restrict or delay our deployment of this 
technology. The telccomunicatione industry and regulatory agencies are still 
developing procedures to resolve interference issues between telecomunicatione 
providers. and these procedures may not be effective. We may be unable to 
successfully negotiate interference resolution procedures with incumbent 
carriers. Interference, or claims of interference. if widespread. would 
adversely affect our speed of deployment, reputation, brand image, service 
quality and customer retention and satisfaction. 

IF WE ARE UNABLE TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN KEY MANAGEMENT ANC PERSONNEL, WE MAY NOT 
BE ABLE TO IMPLEMENT OUR BUSINESS PLAN. 

We believe that our future success will he due. in part, to our experienced 
management team, including Messra. Scott, Goldman. Hollingsworth. Lawhon. 
Moline, Shackelford and Vranicar, each of whom is party to an employment 
agreement. Losing the services of one or more members of our management team 
could adversely affect OUT business and our expansion efforts and possibly 
prevent us from: 

- further deploying and improving our operational, financial and information 
systems and controls: 

- hiring and retaining qualified sales. marketing. administrative. operating 
and technical personnel; and 

- training and managing new personnel 

In addition. competitlon for qualified employees has intensified in recent 
years and may become even more intense in the future. Our ability to implement 
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our businees plan depends on our ability t o  hire and retain a large number of 
new employees each year. Inability to hire sufficient qualified personnel could 
impair our ability to increase revenue, and customers could experience delays in 
installation of service or experience lower levels of customer care. 
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WE MAY NOT HAVE THE ABILITY TU DEVELOP STRATEGIC ALLIANCES OR TO MAKE OR 
SUCCESSFmLY INTEGRATE ACQUISITIONS NEEDED TO COMPLEMENT OUR EXISTING BUSINESS. 

AB part of our growth strategy, we seek to develop strategic alliances and 
to make investments or acquire assets or other businesses. We regularly engage 
in discussions relating to potential acquisitions. We are unable to predict 
whether or when any prospective acquisitions or strategic alliances will occur 
or the likelihood of a material transaction being completed on favorable terms 
and conditions. Our ability to finance acquiaitions and strategic alliances may 
be constrained by our degree of leverage at the time of the acquisition. In 
addition, our senior credit facility and senior notes may significantly limit 
our ability to make acquisitions or enter into strategic alliances and to incur 
indebtedness in connection with acquisitions and strategic alliances. 

In addition. if we were to proceed with one or more significant strategic 
alliances. acquisitions or investments in which the consideration conaista of 
cash, we could use a substantial portion of our available cash, to consummate 
the strategic alliances. acquisitions or investments. The financial impact of 
acquisitions, investment8 and strategic alliances could cauee substantial 
fluctuations in our quarterly and yearly operating results. 

The integration of any future acquisitions or strategic alliances would be 
accompanied by the risks commonly encountered in these transactions. These risks 
include. among others: 

the difficulty of assimilating the acquired operations and personnel; 

the potential disruption of our ongoiqg business and diversion of 
resources and management time; 

- the inability of management to maxi - our financial and strategic 
position by the successful incorporaLion of licensed or acquired 
technology and rights into our service offerings; 

the possible inability of management to maintain uniform standards. 
controls, procedures and policies; 

- the risks of entering markets in which w e  have little or no direct prior 
experience: and 

the potential impairment of relationships with employees or customers as a 
result of changes in management or otherwise arising out of these 
transactions. 

We cannot assure you that we will be able to integrate acquired businesses or 
asset- successfully. 

A SYSTEM PAILURE COULD CAUSE DELAYS OR INTERRUPTIONS OF SERVICE, WHICH COULD 
CAUSE US TO LOSE CUSTOMERS. 

Oar Success will require that our  networks provide competitive reliability, 
capacity and security. Some of the risks to our networks and infrastructure 
include : 

- physical damage to access lines: 
power surges or outages: 

capacity limitations: 
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- software defects; 
- lack of redundancy; and 

- disruptions beyond our control. 

These disruptions may cause interruptions in service or reduced capacity for 
customers. any of which could cause us to lose customers. 
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ALL YEAR 2000 PROBLEMS MAY NOT HAVE BEEN ADDRESSED BY OUR SUPPLIERS, AND ANY 
SERVICE INTERRUPTION WE EXPERIENCE AS A RESULT OF THESE PROBLEMS MAY CAUSE US TO 
LOSE CUSTOMERS. 

The Year 2000 iesue generally describes the various problems that may result 
from the improper processing of dates and date-sensitive transactions by 
computers and other equipment as a result of computer hardware and software 
using two digits, rather than four digits, to identify the year in a date. Rny 
computer programs or system8 of our Suppliers that have date-sensitive software 
may recognize a date using "00' as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. 
While we have experienced no Year 2000 issues to date, and we are not aware of 
any material iseuea for our suppliers. we are continuing to evaluate and 
determine whether our significant suppliers are in compliance or have 
appropriate plans to remedy Year 2000 issues when their systems interact with 
our systems. We do not expect that this will have a material impact on our 
operations. However, we cannot assure you that the systems of other companies on 
which we rely are Year 2000 compliant. that another company's failure to 
successfully convert. or that another company's conversion to a aystem 
incompatible with our systems. would nor have an impact on our operaciona. The 
failure of our principal Suppliers to be Year 2000 compliant could result in 
delays in service deliveriea from those suppliers and materially impact our 
ability to do business. 

OUR OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS EXERT SUBSTANTIAL INFLUENCE OVER US. 

Our executive officera. directors and entities a. ated with them together 
beneficially own a substantial percentage of our out! ling cornon stock. AS a 
result. these stockholders are able to exercise suba .,'cia1 influence over all 
matters requiring approval by our stockholders. including the election of 
directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. This concentration 
of ownership may also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in our 
control. 

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INDUSTRY: 

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO COMPETE EFFECTIVELY AGAINST OTHER COMPANIES. 

The telecommunications industry is highly competitive and is affected by the 
introduction of new services by, and the market activities of, major industry 
participants. Several of our competitors are substantially larger and have 
greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do. We have not 
achieved, and do not expect to achieve, a significant market share for any of 
the broadband telecommunications services we offer in our target markets. In 
particular, larger competitors have advantages over us that could cause us to 
lose customers and impede our ability to attracc new customers, including: 

- long-standing relationships and brand recognition with customers: 

- financial. technical, marketing. personnel and other resources 
substantially greater than ours; 

- more funds to deploy telecommunicat~ons services: 

potential to lower prices of competitive telecommunications services: and 

fully-deployed networks 
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We face competition from other current and potential market entrants, 
including: 

- domestic and international long distance providers seeking to enter, 
re-enter or expand entry into the local telecommunications marketplace: 
and 

- other domestic and international telecommunications providers, resellers 
cable television companies, electric utilities and Internet companies. 
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A continuing trend toward combinations and strategic alliances in the 
telecomunications industry could give rise to significant new competitors. This 
could cause us to lose customers and impede our ability to attract new 
customers. 

FCC AND STATE REGULATIONS HAY LIMIT THE SERVICES WE CAN OFFER OR IMPACT OUR 
ABILITY TO CONDUCT OUR BUSINESS. 

Our  networks and the provision of telecommunications services are 
extensively regulated at the federal, state and local levels. Existing and 
future governmental regulations may greatly influence how we operate our 
business, our  business strategy and ultimately, our viability. The costs of 
cornplying with federal, state and local regulations and the delays in receiving 
required regulatory approvals or the enactment of new adverse regulation or 
regulatory requirements may be greater than we anticipate and divert our 
resources from implementing our business plan. We cannot predict the future 
regulatory framework for our business. 

Our provision of telecommunications services may be subject to the 
requirement that we obtain proper authorizations from the FCC or state 
comisaions. We cannot assure you that the FCC or state commissions will grant 
the required authority or refrain from taking action against us if we are found 
to have provided services without obtaining the necessary autho' 'ions. If we 
do not fully comply with the rules of the FCC or State regulator znciea, 
third parties or regulators could challenge our autho.rty to do nes8. These 
challenges could cause us to incur substantial legal and adminis.:ative 
expenses. 

Federal law governing the telecomunications industry remains in a state of 
flux. The Telecomunicationa Act remains subject to judicial review and 
additional FCC rulemaking, and thus it is difficult to predict what effect the 
legislation or these FCC rules will have on us and our operations. There are 
currently many regulatory actions underway and being contemplated by federal and 
state authorities regarding interconnection pricing, universal service support, 
accees charge reform. and other issues that could result in Significant changes 
to the business conditions in the telecomunications industry. 

Our  current business strategy depends in large part on our ability to 
provide service to our customers through UNE-P. Our ability to provide service 
to customers through W E - P  depends in turn on FCC and state commission rulings 
requiring incumbent local telephone companies to lease us the necessary network 
elements..If those rules are changed by the FCC or state commissions. or are 
Struck down by the courts, our ability to provide service to our customers 
through W E - P  could be materially adversely affected. For example, the FCC could 
remove one or more of the necessary elements from the list of elements that the 
incumbent telephone companies are required to prcvide to us. The FCC Could also 
expand the scope of an existing exception in its rules that permits incumbent 
telephone companies to opt not to make UNE-P available in the highest density 
geographic areas within the largest 5 0  metropolitan statistical areas if they 
meet certain conditions. If the FCC acts to expand the scope of the geographic 
exception to include our target markets, our business could be materially 
adversely affected. Some states in our current operating region, including Texas 
and Missouri. have gone beyond the FCC'6 minimum requirements and independently 
ordered Southwestern Bell to make UNE-P available throughout those states under 
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terms more favorable to new telecomunicatione service providers than those 
required by the FCC. We CaMOt assure you that those favorable state rulings 
will remain in place. If W E - P  does not continue to be available on the 
favorable terms ordered by the statem, our business could be materially 
adversely affected. 

The United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit is currently 
considering challenges to the pricing methodology established by the FCC for 
setting the rates paid by telecommunications service providers to incumbent 
telephone companies for access to network elements. If the court strikes d o n  
some or all of the PCCs's pricing methodology and that methodology is ultimately 
replaced with 
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a methodology that imposes higher rates for network elements, we could be 
materially adversely affecrrd. 

Pedcral universal service support mechanisms could increase the costs of 
providing service to our customers. We derive revenue from the provision of 
interstate and international telecommunications services to end users that may 
be subject to the requirement that we contribute to the FCC's Universal service 
Fund based on a percentage of this revenue. The assessment for the first quarter 
of 2000 is 5 . 8 9 9 5 t .  and the assessment for the second quarter of 2000 is 5.7101% 
of interstate and international end User telecomunications revenue. The 
contribution factor varies quarterly at a rate set by the FCC. To the extent the 
contribution factor increases, our costs of providing service will increase. 

Our Internet operationa are not currently regulated directly by the PCC or 
any other governmental agency, other than regulations applicable to businesses 
generally. However, the FCC has recently indicated that the regulatory status of 
some servicce offered over the Internet may have to be re-examined. New laws or 
regulations relating to Internet services, or existing laws found to apply to 
them, may adversely affect our  Internet operations. 

WE MAY BE UNABLE TO ADAPT TO TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE. 

The telecommunications industry is subject to rapid and significant cha:', . 
in technology, including continuing developments jn digital subscriber line 
technology. Thia technology does not presently have widely accepted standards, 
and alternative technologies for providing high speed data transport and 
networking may develop. The absence of widely accepted standards may delay or 
increase the cost of our market entry due to changes in equipment specifications 
and customer needs and expectations. We may also rely on a third party for 
access to new technologies. In addition, if we acquire new technologies. we may 
not be able to implement them as effectively as other companies with more 
experience with those technologies and in their markets. 

WE MAY FAIL TO ACHIEVE ACCEPTABLE PROFITS ON OUR LONG DISTANCE BUSINESS DlJE TO 
DECLINING PRICES. LOW CUSTOMER RETENTION RATES AND OUR CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS. 

Prices in the long distance business have declined substantially in recent 
years and are expected to continue to decline. In addition. the long distance 
industry has a low customer retention rate, as customers frequently change long 
distance providers in response to the offering of lower rates or promotional 
incentives by competitors. We will rely on other carriers to provide us with a 
major portion of our long distance transmission network. Agreements with these 
carriers typically provide for the resale of long distance services on a 
per-minute basis and may contain minimum volume commitments. The negotiation of 
these agreements involves estimates of future supply and demand for transmission 
capacity. as well as estimates of the calling patterns and traffic levels of our 
future customers. In the event that w e  fail to meet these minimum volume 
commitments. w e  may have to pay underutilization charges, and, in the event we 
underestimate our need for transmission capacity. w e  may have to obtain capacity 
through more expensive means. 

AS A NEW DATA TRANSMISSION ENTRANT IN A MARKET, WE MAY INITIALLY GENERATE LOW OR 
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NEGATIVE GROSS HARGINS. 

As a new entrant in the data transmiaeion business, we expect to generate 
low or negative gross margins and eubatantial start-up expenses as we begin to 
offer data transmiasion eervices. The ~uCCeee of our data transmission business 
will depend upon, among other things, the effectiveness of our sales personnel 
in the promtion and sale of our data transmission services, the acceptance of 
these aervicee by potential customers, and our ability to hire and train 
qualified personnel and further enhance our services in responee to future 
technological changes. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in these 
endeavors. 
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THIS FORM 10-K CONTAINS FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS THPIT MAY NOT BE ACCURATE 
INDICATORS OF OUR FUTURE P E R P O W C E .  

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the 
federal securities laws. Discussions containing forward-looking statements may 
be found in the material set forth in this section and under "Business" and 
"Management's Diacusaion and Analyaie of Financial Condition and Results of 
operations," as well as in the Form 10-K generally. The words "believe." 
'"estimate," "expect," "intend," "anticipate." "plan," and similar expressions 
and variations of these expreeeions identify some of these forward-looking 
statements that speak only an of the dates on which they were made. We caution 
you that these forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future 
perfomnce and involve risks and uncertainties. Actual events or results m y  
differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a 
result of various factors. including, without limitation, the risk factors set 
forth above and the matters set forth in this Form 10-K generally. All 
subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us o r  
persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the 
cautionary staternenta included in this document. We underrake no obligation to 
publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of 
new information. future events or otherwise. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

We lease 43,783 square feet in office space in Kansas City, Missouri for our 
corporate headquarters. This lease expires December 2006. Recently, we leaeed an 
additional 64.546 square feet of office apace in Kansas City to expand our 
corporate headquarters. Thin lease expires February 2008. In Emporia, Kansas. we 
own two buildings totaling 58,500 square feet for our customer care center and 
provisioning divisions. In addition, we lease an aggregate of 21,175 square feet 
to house our  four Circuit switches in Kansas City and St. Louis, Missouri and 
Wichita, Kansaa. These leases expire March 2003, November 2008, August 2005 and 
June 2008. We also lease apace in 27 buildings. totaling approximately 110.823 
square feet. in Missouri, Kansas, Texas and Oklahoma for our sales offices and 
customer premises equipment Sites. These leases are generally leased on a 
month-to-month or annual basis. 
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

From time to time. we may be involved in claims or litigation that arise in 
the normal couzse of business. We are not a party to any legal proceedings 
which. if decided adversely, would have a material adverse effect on our 
business or financial condition or results of operations. 

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MRTTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

None. 

PART I 1  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY ANE RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
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PlARlCBT INFORMATION 

There is no established public trading market for our common stock. However, 
on March 23, 2000, we filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the 
securities and Exchange Comission, contemplating our initial public offering in 
the second quarter of 2000. 

HOLDERS 

As of March 23, 2000, there were 81 holders of record of our c o m o n  stock. 

DIVIDENDS 

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock and do 
not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreaeeable future. We currently 
intend to retain all future earnings, if any, for use in the ?peration of our 
business and to fund future growth. The terms of our senior credit facility and 
senior notes indenture restrict our ability to declare and pay dividends on our 
comnon stock. 

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES 

During 1999 we issued the following securities which were not registered 
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

In February 1999, we acquired American Local, a competitive local exchange 
carrier based in the Dallas, Texas metropolitan area. The acquisition included 
substantially all assets of American Local. The total purchase price was 
approximately $1.6 million in cash and $211.000 in stock representing 70,334 
shares. This issuance was exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(21 of 
the Securities Act. 

During July 1999 we completed a private placement to approximately 55 of our 
existing investors in our series B preferred stock of 2,222,222 shares of 
series D preferred stock at a purchase price of $4.50 per ahare for aggregate 
net proceede of approximately $10 million. This issuance was exempt from 
registration pursuant to section 4(2) of the Securities Act. 

During August 1 9 9 9 ,  BTI Ventures, L.L.C., an affiliate of KKR, purchased 
13,333,334 shares of our aeries F preferred stock at a purchase price of $4.50 
per share for aggregate net proceeds of $60.0 million. On March 23, 2000. KKR 
exercised its options to purchase an additional 5,263.158 shares of series F 
preferred stock at $4.75 per share and 5,000,000 shares of series F preferred 
stock at $5.00 per share. In connection with the private placement of the 
series F preferred stock to 811 Ventures, L.L.C., which closed on August 5 .  
1999, and the related.exercise of the KKR options. Lehman Brothers 
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Inc. earned compensation which included 646,300 shares of our series D preferred 
stock. These issuances were exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of 
the Securities ACC. 

During August 1999. in connection with the series F preferred stock 
offering. we repurchased 2,222,222 shares of our series C preferred stock for 
$10 million from a board member. 

During August 1999. in connection with the series F preferred stock 
offering, we converted each outstanding share of series B preferred stock into 
one share of amended and restated series B preferred stock. The holders of 
series B preferred stock. approximately 10 accredited investors. surrendered 
their existing redemption and participating liquidation preference in exchange 
for 0.2222 shares of our series E preferred stock. These issuances were exempt 
from registration pursuant to Section 4121 of the Securlties Act. We redeemed 
the series E preferred stock for a total of $8.6 million. 
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In March 1999, Mr. Jalkut, a member of our board of directors, agreed to 
purchase 26,667 ahares of our comnon stock for $200,000. and Mr. Ejahat. a 
member of our board of directors. agreed to purchase 66,667 shares of our  common 
stock for 5500.000. 

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following table nets forth our selected consolidated financial and 
operating data for the periods indicated. Our statement of operations data and 
other financial data for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 and 
our balance sheet data aB of December 31, 1998 and 1999, as well as the 
statement of operations data, other financial data and balance sheet data for 
the predecessor company as of and for the year ended December 31, 1997. have 
been derived from, and is qualified by reference to, consolidated financial 
statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. 

ERITDA consists of earnings before interest, income taxes. depreciation and 
amortization. EBITDA is provided because it is a measure of financial 
performance comonly used in the telecommunications industry. EBITDA is used by 
management and some investors as an indicator of a company's historical ability 
to service debt. Management believes that an increase in EBITDA is an indicator 
of improved ability to service existing debt, to sustain potential future 
increases in debt and to satisfy capital requirements. We have presented EBITDA 
to enhance your understanding of our operating results. You should not construe 
it as an alternative to operating income, as an indicator of our operating 
performance nor as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a 
measure of liquidity determined in accordance with GAAP. We may calculate EBITDA 
differently from other companies. For further information. see our consolidated 
financial statements and the related notes elsewhere in this prospectus. 

The predecessor company is Valu-Line. which merged with us in 
February 1998. Prior to February 1998, Birch had no revcnuee and wan a 
developme& stage company. 

We acquired Boulevard, Telesource and TFSnet in 1998 and American Local and 
Capital in 1999. The statement of operations data, other financial data and 
operating data in the table include the operations of these companies beginning 
on the dates they were acquired. These acquisitions affect the comparability of 
the financial data for the perioda presented. 

For purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings 
are defined as loss before income taxes plus fixed charges. Fixed charges 
consist of interest expense and a reasonable approximation of the interest 
factor included in rental payments on operating leases. Earnings were 
insufficient to cover fixed charges f o r  the years ended December 31, 1997. 1998 
and 1999. See Exhibit 12.1 for the computation of the ratio of earnings to fixed 
charges. 

3 5  



LNM3 ~va 

.................. <h>.PP, *,tnbl .."P,DWz.3,. ,.,OA o,.I '(l., ,~l., 

.. .. 1IX)I. -2,azaxa e,-*@." 
1.9 C6' ~~,., .~71.611n, r.lld.3 p~ 1q.p un-bum 

.1".. 1.10, 10,., ,,,. 116.r 

1"11%& pn *,,*ad ,~~.~ ,~'.~ ~~~.~ .a.>t3n>aa -Id 
.>u*,.nr* "..> p" "..> 

IIL''L9I i660'11 GI 
OII'l, C,O'., -- .. 
111.'171 161'211 -- 
lLb'S*l T,I',T, .cs 
16T'DL D06'lt et1 
0r..cz T*L'LC .. .. .. .. 
l*o.I $ 5)i.s1 Di~ I lrl I ~11 )6 I 

.................................. 

.............. 

............................................... 

..................................... 

.......................................... 

................................... 
'"1- LnWB lJnnn 

I~SraU I(,, 
................................................ 

6661 ell, '661 '66, 9Ml 1661 
............................................................ 

mu11 s33sylmll911 
............................................................... 

'rc rnauaa 



February 1998 Merged with Valu-Line Companies, Inc., a provider of 
switched long distance, resold services and customer 
premises equipment Bales and service in Kansas. 

February/March 1998 
preferred 

portion of 

debt and 

March 1998 

May 1998 

metropolitan 

May 1998 

City, 

May 1998 
Wichita and 

June 1998 
senior 

September 1998 
in the 

February 1999 
based in 

March 1999 

Louis. 

May 1999-August 1999 

July 1999/August 1999 

additional 

December 1999/February 2000 
corporate 

and 

5125.0 

Raised $13.0 million from the isauance of series B 

stock and convertible notes used to pay the cash 

the consideration in the Valu-Line merger, to repay 

for general corporate purposes 

Launched St. Joseph, Missouri market. 

Acquired Boulevard Phone Company, a provider of shared 
tenant service in the Kansas City, Miesouri 

area. 

Acquired Telesource Communications, Inc.. a customez 
equipment sales and service provider in the Kansas 

Missouri metropolitan area. 

Launched St. Louis and Kanaas City, Missouri and 

Topeka, Kansas mrkete. 

Completed a $115.0 million private offering of 14% 

notes due June 2008 and 115,000 warrants to purchase 
1,409.734 shares of common stock. 

Acquired TPSnet, Inc., a provider of Internet aervice 

Kansas City. Missouri metropolitan area. 

Acquired American Local, a communications provider 

the Dallas. Texas metropolitan area. 

Acquired Capital Communications Corporation. a Customer 
equipment sales and service provider based in the St. 

Missouri metropolitan area. 

Launched 11 Texas markets 

Sold 560.0 million of series F preferred stock to an 
affiliate of KKR, granted options to purchase an 

550.0 million of series F preferred stock. sold 510.0 
million of series D preferred stock and redeemed 510.0 
million of series C preferred stock and $8.6 million of 
series E preferred stock. 

Obtained a $75.0 million debt facility for general 

purposes of our subsidiaries and to finance 
telecommunications equipment. inventory. network assets 

back office systems. The facility w a s  Increased to 

million during syndlcatlon in February 2000 
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March 2000 

March 2000 
for 

stock 

KKR exercieed ita options to purchase an additional 
$50.0 million series F preferred stock. 

Filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC 

an underwritten initial public offering of common 
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FACTORS AFFECTING OPERATIONS 

REVENUE. we generate most of our revenue from the sale of our voice and 
data products, including local and long distance telephone service, Internet 
access and customer premise8 equipment to small and mid-sized business customers 
in various markets in Missouri, Kansas and Texas. Revenue from local services 
consists of charges for basic local service and custom calling features. We 
offer local telephone service at a discount to the competing incumbent provider 
of telecommunications services and offer long distance service at flat 
per-minute rates. We offer customer premises equipment and related services at 
negotiated rates generally consistent with other competitors. We also offer data 
services in select markets primarily at flat monthly rates. We expect that over 
the near term theee services will continue to be the principal components of our 
revenue. 

Our revenue consists of monthly recurring charges and usage chargee. Monthly 
recurring charges include the fees paid by our customers for  lines in service. 
additional features on those lines and collocation apace. Usage charges consist 
of fees paid for each call made generally measured by the minute but also 
measured by the call. Additionally, revenue from customer premises equipment 
sales i m  recognized upon project completion. 

OPERATING EXPENSES. Our primary operating expenses are cost of Services and 
selling, general and administrative expenses, 

COST OF SERVICES. Our Cost of services includes the Cost of leasing 
unbundled network elements from the incumbent telephone company for combination 
into Birch-branded voice services and purchasing the complete "bundle" of 
traditional incumbent telephone company services for resale to our local service 
subscribera. We lease local telephone network components to provide service for 
our customers under an interconnection agreement with the incumbent telephone 
company in our  target markets. In markets where we have a local circuit switch, 
we can avoid leasing the switch and related features from the incumbent 
telephone company, which improves our gross margins. 

Incumbent telephone companies typically charge both a start-up fee as well 
as a monthly recurring fee for use of their central offices for collocation of 
transmission equipment. Physically collocating our transmission equipment in or 
near existing incumbent telephone company switching offices allows us to combine 
leased digital subscriber lines with our data transmission switches to provide 
high speed data services and. eventually. voice and data services over a single 
digital subscriber line. We also invest in transmission and distribution 
electronics equipment associated with our switches. All of these costs are 
reflected in our cost of services. 

Our primary long dlstance expenses are expenses associated with network 
access and our leased long distance network. We purchase long distance capacity 
from third party provlders f o r  all calls terminating outside of our network. 

O u r  primary expense associated with providing data services to our customers 
1s the Cost of leasing transmission facilities. Our primary expense associated 
with customer premiaes equipment is the cost of purchasmg equipment from 
manufacturers and labor for service and equipment installation. 

SELLING. GENERAL RND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. Our selling. general and 
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administrative expenses include selling and marketing costs and customer 
service, billing, corporate administration, personnel and network maintenance 
expenses. 

We employ a direct sales force in each of our target markets. To attract and 
retain a highly qualified sales force, we offer our sales personnel a 
compensation package that emphasizes commissions. We expect to incur significant 
selling and marketing costs as we expand our operations. 

We have implemented and continue to refine tailored systems for operations 
support systems and other back office systems that provision and track customer 
orders from point of sale to the installation 
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and testing of service. Along with the development costs of these systems, we 
also incur ongoing expenses for customer service and billing systems. As our 
strategy stresses the importance of personalized customer service, we expect 
that our customer service department will become a larger part of our ongoing 
administrative expenses. We also expect billing costs to increase as the number 
of our customers and the call volume increase. We incur other costs and 
expenses, including the costs associated with maintenance of our  network, 
administrative overhead, office leases and bad debt. We expect that these costs 
will grow significantly as we expand our operations and that administrative 
overhead will be a large portion of these expenses during the expansion phase of 
our business. However. we expect these expenses to become a smaller percentage 
of our revenue as we build our customer base. 

We have experienced operating losses since inception as a result of efforts 
to build our customer base, develop and construct network infrastructure, build 
internal staffing. develop systems and expand into new markets. We expect to 
continue to focus on increasing our customer base and geographic coverage. 
Accordingly, we expect that cost of services, selling. general and 
administrative expenses, and capital expenditures will continue to increase 
significantly, all of which may have a negative impact on operating results. The 
ojected increases in capital expenditures will continue to generate negative 

flows for at least the next several years as we drvelop and construct our 
e and data networks. We may also be forced to cha..ge our pricing policies to 

;spond to a changing competitive environment, and w” cannot assure you that we 
will be able to maintain our gross and operating margins. We cannot assure you 
that growth in our revenue or Customer base will continue or that we will be 
able to achieve or sustain profitability or positive cash flows. 

RESULTS Of OPERATIONS 

BIRCH TELECOM, INC 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 

REVENUE. Revenue increased 132.1% to $60.5 million for  1999 compared to 
526.1 million for 1998. The increase in revenue was principally a result of new 
customer sales in new and existing markets and the acquisitions of Capital in 
March 1999 and American Local in February 1999. AS a percentage of total 
revenue, communications services were 87.5% for 1999 and 0 3 . 5 %  for 1998, and 
equipment.sales were 12.5% for 1999 and 16.5% for 1998. 

COST Of SERVICES. Cost of services increased 145.5% to 546.4 million for 
1999 compared to 518.9 million for 1998. The increase in cost of services was 
primarily the result of associated revenue increases. Gross margins increased 
96.9% to $14.2 million 123.4% of revenue) for 1999 compared to $1.2 million 
(27.6% of revenue1 for 1998. The decline in gross margin as a percentage of 
revenue was principally the result of a greater percentage of revenue being 
derived from resold local service during 1999 compared to 1998. Additionally, 
long distance margins declined as a result of competitive pricing pressures. 

SELLING, GENERAL I\ND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. Selling. general and 
administrative expenses increased 236.4% to 553.0 million for 1999 compared to 
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515.8 million for 1998. The increase in expense was primarily a result of 
supporting and attracting customers in new and existing markets, market launches 
in Texas and the acquisitions of Capital and American Local each of which 
affected wages, rent and advertising expense. Additionally, we had 935 employees 
at December 31, 1999 compared to 345 employees at December 31, 1998. EBITDA, a 
commonly used measure by securities analysts of earnings before deducting 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. decreased 353.6t to a loss of 
538.9 million for 1999 compared to a loss of 58.6 million for 1998. 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION. Depreciation and amortization increased 
369.2% to $10.8 million for 1999 compared to $2.3 million for 1998. The increase 
in depreciation and amortization was 
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primarily attributable to the depreciation of network assets added in our 
markets and the amortizatic? of intangible assets related to acquisitions. 

INTEREST. Interest expense increased 82.2% to 515.0 million for 1999 
compared to $8.3 million for 1998. The increase in interest expense was 
primarily a result of a full year of interest charges on our  senior notes sold 
in June 1998. Interest income remained virtually unchanged at 52.9 million in 
1999 and 1998. Interest income is primarily derived from pledged securities 
purchased in connection with our senior notes. 

NET LOSS. Net loas increased 281.3a to 561.8 million for 1999 compared to 
$16.2 million for 1998. 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 CWPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

REVENUG. Revenue was $26.1 million for 1998, resulting from the 
acquisitions of Valu-Line. Boulevard. Telesource and TPSnet and new customer 
Salem from new markets. There was no revenue for 1997 because we were in the 
developmental stage. In addition-to revenue generated as a result of 
acquisitions in 1998, revenue was generated from the sale of local telephone 
services ti customers. 

COST 0' <.:!:VICES. Cost of services and gross margin totaled $18.9 million 
and 57.2 miiiion, respectively. for 1998 as a reeult of the associated revenue 
increases. 

SELLING. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. Selling, general and 
adminiatrative expenses increased 514.0 million to 515.8 million for 1998 
compared to 51.8 million for 1997. The increase in expense was primarily a 
result of the Valu-Line, Boulevard. Telesource and TFSnet acquisitions and 
opening five new markets in 1998. Additionally. we expanded our  engineering and 
operations staff in preparation for switch deployment. EBITDA decreaeed 382.4% 
to a loss of 58.6 million for 1998 compared to a loss of $1.8 million for 1997. 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION. Depreciation and amortization increased to 
$2.3 million for 1998 compared to $27,000 f o r  1997. most of which was 
attributable to the fixed and intangible assets acquired in the Valu-Line, 
Boulevard, Telesource and TFSnet acquisitions. 

INTEREST. Interest expense was $8.2 million for 1998 primarily from 
interest charges on the senior notes. There was no intereat expense in 1997. 
Interest income was 52.9 million in 1998 compared to $14.000 for 1997 primarily 
as a result of invested funds received from the senior notes. 

NET LOSS. Net loss was 516.2 million for 1998 compared to $1.8 million for 
1997. 

VALU-LINE COMPANIES. INC. (PREDECESSOR COMPANY) 

YERR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 1997 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 1996 

REVENUE. Revenue increased 27.1% to 516.8 million for 1997 compared to 
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$13.2 million for 1996. The increase was primarily a result of entering the 
local service market in March 1997 and long distance volumes increasing faster 
than the decline in long distance pricing. Customer premises equipment sales 
were 18% of revenue, or $3.0 million, for 1997 compared to 19.1% of revenue, or 
$2.5 million, for 1996. 

COST OF SERVICES. Cost of services increased 35.4% to $11.8 million for 
1997 Compared to $8.7 million for 1996. The increase was primarily a result of 
associated revenue increases. Gross margin increased 11.0% to $5.0 million, or 
29.5% of revenue. for 1997 compared to $4.5 million, or 33.81 of revenue, for 
1996. The decrease in gross margin as a percentage of revenue was primarily a 
result of low margins on resold local service. which started in March 1997. 
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SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTFSTIVE EXPENSES. Selling, general and 
administrative expenses increased 14.2% to $4.1 million for 1997 compared to 
$3.6 million for 1996. The increase in expense was primarily a result of sales 
commissions related to increased business volumes and increasrd customer service 
expenditurea associated with the commencement of local service. EBITDA decreased 
1.7% to $892.000 for 1997 compared to $907,000 for 1996. The decrease in EBITDA 
was primarily a reeult of the start-up costs associated with offering local 
service. 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION. Depreciation and amortization increased 9.6% 
to $341,000 for 1997 compared to $311,000 for 1996. 

INTEREST EXPENSE. Interest expenee was $97,000 for 1997 compared to 
$102,000 for 1996. 

INCOME TBXES. Income taxes decreased 9.3% to $186.000 for 1997 compared to 
$20S,OOO for 1996. 

NET INCOME. Net income was $268.000 for 1997 compared to $289,000 for 1996. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL Pr’OURCES 

Our total assets ir- sed to $147.0 million at December 31. lC99 from 
$134.1 million at Decc .r 31, 1998. This increase was primari.ly ,.he result of 
capital outlays for expansion of our local and data networks and development of 
Operations support systems and automated back office systems. partially offset 
by the use of cash to fund operations. At December 31. 1999, our current assets 
of $38.8 million exceeded current liabilities of $25.4 million, resulting in 
working capital of $13.4 million, representing a decrease of $36.3 million 
compared to working capital of $49.7 million at December 31, 1998. At 
December 31, 1998, our  current as8ecs of $61.1 million exceeded current 
liabilities of $11.4 million. The decrease in working capital was primarily 
attributable to the use of cash to fund operations and capital outlays for 
expansion of our network. support systems and back office systems. Pledged 
securities to satisfy interest payments on our senior notes amounted to 
$23.4 million at December 31. 1999 and $37.8 million at December 31, 1998. 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES. Net cash used in operating activities was 
$53.2 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 compared to 510.6 million for  
the year ended December 31. 1998. Net cash used in operating activities was 
primarily-used to fund our net losses of $61.8 million in 1999 and 
$16.2 million in 1998. 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES. Net cash used in investicg activities was 
$31.8 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 compared to $67.1 million for  
the year ended December 31, 1998. In 1 9 9 9 ,  net cash used in investing activities 
was primarily used for the purchase of property and equipment related to the 
expansion of our networks. support systems and back office systems of 
541.4 million and acquisitions of $4.8 million. partially offset by net proceeds 
from the sale of pledged securities of $16.1 million for the semi-annual 
interest payments on the senior notes. 11. 1998. net cash used in investing 
activities was primarily used for the pilrchase of pledged securities related to 
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our senior notee of $44.2 million, acquisitions of $7.8 million and purchases of 
property and equipment related to the expansion of the network, support systems 
and back office systema of $21.6 million. partially offset by net proceeds from 
the sal6 of pledged securities of 57.7 million. 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES. Net cash provided by financing activities was 
$50.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 compared to $117.3 million 
for the year ended December 31, 1998. In 1999. net cash provided by financing 
activities vas primarily a result of $70.0 million in proceeds from the sale of 
series D and series F preferred stock and borrowings of $10.0 million under our 
senior credit facility. partially offset by the redemption of series C and 
eerie8 E preferred stock of $18.6 million and the payment of financing costs 
related to the series D and series F preferred stock and on our senior credit 
facility of $ 8 . 8  million. 
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In 1998. net cash provided by financing activities was primarily a result of 
proceeds of $114.7 million from the private offering of our senior notes. These 
senior notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 14% per a m u m  and are due in 
June 2008. Subject to limitations. w e  may redeem a portion of these senior notes 
prior to their maturity date if we pay a designated premium. The indenture with 
respect to the eenior notes contain8 a number of restrictive financial and 
operational covenants with which we must comply. 

In February 2000, we increaaed the capacity of our $75.0 million senior 
credit facility to $125.0 million. This credit facility provides for a 
$25.0 million reducing revolver and $100.0 million in multi-draw term loans. The 
revolver is available for general corporate purposes of our aubsidiariee and the 
term loans are to be used to finance telecommunications equipment, inventory, 
network assets and back office systems. The senior credit facility is secured by 
a perfected first priority security interest in substantially all of our assets 
and capital stock of our subsidiaries and contains a number of financial and 
operational covenants with which we must comply. Among other things. the 
covenants require us to maintain specified levels of revenue, EBITDA, ratio 
levels and access lines and restri our ability to incur additional 
indebtedness, pay dividends. enteL o related party transactions or sell our 
assets. 

In March 2000, KKR exercised its options to purchase an additional 
SSO.0 million of our series F preferred stock. 

The development and expansion of our business will continue to require 
significant capital to fund capital expenditures. working capital and debt 
service and will generate negative operating cash flows. 

Our principal capital expenditure requirements will include: 

- the purchase. installation, and expansion of switches and transmission 
equipment for our local and data networks; and 

- the further development of operations support systems and automated back 
office systems. 

We do not-believe that the growth of our  long distance and customer premises 
equipment business will require significant capital expenditures. 

Our business plan calls for us to offer our services in an additional 20 
markets before the end of 2001. We expect to expand our operations in Texas and 
into Oklahoma in the second quarter of this year and to commence service in the 
regions served by Ameritech and BellSouth in 2001. We currently estimate that 
the cash required to fund these capital expenditures will be approximately 
$225.0 million over the next two years. We will need additional cash to fund our 
working capital needs, debt service requirements and operating losses. until we 
begin to generace positive cash flow from operations. these liquidity 
requirements will need to be financed with additional debt and equity capltal. 
In addition. depending on prevaillng Capital market conditione. we may choose to 
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repurchaae all or a portion of our senior notes. We believe that our current 
resources. including availability under our senior credit facility, together 
with the net proceeds from our proposed initial public offering, planned for the 
second quarter of 2000, will be Sufficient to satisfy our liquidity needs for at 
least the next 12 months. 

Thereafter, we will need subatantial additional capital to finance our 
businese plan. If our plans or assumptions change, if our assumptions prove to 
be inaccurate, or if we experience unexpected costs or competitive pricing 
pressurea. we will be required to seek additional capital sooner than we 
currently expect. In particular, if we elect to pursue acquisition opportunities 
or open additional markets. our cash needs may increase substantially. We cannot 
assure you that.our current projection of cash flow and losses from operations, 
which will depend upon numerous future factors and conditions, many of which are 
outside of our control, will be accurate. Actual results will almost certainly 
vary materially from our current projections. The cost of expanding our network 
services and sales efforts, funding 
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other strategic initiatives and operating our business will depend on a variety 
of factors, including, among other things: 

- the number of subscribers and the services for which they subscribe; 
- the nature and penetration of services that we may offer; 
- regulatory and legislative developments; and 
- the response of our competitors to their lose of customers to us and to 
changes in technology. 

We intend to seek additional debt M d  equity financing to fund our future 
liquidity needs. We cannot assure you that we will be able to raise additional 
capital on satisfactory terms or at all. If we decide to raise additional funds 
through the incurrence of debt, our interest 'igatione will increase and we 
may become subject to additional or more rest. I .ve financial covenant-. In 
addition, the terms of our senior credit facj! and our senior notes each 
restrict our ability to obtain additional deb. financing. If we decide to raise 
additional funds through the issuance of equity, the ownership interests 
represented by the common stock will be diluted. In the event that we are unable 
to obtain additional capital or to obtain it on acceptable terms or in 
sufficient amounts. we may be required to delay the development of our network 
and business plans or take other actions that could materially and adversely 
affect our business, operating results and financial condition. 

IMPACT OF THE YEAR 2000 ISSUE 

The Year 2000 issue results from computer programs being written using two 
digits rather than four to define the year. Any of our computer programs or 
systems. or those of our suppliers, that have date-aensitive software may 
recognize a date using " 0 0 "  as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. This 
could result in a system failure or miscalculation causing the disruption of 
operations. including among other things: 

- a temporary inability to process transactions; 
- a temporary inability to send invoices; 
- a temporary inability to engage in normal bueiness activities: and 

- interruptions of customer care 

We did not experlence any problems on January 1. 2000 and to date. w e  have 
not experienced. nor are w e  aware of, any materral Year 2000 ~ s s u e s  w ~ t h  any of 
our internal systems or our services. and we do not anticipate experiencing any 
issues in the future. further. w e  are unaware of any 16sues wlth our vendors. 
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suppliers or customers that will materially affect UB 

We believe that we have identified all major computers. software 
applicationa and related equipmcnt used in connection with our internal 
operations that will need to be modified. upgraded or replaced to minimize the 
possibility of a material disruption to our business. We have completed 
assessing the potential impact of Year 2000 issues on these computers. equipment 
and applications and have modified, upgraded and replaced major systems that we 
believe have Year 2000 issuee. 

In addition to computers and related information, operation, and network 
Bystems. the operation of office aystems. facilities and equipment, such as fax 
machines, security systems and other c o m n  office devices, may have Year 2000 
issues that have not yet surfaced. we will continue to monitor the performance 
of these office systems, equipment and facilities. 

We expect that we will be able to resolve any significant Year 2000 issues 
we have identified with third party suppliers of components of 
telecomunications services and our key subcontractors. However, because we have 
no control over the actions of these parties. they may not remediate any or all 
of the Year 2000 issues identified. Any failure of any of these third parties to 
timely resolve Year 
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2000 iseues with either their products Bold to us, or their systems could have a 
mterial adverse effect on our business. operating remits and financial 
condition. In addition, the delivery of our services also depend8 on the 
operation of the networks of many local exchange carriers and long distance 
carriers with whom we must interact as part of OUT n o m 1  business operations, 
hut with whom we do not have formal contractual arrangements. Coneequently. 
failure of these carriers' networks to fully operate as a result of Year 2000 
issues could also affect our operatione. To our knowledge, none of these 
networks experienced any problems on or since January 1, 2000. 

Our total comt to date to proactively address our Yea- '000 issues has not 
been material. The cost of addressing Year 2000 issues is rted as a general 
and administrative expense. 

We believe we identified and resolved all Year 2000 issues that could 
materially and adversely affect our business operations. However, for the 
reasons discussed above. we believe that it ie not possible to determine with 
complete certainty that all Year 2000 issues affecting us have been identified 
or corrected and we may not know that this is true for several months. As a 
result. we believe that the following consequences are possible: 

- operational inconveniences and inefficiencies for us that will divert our 
management's time and attention and our financial and human resources from 
ordinary business activities; 

business disputes and claims for pricing adjustments or penalties by our 
customers due to Year 2000 issues, which we believe will be resolved in 
the ordinary course of business; and 

- business disputes alleging that we failed to comply with the terms and 
conditions of Contracts or industry standards of performance that resulc 
in litigation or contract termination. 

We developed contingency plans to be implemented if our efforts to identify 
and correct Year 2000 issues affecting our internal systems were ineffective. W e  
have adopced the Year 2000 contingency plans as o u r  standard operational 
contingency plans. Our  Contingency plans are designed to minimize the 
disruptions or other adverse effects. Our plans include: 

accelerated replacement of affected equipment or software, 

short to medium-term use of backup equipment and software. 
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- increased work hours for our personnel; and 
- use of contract personnel to correct on an accelerated schedule any Year 

2 0 0 0  issues that arise or to provide manual workarounds for information 
systems. 

Our implementation of any of these contingency plans could require us to 
expend additional funds and could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, operating resulte and financial condition. Our efforts in this regard, 
if necessary, will be to minimize expense associated with the implementation and 
use of any contingency planning with our objective to employ the least costly 
plan necessary to addrese the relevant operational issues. 

IMPACT OF INFLATION 

We do not believe that inflation has had a aignificant impact on our 
consolidated operations. 

SEASONALITY 

Our business is not considered to be seasonal. 

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

In June 1998, the PASB issued SFAS NO. 133, "Accounting for Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities," which supersedes SFAS No. 80 ,  "Accounting 
for Futures Contracts." SPAS No. 105. 
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"Disclosure of Information About Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet 
Risk and Financial Instruments with Concentration of Credit Risk," and SFAS 
No. 119, "Disclosures about Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value of 
Financial Instruments.' and also amends some aspects of other SFAS's previously 
issued. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting etandards fr- 
derivative instruments and hedging activities. It requires that an e. . 
recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the bala sheet 
and measure those instruments at fair value. SFAS No. 133 is effecti LOT our 
consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 20ul. We do 
not expect the impact of SFAS No. 133 to be material in relation to our 
consolidated financial statements. 

ITEM 1A. QUANITTATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET R I S K  

We do not have operations subject to risks of foreign currency fluctuations, 
nor do we use derivative financial instruments in our operations or investment 
portfolio. Our earnings are affected by changes in interest rates as our 
long-term debt under our senior credit facility has variable interest rates 
based on either the prime rate or L I B O R .  Our exposure to variable interest rate 
risk during 1999 was insignificant due to our level of floating rate borrowings. 
However. if interest rates for our long-term debt under our senior credit 
facility had averaged 10% more and the full amount available under our senior 
credit facility had been outstanding for the entire year, our interest expense 
would have increased, and loss before taxes would have increased by 
$12.5 million for the year ended December 31. 1999. These amouncs are determined 
by considering the Impact of the hypothetical interest rates on our borrowing 
cost and outstanding debt balances. These analyses do not consider the effects 
of the reduced level of overall economic activity that could existing in this 
environment. Further. in the event of a change of this magnitude. management 
would likely take actions to further mitigate our exposure to the change. 
However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and 
their possible effects, the sensitivity analysis assumes no changes in our 
financial structure. We had $114.7 million of senior notes outstanding as of 
December 31, 1999. These notes bear Interest at a fixed rate of 14% and are n o t  
sublect to risk from interest rate fluctuations. 
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ITEM E .  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

For information required by Item E .  refer to the consolidated financial 
statements included in the Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule 
section filed as part of this document. 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCWSURE 

None 
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PART Ill 

ITEM IO. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGIST= 

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND OTHER KEY EMPWYEES 

The following table set8 forth information concerning oux directors, 
executive officers and other key personnel, including their ages as of 
March 23, 2000: 

wI*P 
...... 

Richard A .  JalkuL ...................... 
David E .  SCOLL ......................... 
maid U. 0 1 d n . n . .  .................... 
David M. 80lllng.rorrh . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Gregory C .  Larhon ...................... 
Bradley A. b l i n .  .................... 
Jeffrey D. SNck=l fo  .................. 
m v i d  M. Vr.nic.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Henry H. Bradley ....................... 
Adam Y .  C1-r.. ...................... 
"Ory oj*b.r ............................ 
Jam0 Y .  Grcene. Jr .................... 
mnry n. ~T.",.... ..................... 
Alexander Wavab, J r  .................... 
Thonus II. P a l m a r . . .  .................... 
Oeorge 1.  Iobe=C. ...................... 

AGK 

RICHARD A. JALKUT is our chairman of the board and has been a director since 
March 2000. since 1997, he has been president and chief executive officer of 
Pathnet, a privately held telecom company. From 1994 to 1997. Mr. Jalkut was the 
president. chief executive officer and chairman of the hoard of Nynex 
Telecommunications Group. From 1991 to 1994. he was the president, chief 
executive officer and chairman of the board of New York Telephone Company, and 
from 1990 to 1991. he was the executive vice president and chief operating 
officer. 

DAVID E. SCOTT, a co-founder and director. is also our president and chief 
executive-officer. Mr. Scott has 17 years of managerial experience in the 
relecommunications industry. Prior to joining us, Mr. Scott was president and 
general manager of Kansas City FiberNet. a competitive local exchange carrier 
owned jointly by the country's two largest cable operators. TCI and Time Warner. 
Prior t o  his tenure at Kansas City FiberNet, Mr. Scott was vice president of 
strategic development for Sprint. responsible for developing investment plans in 
the competitive local exchange. wireless (PCSI and international marketplaces. 
M I .  Scott a l so  served as director of strategic planning for Sprint from 1980 to 
1991. Mr. Scott also serves as a director of BirSpace, Inc.. an Internet 
publishing and E-commerce company he co-founded with Donald H. Goldman. 
Bizspace. Inc. produces web sites that serve as on-line trade publications. 
Their first wehsite. www.clec.com. Serves the competitive local exchange carrier 
industry. Mr. Scott holds a Bachelor of Science degree in electrical 
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engineering, S W  CUM LAUDE, from the University of Missouri and a Master of 
Business Administration degree from the University of Chicago. 

DONALD H. WLDMW joined us in March 1998 as senior vice president of 
Internet services and is currently our executive vice president and chief 
operating officer. Mr. Goldman has over 15 years of managerial experience in the 
telecommunications industry. Prior to joining us, Mr. Goldman served as 
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vice president, corporate development at Sprint where he developed strategy and 
managed the acquisition of companies in the areas of systems integration, 
Internet telephony, and wireless (PCSI services among others. While at Sprint, 
M I .  Goldman led the team that founded sprint PCS. Mr. Goldman also serves as 
chairman of the board of Bizspace, Inc. Mr. Goldman holds a Bachelor of Arts 
degree. with honors, from Johns Hopkins University and a Master of Business 
Administration degree from the University of Chicago. 

DAVID M .  HOLLINGSWORTH joined us in February 2000 as senior vice president 
of financial operations. Prior to joining us, from 1998 to February 2000, 
Mr. Hollingsworth was the vice president of finance and corporate development 
for GST Telecommunications. From 1997 to 1998, Mr. Hollingsworth was a 
telecommunications analyst at George K. Baum and Company. From 1993 through 
1996, Mr. Hollingsworth served aa director of finance and administration for 
Kansas City FiberNet. Before FiberNet, Mr. Hollingworth was a mergers and 
acquisitions manager for Sprint Corporation. M r .  Hollingsworth holds a Bachelor 
of Arts in Business Administration. CUH LAUDE. from Washington State University. 

GREWRY C. LAWON joined us in January 1997 as senior vice president of 
public policy and general counsel. Prior to joining us, Mr. Lawhon practiced law 
for twelve years with the 90-lawyer Kansas City firm of spencer Fane Britt 6 
Brownc. A partner in the firm aince 1990. he was head of the firm's 
comunications and media group and a member of its business group. Mr. Lawhon's 
areas of practice were mergers and acquisitions, with an emphaeis on 
communications industry acquisitions. cable television franchising, and 
commercial and regulatory issues with respect to the telecomnunications 
industry. Mr. Lawhon holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics. MAGNA CVM 
LAUDE, from Vanderbilt University, and a law degree lrom Columbia University. 
where he was a Harlan Fiske Stone Scholar. 

BRADLEY A. MOLINE joined us in July 1997 as senior Vice president of finance 
and chief financial officer. From 1994 to 1997, Mr. Moline was the treasurer and 
chief financial officer of Covenant Transport. Inc.. a transportation company in 
Chattanooga. Tennessee that became publicly traded during his tenure. Prior to 
joining Covenant Transport. Mr. Moline worked for Ernst & Young LLP in Kansas 
City, Missouri and Grant Thornton in Lincoln, Nebraska. providing customer 
services in the auditing and consulting areas. Mr. Moline holds a Bachelor of 
Administration degree in Buslness Administration, with distinction. from the 
University of Nebraska and is a certified public accountant. 

JEFFREY D. SHACKELFORD, a co-founder, is senior vice president of sales. 
M r .  Shackelford has 13 years of experience in the telecommunicatlons industry. 
Prior to joining us, Mr. Shackelford served as director of sales and marketing 
for Kansas City FiberNet. Prior to joining Kansas City FlberNet, 
Mr. Shackelford was the Branch Manager for Sprint's commercial sales office in 
Kanaaa City and was responsible fo r  sales and service of small to large business 
Customera. During his tenure at Sprint. which began in 1988, M r .  Shackelford 
also developed the long distance industry's first PC-based c a l l  management 
system, FOWIEW. Mr. Shackelford holds a Bachelor of Science degree ln Computer 
Science from the University of Kansas. 

DAVID W. V W I C A R  joined us in March 1997 and serves as senior vice 
president and chief information officer. Prior i o  joining us. Mr. Vranicar was 
vice president. international buslness development. at Sprint. Before joining 
Sprint in 1992. Mr. Vranicar was vice president. Asla/Pacific operations. at 
MPSI Systems Private Ltd.. based in Singapore. MPSI 1s a software and 
information s e r v i c e s  company that develops and markets decisions-support 
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software and databases to major retail companies. Mr. Vranicar was the company's 
senior executive in the Asia/Pacific division. directing a staff of 
approximately 80 engaged in software development. computer graphics, and 
custome? technical support. Mr. Vranicar holds a Bachelor of Business degree in 
Marketing, with bonora, from the University of Texas at Austin, and a Master of 
Business Adminierration degree. with distinction. from the University of 
Michigan at Ann Arbor. 
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HENRY H. BRADLEY has been a director since January 1997. He is the chairman 
of the board of News-Press 6 Gazette company, or NPG. one of our co-founders. 
NPG is a family-owned company that owns and operates a daily newspaper, cable 
television system. network affiliate broadcast television stations and FM and 
AM radio statione. Mr. Bradley has held a number of other positions with NPG 
since joining NPG in 1971, including terms as the editor and publisher of the 
St. Joseph News-Press. Mr. Pradley holds a Bachelor's degree from the University 
of Missouri. 

ADAM H. CLAMMER has been a director since August 1999. Prior to joining KKR 
in 1995, he was with Morgan Stanley L Co. in ita mergers and acquisitions 
department. At KKR, Mr. C l a m r  has been involved in investments in Intermedia 
Communications. Inc., CAIS Internet. Inc., Zhone Technologies, RELTEC and 
Borden. He is also a director of ABP Industries. Inc. and a number of private 
companies. 

MORY EJABAT has been a director Bince March 2000. Since September 1999, 
Mr. Ejabat has been the chairman and chief executive officer of Zhone 
Technologies, Inc. Prior to joining Zhone. Mr. Ejabat nerved an the president 
and chief executive officer of Ascend Communications, Inc. from June 1995 to 
June 1999. Before becoming the president and chief executive officer of Ascend 
in 1995, Mr. Ejabat had served as vice president. operations from 1990 to 1992 
and as executive vice president from 1992 to 1995. 

JAMES H. GREENE, JR. has been a director since August 1999 and is a member 
of the limited liability company which serves as the general partner of KKR and 
a general partner of KKR Associatea. He is also a director of Accuride 
Corporation, Owens-Illinois. InC.. Safeway Inc.. shoppers Drug Mart, Inc., 
Intermedia Communications. Inc., CAIS Internet, Inc., Tenovis, formerly a 
division of Bosch Telecom. and Zhone Technologies. 

HENRY R. KRAVIS has been a director since March 2000. He is a founding 
partner of KKR and since January 1996 a managing member of the executive 
committee of the limited liability company that serves a8 the general partner of 
Kohlberg Kravis Roberts 6 Co.. L.P. He is also a director of Accuride 
Corporation, Borden, Inc., The Boyd6 collection, Ltd.. Evenflo Company Inc., The 
Gillettc Company, IDEX Corporation, Kindercare Learning Centers, fnc., KSL 
Recreation Group, Inc., Owens-Illinois. Inc., PRIMEDIA Inc., Regal Cinemas, 
Inc.. Safeway, Inc., Sotheby's Holdings. Inc., Spalding Holdings Corporation. 
and TI Group plc. Messrs.  Kravis and Roberts are first cousins. 

ALEXANDER NAVAB. JR. has been a director since August 1999. He has been an 
executive of KKR and a limited partner of KKR Associates since 1993. Prom 1991 
to 1993, Mr. Navab was an associate at James D. Wolfensohn, Inc. He is also a 
director of Borden, Inc., KSL Recreation Group, Inc., Intermedia Communications, 
Inc., CAIS Internet. Inc., Tenovis, formerly a division of Bosch Telecom, and 
Zhone Technologies. 

THOMAS R. PALMER has been a director since April 1999. Since June 1997. 
Mr. Palmer has been a general partner at Kansas City Equity Partners, and 
focuses on investments in the telecommunications and information technology 
sector. He joined the firm in August 1995. Prior to joining Kansas City Equity 
Partners, he held posltions at Ameritech and Trans National Group. Mr. Palmer 
also serves on the boards of Net sales. V m o m  and several other private 
companies. M r .  Palmer is a graduate of Dartmouth College and the Kellogg School 
of Management at Northwestern University. 
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GEORGE R. ROBERTS hae been a director since March 2000. He is a founding 
partner of KKR and since January 1996 a managing member of:the executive 
conmittee of the limited liability company that serves as the general partner of 
Kohlberg Kravis Roberts C Co., L.P. He is also a director of Accuride 
Corporation, Borden, Inc.. The Boyds Collection, Ltd., Evenflo Company Inc.. 
IDEX Corporation, Kindercare Learning Center. Inc., KSL Recreation Group. Inc., 
Ovens-Illinois. Inc., PRIMEDIA Inc., Regal Cinemas, Inc., Safeway, Inc. and 
Spalding Holdings Corporation. Measrs. Kravis and Roberts are first cousins. 
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SECTION 16 (A) BENEFICIAL OWRSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE 

During the year ended December 31, 1999, we did not have equity securities 
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act and this item is. 
therefore, non-applicable. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 

Directors who arc also our  executive officers do not receive any additional 
compensation for serving as members of the board of directors or any of its 
comittees. Beginning in 2000, non-employee directors are expected to receive a 
cash stipend of $5.000 payable annually and reimbursement of expenses for 
serving on the board of directors and any comnittees of the board, as well as an 
annual option to purchase 5 . 0 0 0  shares of comon stock. Each non-employee 
director currently on the board will receive an option to purchase 
10,000 shares of c0-n stock upon completion of our initial public offering at 
the offering price. These Options will vest in equal annual installments Over 
the next four years. In addition, Meesrs. Ejabat and Jslkut each received on 
March 12, 2000 an additional option to purchase 30,000 shares of c o m n  scock at 
an exercise price of $7.50 per share. These options will vest in equal annual 
installments over the next two years. 

COMPENSATION OF EXECLVIVE OFFICERS 

The following table sets forth the cash and non-cash compensation paid or 
incurred on our behalf to our chief executive officer and each of the four other 
most highly compensated executive officers that earned more than $100,000 during 
1999: 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 

1 . 6 6 ,  

4 9  
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I11 Includes options to purchase eharcs of our common stock, which were issued 
under our 1998 employee stock option plan. Prior to the private placement of 
our series E preferred stock. we were a party to various stock option 
agreements with our employees, all of which were governed by our 1997 stock 
option plan. In connection with the 1998 private placement of series B 
preferred ntock. the 1997 stock option plan was replaced with the 1998 stock 
option plan, and all stock option agreements governed by the 1997 stock 
option plan were terminated. options issued to the members of management 
during 1998 were granted under our 1998 employee stock option plan and were 
exercisable immediately on grant at an exercise price of $0.001 per share. 
The shares issued under these options vest over a four-year period. at a 
rate of 6 . 2 5 1  per quarter. options issued during 1999 were also granted 
under our 1998 stock option plan and vest 251 at the first anniversary of 
the grant, then 6 . 2 5 1  per quarter thereafter. All stock options have been 
adjusted to reflect a stock dividend made on June 2 3 ,  1998. HOlderE of 
exercised options have voting power with respect to all shares of common 
stock underlying the options. Upon termination of employment, we have the 
right to repurchase all options which have not vested as of that date, 
subject to some exceptions. 

( 2 )  Reflects matching contributions made by us under our 4Ollkl plan. 

I31 Reflects compensation paid to Messrs. Scott and Lawhon comnencing in 
January 1997. 

I41 M r .  Goldman joined us in March 1998 as senior vice president of Internet 
services. In August 1999 MI. Goldman was named senior vice president of 
operations and chief operating officer. 

( 5 )  Reflects compensation paid to M r .  Vranicar commencing in March 1997 

I 6 1  MI. Sauder joined us after the Valu-Line acquisition and currently serves as  
vice president. Compensation listed W ~ B  paid by Valu-Line from January 1997 
to February 1998. 
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OPTIONS G m S  

The following table sets forth summary information regarding option grants 
made during 1999 to OUT chief executive officer and each of our four other 
highly paid executive officers. The exercise price per share is equal to the 
fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant as determined by our 
board of directors: 

VM 
. ~ ~. ~. . . ...... 

. . ........................ 

i l l  Options granted to purchase shares of our ~3mmon stock were made under our 
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1998 employee stock option plan. In the event that a purchaser ceases to 
provide service to us and our affiliates, we have the right to repurchase 
any of that person's unvested shares of c o m n  stock at the original option 
excrciee price. Generally. these options vest 25* on the first anniversary 
of the grant date and quarterly thereafter at a rate of 6.25k. 

I21 The percentage of total options was calculated based on options to purchase 
an aggregate of 1,794,800 shares of comon stock granted to employees under 
the 1998 stock option plan in 1999. 

01 The potential realizable value was calculated baaed on the ten-year term of 
the options and assumed rates of stock appreciation of 5% and 101, 
compounded annually from the date the options were granted to their 
expiration date based on the fair market value of the common stock on the 
date of grant. 
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1998 EMPWYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN 

Under our 1998 employee stock option plan, as amended, options to purchase 
shares of our  common stock in the form of both incentive stock options and 
nonqualified stock options were granted to our employees or employees of certain 
of our subsidiariee. A total of 7,720,845 shares of our common stock were 
reserved for issuance under this option plan. As of December 31, 1999, options 
to acquire 2,030,850 shares were issued and outstanding with a weighted average 
exercise price of $3.57 per share. These options generally vest 251 per year 
w e r  four years from the date of grant. Under a resolution of our board of 
directors. no new options may be granted under this option plan. 

401110 PLAN 

We have adopted a tax-qualified employee savings and retirement plan, or 
401ikl plan, covering all of our full-time employees. Under the 401ikl plan, 
employees may elect to reduce their current compensation up to the statutorily 
preecribed annual limit and have the amount of the reduction contributed to the 
401(kl plan. The IOllkl plan is intended to qualify under Section 401 of the 
Code so that contributions by employees to the 4Olikl plan and income earned on 
plan contributions are not taxable to employees until withdrawn from the 401Ikl 
plan. The trustees under the 4Olikl plan, at the direction of each participant. 
invest the participant's assets in the 401(kl plan in selected investment 
opt ions. 

1999 OPTION VALUES 

The following table shows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999. 
information regarding options granted to, exercised by, and held at year end by, 
our chief executive officer and each of our four other most highly paid 
executive officers during 1999: 
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(11 For purposes of this table alone. "exercise" means an employee's acquisition 
of shares of common stock which have already vested, "exercisable" means 
options to purchase shares of comon stock which are subject to exercise and 
"unexercisable" means all other options to purchase shares of common stock. 

( 2 )  Amounts shown under the "Value Realized" and "Value of Unexercised 
In-the-Money Options" are based upon the estimated December 31, 1999 
estimated fair market value of our common stock of $ 7 . 5 0  per share minus the 
per share exercise price multiplied by the number of shares underlying the 
option. 

( 3 )  Includes options to purchase shares of common stock. which were issued under 
the 1998 employee stock option plan. Options issued during 1998 under the 
1998 employee stock option plan were granted at an exercise price of $0.001 
per share. Options issued during 1999 under the 1998 stock 
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option plan were granted at an exercise price of $ 4 . 5 0  per share. All 
options vest 2 5 %  on the first anniversary of the grant date and quarterly 
thereafter at a rate of 6 .251 .  

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS 

Each of Messrs. Scott, Goldman, Lawhon. Moline, Shackelford and Vranicar 
entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with us in October 
1999. In addition, Mr. Sauder entered into an employment agreement with us in 
February 1998. and Mr. Hollingsworth entered into an employment agreement with 
us in February 2000. 

The base salary under each of these agreements is $200,000 per year, except 
that M r .  Scott's base salary is 5250.000 per year, M r .  Galdman's is $ 2 2 5 , 0 0 0  per 
year and Mr. Sauder's is $213,000 per year. Each of the executives ia eligible 
for a bonus based on achievement of performance criteria established by the 
board for that executive. 

Each of the employment agreements provides that upon termination of 
employment by us, other than for cause, disability or death, or termination of 
the employment by the executive for good reason, we will pay the executive the 
following severance. We will pay the executive's salary for the remainder, if 
any, of the calendar month in which the termination is effective and, in the 
case of each of M e s s r s .  Scott, Vranicar, Shackelford and Goldman. 21 calendar 
months thereafter and. in the case of each of Messrs. Lawhon, Sauder, 
Hollingsworth and Moline. 12 calendar months thereafter. In addition, we will 
pay each executive his prorated targeted incentive compensation for the year 
during which the termination is effective plus. in the case of each of 
Messrs. Scott. Vranicar, Shackelford and Goldman, two times the execurive's 
targeted incentive compensation for that year, and, in the case of each of 
Messrs. Lawhon. Hollingsworth and Moline. the full amount of the executive's 
targeted incentive compensation for that year. Upon termination of employmenc 
for disabilicy. we will pay the employee's salary through the remainder of the 
calendar month during which the termination is effective and fo r  the lesser of 
(1) six calendar months thereafter or ( 2 1  the period until disability insurance 
benefits commence. Upon termination of employment from Eeath, we will pay the 
employee's salary through the end of the calendar month in which his death 
occurs. Each agreement provides for noncompetition, nonsolicitation and 
nondisclosure covenants. 

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION 

None of the members of the compensation committee of the board of directors 
1s currencly or has been, at any rime since our formation. our officer or 
employee. 

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
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The following is a report of the Compensation Committee of our Board of 
Directors lComittec1, describing the compensation policies applicable to our 
executive officere during the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999. 

GENERAL POLICIES 

The Cornittee is responsible for assisting the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
in devising general compeneation policies and compensation plans. as well as the 
specific compensation levels for  individual executive officers. The Committee 
also administers the stock option, employee stock purchase and.4Ollk) plans and 
determines the terns and conditions of grant8 thereunder. The Committee consists 
of Messrs. Bradley, Greene, Navab and Mr. Scott, Birch's CEO. Prior to his 
departure from the board in August 1999, Ian Bund vas a member of the Committee. 
Mr. Scott does not participate in Committee deliberations or decisions involving 
his own compensation. 
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The goals of the Cornittee are to: 

- align compensation with business objectives and performance: 
- adopt policies that enable us to attract, retain and reward executive 
officers and other key employees who contribute to Birch's long-term 
success; and 

- motivate executivee and employees as w e  meek to enhance long-term 
stockholder value.. 

In order to meet theae goals, the Committee has adopted the following 
policies: 

- Offer pay that is competitive with the practices of the leading 
telecomunications companiee with which compete for talent. To eneure that 
pay ie competitive, the Committee regularly compares its pay practices 
+th these companies and sets it pay parameters based on this review. 

h intain annual incentive opportunities sufficient to provide motivation 
to achieve specific operating goals and to generate rewards that bring 
total compensation to competitive levels. 

- Provide significant equity-based incentives for executives and other key 
employees to ensure that they are motivated over the long-term. The 
committee wants Birch's executives and employees to respond to business 
challenges and opportunities as ovnera and not just as employees. 

The compensation mix offered to employees reflects a balance of annual cash 
payments. consisting of base salary and incentive bonus payments and long-term 
stock-based incentives in the form of stock options. 

BASE SAURIES 

The salary component of executive compensation is based on the executive's 
level of responsibility for meeting targeted objectives and their overall 
performance. Base salaries for executives are reviewed and adjusted at least 
annually based on information regarding competitive salaries, the results of 
industry compensation surveys. individual experience and performance. 

CASH BONUSES 

Our incentive program for executive officers provides direct financial 
incentives zn the form of cash bonuses based on previous year performance 

STOCK OPTIONS 

The Committee's long-term incentive program is centered around the granting 
of stock options under the 1998 Stock Option Plan. These stock options. which 



BIRCH TELECOM INC/MO - IO-KIOS - A n n u l  Reporr Dare Filed: 3/30/2000 

typically have vesting periods of four yearn. encourage key employees to 
continue their aervice with Birch and motivate their performance. Executive 
officers receive significant equity incentives to build long-term stockholder 
value. Grants are made at 1001 of fair market value on the date of grant. 
Employees receive value from theae grants only if Birch's common stock 
appreciates over the long-term. The sire of option grants is determined baaed on 
competitive practicea at leading companies in the telecommunications industry 
and our philosophy of linking executive compensation with stockholder interests. 
The Committee believes this approach creates an appropriate focus on longer term 
objectives and promotes executive retention. 

COMPENSATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Mr. Scott has served as Birch's President and CEO since inception. In 
February 1998, Mr. Scott entered into an employment agreement, the terms of 
which are described in m r e  detail in '"Employment Agreements." 
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During fiscal 1999, Mr. Scott received aggregate salary of $203,846, which 
reflects the August 1999 increase in M r .  Scott's base salary from $175,000 to 
$250,000. In addition, Mr. Scott was granted options to purchase an aggregate of 
200,000 shares of our common stock in 1999. This compensation reflects the 
August 1999 increase in Mr. Scott's base salary from $175,000 to $250.000. 
Mr. Scott did not receive a cash bonus in 1999. In reviewing the compensation 
paid to Mr. Scott in 1999. the Committee considered a number of factors, 
including competitive market compensation packages. Mr. Scott's past performance 
and the responsibilities he has assumed as CEO. 0ased on its internal review and 
informal information reviewed by the C m i t t e e ,  the Committee believes that the 
base salary level for Mr. Scott is commeneurate with salaries paid to chief 
executive officers of comparable companies in similar industries. 

Overall, the Committee believes that M r .  Scott is being appropriately 
compensated in a manner that is conaistcnt with the long-term interests of 
stockholders. 

CONCLUSION 

A significat. portion of the Committee's compensation program, including 
Mr. Scott's compensation. are contingent On individual performance. and the 
realization of benefits is closely linked to increases in long-term stockholder 
value. The Committee remains committed to this philosophy of pay for 
performance, recognizing that the competitive market for talented executives and 
the volatility of the Company's business may result in highly variable 
Compensation for a particular time period. 

The members of the Committee submit the foregoing report 

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE: 

Henry H. Bradley 
James H. Greene. Jr. 
Alexander Navab. Jr. 
David E. Scott 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 

The following cable provides summary information regarding the beneficial 
ownership of our outstanding capital stock a8 of March 23, 2000 for: 

- each pereon or group who beneficially own8 more than 5 %  of our capital 
scock on a fully diluted basis; 

- each of the executive officers and the former executive officer named in 
the Summary Compensation Table; 

- each of our directors: and 
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all of our directore and executive officers as a group. 

Beneficial ownership of shares is determined under the rules of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes any shares over which 
a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. Except as 
indicated by footnote, and subject to applicable community property laws, each 
person identified in the table possesees sole voting and investment power with 
respect to all shares of common stock held by them. Shares of common stock 
subject to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of 
March 23, 2000 and not subject to repurchase as of that date are deemed 
outstanding for calculating the percentage of outstanding shares of the person 
holding these options, hut are not deemed outstanding f o r  calculating the 
percentage of any other person. Unless otherwise 

5 5  

noted, the address for each director and executive officer is c/o Birch 
Telecom, Inc., 2020 Baltimore Avenue. Kansas City, Missouri 64108. 

... 

NIl lE AND PDDRESS OF 
BMEPICIAL OWNERIAI 

M E R  OP S W E S  
BMEPICIALLY OWED 

C U W N  
S X C K  181 ......... 

DIRECmRS W EXENTIVE OPPICWS: 
Richard &. J.lk.LIS1 . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2 6 , 6 6 7  
David E. S 6 0 L t  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1 . 1 9 0 . 7 6 8  
DOnald H. Goldmn . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2 6 3 , 7 5 0  
Gregory C. Ld*hon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  380.137 
Bradley A. Uolineldl . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2 9 7 . 9 3 2  
Jeffrey D. S ~ E k ~ l f O r d  . . . . . . . . . . .  7 9 4 . 1 6 2  
David u. vranlcar . . . . . . . .  
Henry H. Bradleylel . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Man H. Cla-rIfl I l l  .. 
nary E,abaL IC )  6.667 
Jam. H. Greene. J I .  If1 (11 . . . .  .. 
Henry R. Krav1SlfL 111 . . . . . . . . . . .  .. 
Alexander Navab. Jr.If1 Ill.. .~ 
Tho-. R. Palmerlgl I m I  .. 
George R. Robert.lf1 I l l  . . . . . . . . . .  .. 
Stephen L. SLUde=lhl . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .. 
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White Pines Limited 

earcnerehlp I I n l  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .. 
LBI croup, 1°C. I O /  . . . . . . . . . . . .  .. 

N M E  AND ADDRESS OF 
BENEFICIAL OWNERIAI 

................................... 
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DIRECMRS AND EXECUTIVE OPFICERS: 
Richard A. Jalkatlci 
David E. Scott . . .  
DOnald H. Mldman 
Gregory c. Lawhon 
Bradley A. Molineidl . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Jeffrey D. Shacke 
Vavid Y .  V=.niC~T ................. 
Henry H. Bradleyiei . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Adam H. Cla-rifi (1) . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Mry E]abdcic) 
Jams H. Greene, Jr. If) 11) . . . .  
Henry R. Kravls(fI(l1 ............ 
Alexander Navab, Jr. i f  i 1 1 1 . .  . 
Thomas R. Palmerigi I m i  . . . .  
Morge R. Robertsifiil) . . .  
Stephen L. Sauderihi . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
All directors and executive 

officers an a group 116 
pereon~i ....................... 

5 9  OWNERS: 
News-Press 6 Gazette Companylil.. 
Advantage Capital Missouri 

Partners I, L.P.lj) 
Advantage Capital Mis 

Partners 11. L.P. l j  
Pacific Capital. L.P. 
a n  ventures L.L.C. i f )  11). 
Kansas city Equity Partners I. 

L.P. lg) (mi  
Kansas City Equity Partntr~ 

Venturea 11. L.P. 191 l m l  
Yhite Pines Limited 

Partnership 11") . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
LBI Group. In=. lo). . . . .  

N M E  AND ADDRESS OF 
BREFICIAL OWNERlAi 
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PERCmAGE OF T O T U  VOTING POWER OF 
FULLY D I L m W  COIMON STOCK 

DIRECTORS UID EXECVTIVE OFFICERS: 
Richard A .  Jalkac . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . .  . . . . . . . .  
David E. Scott  . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Donald H. Mldman . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Gregory c. Lawhon . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Bradley A. Uollneldi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Jeffrey D. Shackelfo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
David Y .  Yranicar . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
~ e n r y  H. ar.dleyiel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
 dam n. ciamerit) 111 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

nenry R .  ~ r a v ~ s  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

ThQwa. R .  ealmrlgl 1mi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
George R .  Robert. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

perllonsi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Hory E3abaL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
James H. Grcene. Jr.It) 11) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Alexander Wavab. Jr-ltl 11) . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Stephen L. Sauderihi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
All directors and executive otflcers as a group ( 1 6  

5 %  OWNERS. 

Advantage Cap~La: Ulssourl Partners  I .  L e . l ] i .  . . . . . . . .  
neus-~ress L ~ a z e i t e  companyjl:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Advantage Cap'Lal M i S S O Y * 1  Partners 1 1 .  L P.1,) . . . . .  
P a c l t x c  capital. L.P.i*) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
011 Ventures L.L.C , f i  l l i  . . . . .  . . . .  . . . . . .  
Kansas clzy EqUliY PdrLnerS :, L F. !KCEP, !gl !rnJ . . 
Kansas CLtY EqulCY Partners vencurea T I .  L P 

.\ 
3.0 

2 . 0  

8 . 5  
5 1 . 2  

5 1 . 2  
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5 2 . 2  

3 . 5  
5 1 . 2  

9 . 1  
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IXCEPI 191 lnll . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Yhire Pines L i m i t e d  Partnership . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Lax QIDYP. m c .  101 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

1 . 2  
2 . 2  
1 . 3  

.......................... 

* Lese than one percent 

(a) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the SEC's rulce and 
includes voting and investment power with respect to the shares. 

lbl Includes options to purchase shares of the common stock, which were issued 
pursuant to our 1998 Stock Option Plan. Certain options are exercisable 
immediately on grant at an exercise price of S.001 per share, and ve8t over 
a four-year period, at a rate of 6.25% per quarter. All other Options are 
exercisable at a price of $4.50 per share subject to a four-year vesting 
period, at a rate of 6.251 per quarter. Holdera of exercised options have 
voting power with respecc to all shares of common stock underlying the 
options. Upon termination of employment with US, we have the right to 
purchase all options which have not vested an of that date, eubject to 
certain exceptions. 

I C )  In March 1999, Mr. Jalkat, chairman of our board of directors, agreed to 
purchase 26,667 sharea of our  common etock for $200,000 and M r .  Ejabat, a 
member of our board of directors. agreed to purchase 66.661 shares of our 
conmon mcock for 5500.000. 

(dl Includes 19,275 shares of Series B Preferred Stock held by M r .  Moline's 
immediate family Subject to options exercisable within 60 daya of 
February 29. 2000 

le) Includes 1.648.138 shares of Series 0 Preferred Stock, 1,582,500 shares of 
Series C Preferred Stock and 222,222 shares of Series D Preferred Stock held 
by News-Press c Gazette Company. 
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M r .  Bradley and his brother hold voting power .. News-Press L Gazette 
Company. Also includes 329,690 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 
111,111 shares of Seriee D Preferred Stock held by various trusts and 
relatives of the Bradley family. 

(f) All of the shares indicated are owned of record by BTI Ventures L.L.C. and 
are included becauee of Messrs. Clammer's. Greene's. Kravis', Navab's and 
Roberta' affiliation with BTI Ventures L.L.C. These individuals disclaim 
beneficial ownership of the shares within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under 
the Exchange Act. 

(9) Includes 945.108 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and 111,111 shares of 
Series D Preferred Stock held by Kansas City Equity Partners Ventures I and 
555.556 aharea of Series D Preferred Stock held by Kansas City Equity 
Partners Ventures XI. Mr. Palmer hclds voting power of Kansas City Equicy 
Partners Ventures. 

lhl Includes 65,931 shares of series B Preferred stock held by Mr. Sauder'a 
father. 1,544,787 shares o t  Series C Preferred Stock held in trust by his 
wife and 1,000,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock held In txusc by s.L 
Sauder LTP. L.L.P. 

lil The principal business address of New-Pxess 6 Gazette Company is 8 2 5  Edmond 
Street. St. Joseph. MO 64501. 

( 3 1  The principal business address of Advantage Capital Missouri Partners L.P. 
is 1133 Forsyth Boulevard, Suite 1850 St. Louis. MO 63105. 
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(k) The principal business address of Pacific Capital, L.P. is 2401 Plymouth 
Road, Suite E, Ann Arbor, MI 48105. 

(1) The principal business address of BTI Ventures L.L.C. ie 9 W .  57(th) Street. 
Suite 4200, New York. W 10019. 

lm) The principal business address of Kansas City Equity Partners is 233 West 
471th) Street, Kansas City, MO 64112. 

In) The principal business address of white Pines Limited Partnership I is 2401 
Plymouth Road, Suite 8. Ann Arbor. MI 48105. 

(0) The principal business address of LEI Group. Inc. is 3 World Financial 
Center, 200 Vesey Street. New York, NY 10285. 
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELRTED TRANSACTIONS 

SERIES D PREFERRED STOCK OFFERING 

In July 1999. we completed a private placement of 2,222,222 shares of 
aeries D preferred stock at a purchase price of $4.50 per share for aggregate 
proceeds of approximately $10.0 million. The transaction was consummated 
pursuant to the purchasers rights agreement described below and the series D 
preferred stock purchase agreement. Under the series D preferred stock purchase 
agreement, NPG, a etockholder that owned in excess of 5t of our voting 
securities at the timc of the series D preferred stock offering. purchased 
$1.0 million of series D preferred Btock. and parties affiliated with NPG, 
including Henry H. Bradley, chairwan of our board of directors at that time and 
of NPG, purchased $500.000 of series D preferred stock. Advantage Capital 
Missouri Partners I. L.P., a stockholder that owned in excess of 5t of our 
voting Securities at the time of the series D preferred stock offering, 
purchased $655,000 of the 8eries.D preferred stock. In addition, Ian R. N. Bund, 
one of our directors at the time of the series D preferred stock offering, 
purchased $82.000 of the series D preferred stock. Affiliates KCEP I and 
KCEP 11 also purchased $3.0 million of our serice D preferred 
Mr. Palmer, one of our directors at the time of the series D rL.,:i !rred stock 
offering. holds voting power of KCEP I and KCEP 11. 

SERIES F PREFERRED STOCK OFFERING 

k. 

In August 1999. we issued and sold 13,333,334 shares of our series F 
preferred stock at a purchase price of $4.50 per share to BTI Ventures, L.L.C.. 
an affiliate of KKR. for aggregate proceeds of $60.0 million. KKR received three 
seats on our then seven-seat board of directors. Additionally, on March 23, 
2000, KKR exercised ice options to purchase 5,263.158 shares of series F 
preferred stock at $4.75 per share and 5,000,000 shares of series F preferred 
stock at $5.00 per share. Giving effect to this exercise K K R ’ 8  investment would 
have represented a 51.2% equity interest as of March 23. 2000. In connection 
with their exercise of these options, KKR received two additional seats on o u r  
eleven-seat board of directors. 

In connection with the series F preferred stock offering, w e  repurchased 
2.222.222.shares of our series C preferred stock from Stephen L. Sauder, a 
stockholder who owned more than 5E of our voting securities at the time of the 
series F preferred stock offering. for $10.0 million. 

Also. in connection with the series F preferred stock offering. we converted 
each outstanding share of our series B preferred stock into one share of amended 
and restated series B preferred stock. In addition. the holders of series B 
preferred stock surrendered their existing redemption and participating 
liquidation preference in exchange for 0.2222 shares of our series E preferred 
stock. We redeemed the series E preferred stock iseued to the series B preferred 
stock holders for a total of $8.6 million. The rights and preferences of the 
series B preferred stock were amended and restated to remove mandatory 
redemption rights and change the liquidation rlghte. 
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In connection with the series F preferred stock offering, NPG. a stockholder 
that owned in excess of 5b of our voting securities at the time of the series F 
preferred stock offering. received 366.320 shares of series E preferred stock, 
which were redeemed for an aggregate total of $1.6 million, and parties 
affiliated with NPG, including Henry H. Bradley. chairman of our board of 
directora and of NPG, received 73,264 shares of series E preferred stock. which 
were redeemed for an aggregate total of $329,690. Advantage Capital Missouri 
Partners I, L.P., a stockholder which owned in excess of 5 1  of our voting 
securities at the time of the seriea F preferred stock offering, received 
293,056 shares of the of the series E preferred stock. which were redeemed for 
an aggregate total of $1.3 million. Bradley A. Moline, our senior vice president 
of finance and chief financial officer, received 15,385 shares of series E 
preferred stock. which Were redeemed for an aggregate total of $69.234. Pacific 
Capital, L.P., a stockholder which owned in excess of 5 %  of our voting 
aecuritiea at the time of the series F preferred stock offering, received 
271.095 shares of the of the series E preferred stock. which were redeemed for 
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an aggregate total of $1.2 million. Steven L. Sauder, our vice president. 
together with his father. Earl W. Sauder, received an aggregate of 19,008 shares 
of series E preferred stock, which were redeemed for an aggregate total of 
$85,718. KCEP I and KCEP I1 together received an aggregate of 210,022 shares of 
series E preferred stock, which were redeemed for an aggregate total of 
$945,099. 

PURCHASERS RIGHTS AGREEMENT 

Our current Stockholders are partiee to the purchasers righta agreement, 
which provides that they vote their respective shares in a manner as to elect 
persons mpecified in the agreement to nerve as directors. The holders of 
series F preferred etock have agreed to vote their shares to elect 
Messrs. Greene. Navab and Clammcr. The two additional designees of the holdere 
of series F preferred stock are Messrs. Kravis and Roberts. In addition, the 
holders of series B preferred stock, seriee C preferred stock and series P 
preferred stock have agreed to vote their shares to elect Henry H. Bradle, ' 

Thomas R. Palmer. The holders of common stock have agreed to vote their 8 

for the election of David E. Scott. So long as the purchasers rights agre 
is in effect, these investors will effectively control the election of our hoard 
of directors. 

REGISTRATION RIGHTS 

The parties to the purchasers rights agreement, subject to some conditions. 
have registration rights with respect to shares of common stock, including 
shares of common stock issuable upon conversion or redemption of shares of 
series F preferred stock or upon conversion of shares of series B preferred 
stock, series C preferred stock, or series D preferred stock. These purchasers 
have. subject to some conditions, demand and "piggy-beck'' registration rights. 
The purchasers rights agreement provides that each purchaser of stock is subject 
to lock-up restrictions in the event of a public offering of our securities. 

RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER 

Our outstanding common stock (including Shares issued pursuant to opciona) 
and each series of preferred stock are subject to restrictions on transfer. 
Holders of common stock and each series of preferred stock that are parties to 
the purchasers rights agreement, subject to some exzeptions. may not transfer 
their shares without first giving us the opportunity to purchase the shares. In 
addition, subject to somt exceptions, the holders of common stock or any series 
of preferred Brock that are parties to the purchasers rights agreement may not 
transfer their shares without first giving the other purchasers under the 
purchasers rights agreement the opportunity t o  parciclpate in the transfer. 

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS 
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Holders of our c o w n  stock and each series of preferred stock that are 
parties to the purchasers rights agreement have the right to purchase a pro rata 
portion of any common stock or preferred stock that we propose to sell and 
issue, Cubject to some cxceptione. 

SIZE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The purchascra rights agreement provides that so long as at least 6,666,667 
shares of series F preferred stock remain outstanding, the holders of series F 
preferred stock are entitled to elect and remove directors in accordance with 
our restated certificate. In the event that lese than 6,666.667 shares of 
series F preferred stock remain outstanding. but BTI Ventures L.L.C. and its 
affiliates, which include KKR, beneficially own at least 10% of our outstanding 
common stock, ET1 has the right to designate the number of persona to serve as 
members of the board determined in accordance with a formula set forth in the 
purchasers rights agreement. Currently there arc five ET1 nominees sitting on 
our eleven seat board of directors, 

5 9  

For so long as at least 8 , 5 3 2 , 3 9 4  shares of series B preferred stock. 
series C preferred stock and series D preferred stock remain outstanding, the 
holders of this stock. voting together as a clasa. are entitled to elect and 
remove directors pursuant to our restated certificate. 

ET1 DRAG-ALONG RIGHTS 

Holders of common stock and each aeries of preferred stock that are parties 
to the purchasers rights agreement are required to eel1 their ehares in the 
event that BTI Ventures L.L.C. or its affiliatee agree to sell or transfer their 
shares. or to sell all or substantially all of our assets, to a third party. 

ET1 VETO R I G I C E  

The purchasers rights agreement provides that for so long as ET1 or any of 
its affiliates beneficially owns at least 6,666,667 shares of our common stock 
or series F preferred stock. the approval of at least one BTI nominee on our 
board will be required for our board of directors to approve and authorize any 
of the following: any changes in our capital structure, such as increases or 
decreases in the total authorized shares of our common stock and iesuances of 
our capital stock; any payment of dividends or distributions on our capital 
stock; subject to limited exceptions. any reclassification. combination, split, 
redemption or other acquisition of any shares of our capital stock; any 
incurrence of indebtedness exceeding $5.0 million; any change in the size or 
composition of our board or any board Cornittee or creation of any board 
committee; subject to limited exceptions, any affiliate transaction; any hiring 
or termination of a chief executive officer or other key officer; any adoption 
or modification of our annual budget and business plan; any amendment or 
modification of any material provision of our senior note8 indenture. senior 
credit facility or any other material contract; any adoption, renewal or 
material modification of any material compensation or benefit plan or 
arrangement; any authorization of entering into a new line of business or the 
expansion outside of Missouri, Kansas and Texas: any consolidation, 
reorganization, recapitalization, merger or similar transaction; any transfer of 
o u r  asset*, including by pledge, in excess of $5.0 million; subject to limited 
exceptions, any acquisition of assets or securities for more than $5.0 million; 
any amendment to our certificate of incorporation or bylaws: any voting ox 
similar arrangement regarding our capital stock; any payment. disCLarge or 
satisfaction of any material claim or liability or the commencement of a 
material suit: any loint venture involving material assets or the payment or 
receipt of more than $5.0 million; any material license. contract or agreement; 
or any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company. 

OTHER TWSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES 

VALU-LINE LOANS 
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As of December 31, 1997. Valu-Line of Kansas. Inc.. which merged into us on 
February 10, 1998, had notes payable of $240.000 in the aggregate from Stephen 
L. Sauder and Mr. Sauder's father. Mr. Sauder was the president and principal 
etockholder of Valu-Line at the time the loan was made and currently owns more 
than 5% of our voting securities. The loans were due on demand. As of 
December 31, 1998, the amounts outstanding under these loans were fully repaid. 

DEALINGS WITH VALU-BROADCASTING, INC. 

In 1999. 1998, and 1997 we. and our predecessor, Valu-Line, provided 
services principally related to rent and operating costs to 
Valu-Broadcasting. InC.. an affiliate of Valu-Line, which is owned by Stephen L. 
Sauder, one of our stockholders who owned more than 5% of our voting securities 
at the time of the transactions. in the amounts of $29.187, $30.000 and Sel.000, 
respectively. Valu-Line also received services principally related to 
advertising from Valu-Broadcasting in the amounts of $30,360, $40.000 and 
541,000 in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. 
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SHARES ISSUANCES TO DIRECTORS 

In March 2000, Mr. Jalkut. chairman of OUT board of directora, agreed to 
purchase 26,667 shares of our COrnnon stock for $200.000, and Mr. Ejabat, a 
member of our b a r d  of directors, agreed to purchase 66,667 shares of our co-n 
stock for $500,000. 

PART IV 

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 

la1 Documents filed as part of this report 

Ill Financial Statements 

See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for financial 
statements included with this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

121 Financial Statement Schedules 

Schedule 11--Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 
SCFZ3DULE 11--CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998 AND 1999 

,997 
Y.lY.Ll0" .Ilor."ce--d.fcrred LnC- L.i ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  CC..  s o  I 0 I 6 8 1  

...... ....... .... 

19% 
Allorancc for doubttul ~CEOYOZ.  . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 0 I 1.0 Sill 

Va1uat.o" allorlnCe~~dclcrrrd ,"corn E.. 

.let. s 611L I 1 . 1 1 8  s o  

...... ....... .... .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
....... . . . .  ~~~~~~ 

199') 
. . . . . . . . . . . .  Allowlnce *or doubtful .CCOY"LI s 2,. I 5 6 ,  $ 1 2 5  

~~ ~ ~ . ~ . .  ~~~~~~ 

Yaluarlon allowance -deferred incorn L ~ X  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . S E C C * . .  5 5 . 1 9 9  122.9e1 1 5  

5 0  I 6 8 1  
.... ....... 
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..... ....... 

I O  I 5 . 7 9 9  
. .  . . . . . .  
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~ ~ . .  ..... . . . . . . . ...... . . . . . . . 

- - ...___________._________ 

(1) Accounts written off, net of recoveries 

0) Exhibits 

EXHIBIT 
NO. 
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DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT 

2.1 

3.1 

3.2 

10.1 

10.2 

10.3 

10.4 

10.5 

10.6 

10.7 

10.8 

Agreement and plan of merger among Birch Telecm. Inc.. 
Valu-Line Ccmpanies. Inc., Stephen L. Sauder, Paula K. 
Sauder. Richard L. Tidwell, Sarah J. Tidwell. Stormy Supiran 
and Carla S. Supiran. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
2.1 to Birch Tclecm. Inc.'s registration statement on Form 
S - 4 ,  as amended (SEC File No. 333-627971, originally filed 
Scptelnbtr 3. 1998 (Form S - 4 1 ) .  

Reetated certiLicate of incorporation of Birch Telecm. Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Birch Telecm 
Inc.'s registration statement on Form S-l filed March 23. 
2000. I 

Rcatated bylaws Of Birch TelCCca, Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Form S - 4 1 .  

Birch Tel~ccm. Inc. securities purchase agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form s-41.  

Birch Telecm, Inc. amended and restated purchasers rights 
agreement, dated Auqust 5 .  1999 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 10-Ql. 

Amended employment agreement dated a8 of October 7. 1999 
between Birch Telecnn, Inc. and David E. Scott. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Birch Telecom 
Inc.'s registration statement on Form S-1 filed March 23, 
2000. I 

Amended employment agreement dated as of October 7, 1999 
between Birch Telecm. Inc. and Gregory C. Lawhon. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Birch Telecom 
Inc.'s registration statement on Form S-1 filed March 23, 
2000. I 

Amended employment agreement dated as of October 1 .  1999 
between Birch Telecom. In=. and Donald H. Goldman. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Birch Telecom 
Inc.'s registration statement on Form S - l  filed March 23. 
2000. I 

Amended employment agreement dated as of October 7 ,  1999 
between Birch Telecom. Inc. and David w. Vranlcar. 
lincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Birch Telecom 
Inc.'s registration Statement On Form S - l  filed March 23. 
2000.) 

Employment agreement dated as of February 10. 1998 between 
Birch Telecnn. In=. and Stephen L. Sauder (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Form S - 4 1  

General agreement between Birch Telecom. Inc. and Lucent 
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10.9 

10.10 

10. llt 

10.12 

EXHIBIT 
NO. 

Technologies Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.12 to the Form S-41. 

Interconnection agreement under Sections 251 and 252 of the 
Telecommunications Act of 1996 by and between Southwestern 
Bell Telephone cmpany and Birch Telecm of Missouri. Inc. 
(Mis.ouri Interconnection Agreement) (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Form S - 4 1 .  

Amendment No. 1 dated M y  27, 1998 to Missouri 
interconnection agreement lincorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.10 to Birch Tslecom, Inc.'o annual report On form 
10-K for the fiscal year ended Decemhr 31. 1998. originally 
filed on March 31, 1999 (Form 10-KI). 

Software license agreement between Birch Telecm. In=. and 
Saville Systems Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.14 to the Form S - 4 1 .  

Interconnection agreement under Sections 251 and 252 of the 
Teleconmunications Act of 1996 by and between Southwestern 
Bell Telephone Company and Birch Telecm of Kansas. Tnc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Form 
10-Kl . 
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DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT 

10.13 

10.14 

Interconnection agreement under sections 251 and 252 of the 
Telec-mications Act of 1996 by and between Southwestern 
Bell Telephone Cmpany and Birch Telecm of Texas Ltd.. LLP. 
(incorporated by reference to t.le Exhibit 10.13 to the Form 
10-Kl . 

1998 stock option plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.14 to Birch Telecm InC.'s annual report on Form 10-K for 
the fiscal year ended Deceeber 3 1 .  1998. as amended. filed 
on lray 7, 1999 (Form IO-KIA11 . 

10.15 Form of incentive stock option agreement under 1998 stock 
option plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to 
the Form 10-KIA) 

10.16 Form of nonstatutory stock option agreement under 1998 stock 
option plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to 
the Form 10-KIAI. 

10.17 Lerse agreement between Francor. L.L.C. and Birch Telecom, 
In=. dated July 20, 1998 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.17 to the Form lO-K/A). 

10.18 Series D preferred stock purchase agreement. dated July 2, 
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Birch 
Tclecom Inc.'s quarterly report or Form 10-9 for the period 
ended September 30, 1999, filed November 15. 1999 (Form 
10-Q) I .  

10.19 series F preferred stock purchase agreement, dated July 13, 
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 co the form 
10-Ql 

10.20 Amended and restated credit agreement among Birch Telecom 
Finance. Inc.. Birch  Telecom. lnc.. Lehman Brothers lnc., 
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10.21 

10.22 

10.23 

Lehman C-rcial Paper Inc.. Bankers Trust C~mpany and Bank 
of America, Inc.. as agents and lenders, and the other 
lenders party thereto dated February 2. 2000. (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Birch Telecm Inc.'s 
registration atatement on Form S - 1  tiled March 23, 2000.1 

Amended and restated guarantee and collateral agreement. 
dared as of February 2. 2000, among Birch Telecom Finance. 
Inc., Birch Telecw. Inc. and Lehnan Cannercia1 Paper. Inc., 
as collateral agent. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.21 to Birch Telecw Inc.*n eegiatration statement on 
Form S-1 filed March 23, 2000.) 

Amended employment agreement dated aa of October 7 .  1999 
betveen Birch Telecw. Inc. and Bradley A. Moline. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Birch Telecm 
Inc.'a registration statement on Form s-1 filed March 23, 
2000. I 

Amended employment agreemenr dated as of October 7. 1999 
betveen Birch Telecm. Inc. and Jeffrey D. Shackelford. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Birch Telecw 
Inc.'s registration statement on Form S-l filed W r C h  23, 
2000. I 

10.24 Employment agreement dated an of February 2000 between Birch 
Telecan. Inc. and David n. Hollingsworth. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Birch Telecm Inc.'s 
registration statement on Form S-1 filed March 23, 2000.1 

10.25 Indenture, dated as of June 23. 1998. between Birch Telecom, 
Inc. and Norvest Bank Minnesota, National AsBOCiation, aa 
trustee, relating to 5115,000,000 aggregate principal amount 
of 14k senior notes due 2008 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.1 to the Form S - 4 1 .  

10.26 specimen certificate of 14) acnior notes due 2008 (Exchange 
Notea) (included in Exhibit 4.1. which ie incorporated by 
reference to Exhihit 4.1 to the Form S - 4 1 .  

10.27 Collateral pledge and security agreement. dated an of June 
23, 1998 f r m  Birch Telecm. Inc., Pledgor. to Norvest Bank 
Minnesota. National Aaaociation, Trustee (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 1.5 to the Form s - 4 ) .  

Letter agreement dated as of W z c h  22, 2000 between Birch 
Telecm, Inc. and Mory 

10.28 
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EXHIBIT 
NO. 

. . . . . . . 

10.29 

10.30 

DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT 

Ejabat. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Birch 
Telecm Inc.'s registration Statement on F o m  S-1 filed 
March 23, 2000.1 

Letter agreement dated as of March 22. 2000 between Birch 
Telecm. In=. and Richard A. Jalkut. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Birch Telecom Inc.'s 
registration statemen: on Form S-l filed March 23, 2000.1 

Amendment number one dated as of March 23. 2000 to the 
amended and restated purchaser- rights agreement. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to Birch Telecom 
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Inc.'s registration statement on Form S-1 filed March 23 
2000. I 

12.1. Caaputation of Ratio of Earninge to Fixed Charges 

21.1 Subsidiaries of Birch TeleCm. Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Form S - 4 1 ,  

24.1. Power of attorney (included on the signature page) 

27.1. Financial data schedule 

Filed herewith 

+ Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for 
confidential treatment. Such portions have been filed separately with the 
Comnieeion. 

ibl Reports on form 8 - K .  

On March 23, 2000 we filed Form B - K  with respect to a rcgimtration statement 
filing with the SEC as part of a proposed initial public offering of c o m o n  
stock. We attached a copy of our press release issued that sa= day, 
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SIGNATURES 

PURSUANT TO THE RBQUIREMENTS OF THE SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES 
AND E X W G E  ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED. THE REGISTRANT HpiS DULY CAUSED THIS REPORT 
TO BE SIGNED ON ITS BEKALf BY THE UNDERSIGNED, THEREUNTO DULY AUTHORIZED, IN THE 
CITY OF W S A S  CITY, STATE OF MISSOURI. 

SCOTT 

______.____._____ 

SCOtt 

EXECWIVE OFFICER 

Date: March , 2000 

BIRCH T2LECOM. INC. 

By: I s /  DAVID E. 

_______________........- 

David E. 

PRESIDENT AND CHIEF 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

KNOW kLL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears 
below constitutes and appoints David E. Scott and Bradley A .  Moline. and each of 
them. his attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and 
resubstitution. for him and in his name, place. and stead. in any and all 
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to 
file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents In connection 
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission granting unto such 
attorneys-in-fact and agents. and each of them. full power and authority to do 
and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in 
connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could 
do rn person. hereby ratifying and confirminq that all such attorneys-in-fact 
and agents. or any of them or their or his substitute or substituted. may 
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lavfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

PURSUANT, TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, THIS 
REPORT HAS BEEN SIGNED BELOW BY THE FOLLOWING PERSONS ON BEHALF OF THE 
REGISTRAhT IN THE CAPACITIES AND AS OF THE DATES INDICATED. 

SIGNATURE 
DATE 
........... _ _ _ _  

............................................ 
March 30, 2000 
DAVID E. SCOTT 

............................................. 
Pinancial March 30, 2000 
BRADLEY A. MOLINE 

............................................. 
March 30, 2000 
HENRY H. BRADLEY 

............................................. 
March 30, 2000 
ADAM H. CLAIMER 

............................................. 
March 30, 2000 
JAMES H. GREENE, JR. 

Arch 30, 2000 
ALEXANDER NAVAB, J R  

............................................. 
March 30, 2000 
THOMAS R. PALMER 

TITLE 

President, Chief Executive 
Officer and Director 

(Principil Executive Officer) 

Senior Vice President of 
Finance and Chief Financial 

Officer (Principal 

and Accounting Officer1 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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F- 1 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS 
BIRCH TELECOM. INC. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Birch 
Telecom, Inc. (Birch) as of December 31. 1998 and 1999, and the related 
consolidated statementa of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit1 and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999. Our 
audit also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index to 
Financial Statement8 and Financial Statement Schedule. These financial 
statements and schedule are the responsibility of Birch'a management. our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statementB and 
schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audita in accordance with auditing Standards generally 
accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perfom 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining. on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statementa. ~n 
audit also includes aeaesaing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement preeentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, 
in all m 
Telecom, at December 31, 1998 and 1999, and the consolidated results of its 
operatior. 
December :, 1999. in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States. Also. in our opinion, the related financial statement 
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material aspects the 
information set forth therein. 

-ial respects. the consolidated financial position of Birch 

.d its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 

Ernst c Young LLP 

Kansas City, Missouri 
February 17. 2000, except for note 19, as to 
which the date is March 23. 2000 
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BIRCH TELECOM. INC 

CONSOLIDATED BAWINCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31. 1998 AND 1999 

IIN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHRRE 3ATA) 

1998 1999 
................ 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 
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Cash and cash equivalents. 
Pledged securities . . . . . . . .  
Accounts receivable, net . . .  
Invent0 rl . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Prepaid expenses and other . . . . . . . .  

Total current amsets... ..... 
Property and cquiprmnt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Less: accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Property and equipment. net. . . .  
Pledged aecurities--noncurrent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Goodwill, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other intangibles, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

.................... 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT 
Current liabilities: 
Current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease 
obligations ........................................ 
Accounts payable .......................................... 
Accrued expenses. .......... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total current liabilities ................................... 
Senior credit facility ............. ................ 
14t senior notes ............................................ 
Capital lease obligation., net of current maturities . . . . . . . .  
Other long-term debt, net of current maturities. 
Series B redeemable preferred stock. 8,572,039 shares issued 

and outstanding in 1998 (mtated at redemption and 
aggregate liquidation value) .............................. 

Series P redeemable preferred stock, 13,333,334 shares 
issued and outstandi 
aggregate liquidat' 

Stockholders' deficil 
Series B preferred 

outstanding in 1 2 
Series C preferred s 

issued and oucatan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Series D preferred s ,222 shares issued and 

outstanding in 1999. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Common stock. $ .  001 par value, 80,000,000 shares 

authorized. 5,016,889 and 4,687,167 shares issued and 
outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . .  
Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accumulated deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . .  

Total stockholders' deficit 

Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit 

5 39,145 $ 5.053 
15.888 15,936 
4,039 11,612 

916 3,735 
526 2 443 

61,114 38.779 
26,900 10,192 

747 8,080 

26,153 62,112 
21,897 1.484 
16.863 19.316 

................ 

................ 

7,620 16,911 
502 2,369 

................ 
$134,149 $146.971 
======s i  ======== 

$ 335 $ 1.300 
8,503 13,300 
2,556 10,793 

11,394 25,393 
_ -  10.000 

114.681 114,715 
778 836 
332 234 

................ 

14,063 

_ -  63,550 

8 

5 5 

See accompanying notes. 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPEMTIONS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31. 1997. 1998 AND 1999 

337 337 
10.548 11.686 
(17.9971 179.8011 
................ 

l7.5991 167.7571 
................ 
$134.149 $146.971 
._-..._= ........ . . - - - - - . . - - -. - 
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(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 

1997 
........ 

Revenue : 
Comnunicatlons services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ .. 
Equiprrnr sales ........................................... .. 

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .. 
C08t Of acTv1cee: 
Cost of comunxations aerv1ces . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .~ 
Cost of equipment sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .. 

....... 

1998 
........ 

1999 

$ 21.783 
4,304 

26.087 

16.339 
2.547 

........ 

52.980 
7.558 

.... 
60.538 

4 1 , 8 7 0  
4 . 4 8 8  

................ 
18.886 46.358 

7,201 1 4 ,  180 
15, 769 53.045 

................ 

2.308 10.828 
................ 

.. -. ... 
Gross ~ r g i n  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .~ 
Selling. general and OdminLstrative expeneee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1.776 

....................... Depreciation and amorclratmn expense 27 

rase from DperatlOne . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11.8011 
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .. 
tntereat inc Mne . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  I4 

110.876: .19.693 
18 254 . 1 5 . 0 1 6  
2 922 2.925 

....... 
Net 1088 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11,)89) 
Preferred s t x k  dividande ................................... .. 
Mrtization of preferred Brock issuance coets . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .. 

................ 
(16.208) (61 .8041  

( 1 . 6 9 6 1  1 1 . 5 5 0 1  
(291 12921 

................ ....... 
u)SB applicAble to COrrmOn etOCk. ............................ $ i 1 , 7 8 9 1  ----..- 
~ ) O S  per c-n Bhare--basic and diluted .................... $ ( 1 . 4 5 )  

Weighted average number of c-n ahares outstanding ........ 1,235 

see accompanying notes 
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B I L H  TELECOM, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEUENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998 AND 1999 
(IN THOUSANDS) 

lo.. ......... 2.r-r ...... ................ ................... 
,...e3<e .. ..'I.?:. .. 

< i M l / _ O "  ............. 
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... ... 

".lrmr.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
"et io.. .M cmPr."e".'vr 

lo... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

..I."CI .. mc-r ........... 

I -  

1.712 

111 

.. 

... 
117 

.... 
(1  

,mAA ...... 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (CONTINUED) 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998 AND 1999 
(IN THOUSANDS) 

~~ 

. .  

$ 6  $ 8  ... ... 

..  
.~ . . ~  

$ 2  I ... ... .... 5 .... $ 5  ... 
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1 6 1 . 1 0 4 ,  
........ 

lil,,IDll ........ 
10.. 

.... 

,117 .... 
s.i&"ce .I D I E M r  , I .  

l W ' l . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  I 1l .Glr ........ 

See accompanying notes 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3 1 ,  1 9 9 7 ,  1998 AND 1999 

( I N  THOUSANDS1 

1997 1 9 9 8  1 9 9 9  
...................... 

OPKRATING ACTIVITIES 
Net 10~. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
M]ustrente to reconcile net loss to net Cash used in 

operating activities: 
Dep~eclat,o" . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
~ = t i i a t i o n  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Provision for lossell on accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

5 1 1 , 7 0 9 l  5 116.2081 $161,8011 

27 
.. 

720 
1 . 5 8 8  

140  
16 

7 . 9 4 8  
2.000 

561 
3 4  

.. 
50 Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Changes in operating ahsets and liabilities. net of 
effects O f  ac~Y181t1O"s:  

1 1 , 9 0 5 1  
13001 

17.6331 
19891 

l1,90)! 
12,0651 
i 2 . 3 5 7 1  
4 . 5 9 2  
7.515 

Inventory . . . .  . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Prepaid expen . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other Intang1 . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other assets. . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  

Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Purchase of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
0u81ness acquisitions, net Of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
IUMrtizatiOn of diecount on pledged securities. 
Maturity of pledged 8 e c u ~ ~ ~ i e s  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Purchase of pledged securi~ies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Net cash used in anvesting aCtzVLLieS... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Proceeds from long-term deb . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Proceeds from 11% 8en1or notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Proceeds.from Convertible notes... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Proceeds from 1seuance Of preferred stock . . . . . . .  
Proceeds from l ~ ~ u a n c e  of co-n stock and *.ana . . . . . . .  
payment Of flnanclng COSts.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Repayment Of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Repayment Of capital lea9e obligations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Payment Of series  A preferred stock dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Borrowing :repayment! of notes payable co stockholders . . . .  
Redemption of preferred stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Redemption Of co-n stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

I 7 1  0 7 0 1  

1871 
2 5 5  

1198) 
3 , 8 8 0  
1.986 

11.5511 

1 1 2 0 i  

110.6431 i 5 3 . 2 2 5 1  

141.1601 
i 4 . 8 0 1 )  
, I .  7251 
16. 100 

1101 

I11.196, 
........ 

.. 
....... 

11281 

. 4 4 . 2 4 7 '  

i67.0931 
........ 

123 
114,661 

3.500 
9 , 5 0 0  

142 
,4,922! 

<121. 

10,000 

.. 
70.000 

1.768 
, 1 2 9 :  8 . 8 0 4  

,773 
1,073' (172 

1168' 
5211 

4.750 
2 5 0  

1 8 .  572 
449 

50,329 

34,692' 

. .  ~~~ 

. . . . . . .  

. . . . . . .  
117,271 

?9,535 
~~. 

Net cash provided by financing aCL1V1Lles . . . . . . . . . . . .  1.889 

NET INCREASE DECREASE' 1N CASH AND CASH SQUIVALENTS 2:C 
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. . . . . . . . . . .  210 39,745 U S H  AND U S H  EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING O F  Y E A R  .~ 
....... ................ 

U S H  AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 210 $ 39,745 $ 5 , 0 5 1  
- - - -= - -  =_..____ ...**.-- 

Supplemntary schedule of "on-cash investing and financing 
activztiea: 
Amounce recorded in C O M ~ C ~ ~ O ~  with acqulsltiona: 

Fair value of net assets acquired. net 

Fair value Of intangible assets .. 
Aaaumptlon of liabxlitiee .. 
Assumption of long-term debt and capital leaee 
obligations .. 

. . . .  .. $ $ 5,064 5 2.693 
20.900 4.130 
12,4301 1939) 

11,027! I8721 

. . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

...................... . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
.. 1 1 . 7 5 0 1  .. 
.~ 110.0001 ~~ 

Comnon Stock issued zn exchan 5 0  .. .. 
. . .  . . . . . . . . . . .  12111 le~uance of c0-n stock .. .. 

Property and equipment add' 

Property and equipment additior,. included in accounts 

Cash payment for interest. net of interest capitallred of 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  lease .. 728 2.099 

. . . . . . . . .  ............................. 2.157 5.873 payable .. 
Supplemntal disclosure of cash flow infomation: 

...................... .. 7.725 13.690 $136 i n  1998 and $1.324 i n  1999 

See accompanying notes. 
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BIRCH TELECOM. INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. THE CCUPANY 

Birch Telecom. Inc. was incorporated On December 23, 1996. as a Delaware 
corporation for the purpose of providing local, long distance. In 'et access, 
and other comunications eervices to business and residential cust 8 .  The 
consolidated financial statements of Birch Telecom, Inc. include * . ?  xcounts of 
Birch Telecom, Inc. and the accounts of its whclly-owned subaidiaiice 
(collectively. Birch). Birch currently Serves certain markets in Missouri. 
Kansas and Texas. Birch's business is highly competitive and is subject to 
various federal, state and local regulations. 

Birch was in the development stage for the period from December 23, 1996 
ldate of inception) to February 10, 1998. Accordingly, Birch had no operating 
revenue and incurred operating losses and operating cash flow deficits during 
that period. 

2. SUMEZARY OF S I G N I F I W  ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

For purposes of reporting cash flows. Birch includes as cash and cash 
equivalents highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months 
or lese. . 

REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue for communications services is recognized when customers use the 
associated services. Equipment revenue is recognized when systems or services 
are substantially complete. Revenue on billings to customers in advance of 
providing services is deferred and recognized when earned. customers are not 
charged fees to activate initial service. 

COST OF SERVICES 

Cost of Services includes local and long-distance serv~ces purchased from 
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incumbent local exchange carriers, interexchange carriers and certain providers 
of fiber optic telephone networks. Cost of services also includes costs 
associated with the sale and installation of telephone systems. 

INVENTORY 

Inventory is carried at the lower of average cost or market determined on a 
first-in. first-out basis and consists primarily of parts and equipment used in 
the maintenance and installation of telephone systems. 

ADVERTISING COSTS 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled S 8 9 5 . 0 0 0  in 1998 and 
$3.0 million in 1999. There were no advertising costs in 1997. 

F-8 

BIRCH TELECOM, INC 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED1 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED1 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated using the 
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the assets: 

Comunications netYork ...................................... 2-10 
Buildings, furniture, fixtures and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2-40 

OOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 

Goodwill represent9 the excess of the purchase price pai? Over the fair 
value of the net assets acquired in Birch's acquisitione. Goodwill is being 
amortized over 25 years using the straight-line method. Accumulated amortization 
on goodwill totaled $599,000 at December 31. 1998 and $1.4 million at 
December 31. 1999. 

Other intangibles consist primarily of customer lists related to Birch's 
acquisitions, deferred financing costs and deferred line installation costs. 
Customer lists are amortized over 5 yeara using the straight-line method. The 
deferred financing costs are amortired over 5 to 10 years, the term of the 
associated financing, using the straight-line method. Deferred line installation 
costs are being amortized over 2 years, the approximate average life of customer 
contracts. using the straight-line method (Bee Note 61. 

Birch reviews its long-lived assets in accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of 
Long-lived Assets and Long-lived Assets to be Disposed of." for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
an asset may not be recoverable. If such events or changes in circumstances are 
present, a loss is recognized if the carrying value of the asset is in excess of 
the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the 
asset and it8 eventual disposition. Rn impairment 1068 is measured a8 the amount 
by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. 

INCOME TAXES 

Birch accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS NO 109. Accounting 
for Income Taxes Blrch recognlzer deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 
expected future tax consequences of events chat have been Included An the 
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financial statements or tax returns. Under this method. deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial 
statement and tax bases of aeseta and liabilities using enacted tax rates in 
effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Net 
deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when appropriate (see 
Note 111. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of 
changes in tax lawe and ratea on the date of enactment. 

STOCK OPTIONS 

Birch has adopted the dieclosure Provisions of SFAS NO. 123, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation. which establishes a fair value based method for the 
financial reporting of its stock-based employee compensation plans. However. as 
allowed by SFAS No. 123. Birch ha8 elected to continue to measure compensation 
using the intrinsic value based method as prescribed by Accounting Principles 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED1 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED1 
Board opinion No. 25. Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under this 
method, compensation is measured as the difference between the market value of 
the stock on the grant date, less the amount required to be paid for the stock. 
The difference. if any, is charged to expense over the vesting period of the 
options. The estimated market value used for the stock options granted waa 
determined on a periodic basis by Birch's board of directors. In accordance with 
APB No. 25, Birch has recorded no compensation expense related to options 
granted because the exercise price is equal to the estimated market value of the 
stock on the date of g r M t  (see Note 151. 

FAIR VALUBS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The carrying amount of caah and cash equivalents approximates fair value due 
to the short maturity of the instruments. The fair value of Birch's pledged 
securities was $38 million at December 31, 1998 and $ 2 3 . 3  million at 
December 31, 1999. The fair value of Birch's senior notes is estimated to be 
$106 million at December 31, 1998 and $115 million at December 31, 1999 based on 
the quoted market rates for the debc. The fair value of other long-term debt, 
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximates the 
recorded value. 

USE OF ESTIMATES IN FINANCIAL STATEMEWS 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

LOSS PER SHRRE 

The net loss per share amount reflected on the consolidated statement of 
operations is based on the weighted-average number of common Shares outstanding. 
Stock options and convertible preferred stock are anti-dilutive. and therefore 
excluded from the computation of earnings per share. In the future, these stock 
equivalents may become dilutive. 

RECIASSIFICATIONS 

Certain items in the 1997 and 1998 consolidated financial statements have 
been reclassified to be consLstent with the claesification In the 1999 
consolidated financial Statements 

N E W  ACCOUNTING PRONOWCEMENTS 
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In June 1998. the Financial Accounting Standards Board IFASBI issued SFAS 
NO. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which 
supersedee SFAS NO. 80. Accounting for Futures Contracts. SFAS No, 105. 
Disclosure of Information About Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet 
Risk and Financial Instruments with Concentration of Credit Risk, and SFAS 
NO. 119, Disclosures a b u t  Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value of 
Financial Instruments, and also amends certain aspects of other SFAS'S 
previously iesued. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting etandards 
for derivative instruments and hedging activities. It requires that an entity 
recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet 
and measure those instruments at fair value. SFAS No. 133 is effective for our 
consolidated financial statemente for the 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

2. SuHplRRY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ICONTINUEDI 
year ending December 31, 2001. We do not expect the impact of SFAS No. 133 to be 
material in relation to its consolidated financial statements. 

3. ACQUISITIONS 

In February 1998. Birch merged with Valu-Line Companies. Inc. IValu-Line) in 
a traneaction valued at $19.5 million, consisting of $1.75 million in cash, 
2,968,750 shares of series A preferred stock having an aggregate liquidation 
preference of $4.75 million and 6,250,000 shares of series C preferred stock 
having an aggregate liquidation preference of $10.0 million. Since 1982, 
Valu-Line ham been primarily providing switched long distance services, customer 
premises equipment ICPE) sales and services and, since March 1997, local 
service. 

In May 1998, Birch acquired Boulevard Phone Company (Boulevard), a shared 
tenant service provider in the Kansas City metropolitan area, for $300,000 in 
cash and Telesource Communications. Inc. ITelcsource). a CPE provider in the 
Kansas City metropolitan area, for $325,000 in cash. 

In September 1998. Birch acquired TFSnet. Inc. ITFSnet). an Internet service 
provider based in the Kansas City metropolitan area, for $2.65 million. 

In February 1999. Birch acquired American Local Telecommunications, LLC 
(ALTI; a competitive local exchange carrier based in the Dallas, Texas 
metropolitan area. The acquieition included substantially all assets of ALT. The 
total purchase price was approximately $1.6 million in cash and $211,000 in 
common stock. 

In March 1999. Birch acquired the stock of Capital Communications 
Corporation (Capital), a telecommunications equipment provider based in the St. 
Louis. Missouri metropolitan area. The total purchase price was approximately 
$3.0 million plus additional cash consideration, recorded as additional purchase 
price, based on local service lines converted to Birch's service from Capital's 
existing Customer base. which totaled approximately $161.000 through 
December 31, 1999. 

All of the acquisitions referenced above were recorded using the purchase 
method of accounting. Accordingly. the operations of each are included in the 
consolidated statements of operations and cash flows from the date of 
acquisition. 

The following is unaudited pro forma information reflecting the effect of 
the 1998 acquisitione on the results as though they had been completed effective 
January 1. 1997 and 1998: 
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YEARS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 

1997 1998 
.................. 
[IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT 

PER SHARE DATA) 

................................................... $29,193 Revenue $18,847 
Net losa . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19,325 28.921 
Loss per common share 15.65 8 . 0 5  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

The impact of the 1999 acquisitions was not material to our results of 
operatione. 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

The composition of accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 1998 and 1999 
is as follows: 

1998 1999 

(IN THOUSANDS) 
............... 

Billed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $3,144 S 9,312 
Unbilled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,129 2,756 

..___- ....... 
4.273 12,068 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  234 456 

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

The composition of property and equipment as of December 31, 1998 and 1999 
is as follows: 

1998 1999 

[IN THOUSANDS) 
................ 

Communications network . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 5.966 
Buildings, furniture, fixtures and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6.529 
Construction in progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  14,405 

26,900 
. . - - . - . 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . .  747 

Property and equipment. net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . .  526,153 
..... - . 
= = = = = = =  

$28.525 
38.662 
3.005 

70,192 
8,080 

....... 

- - . - - - . 
$62,112 
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6. OTHER INTANGIBLES 

The composition of other intangible assets. net as of December 31, 1998 and 
1999 is a8 followe: 

Customer lists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Preferred stock isauance costs ............................ 
Deferred financing costs .................................. 
Deferred installation costs ............................... 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Less accumulated amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other intangibles, net .................................... 

1998 1999 

(IN THOUSANDS) 

$3,525 $ 4.225 
325 6.989 

4,630 6,412 
-. 2,363 

153 330 

8.633 20,319 
1,013 3,408 

$7.620 $16,911 

............... 

._____ - - - - - - - 

...... ....... 

=-===_ ==11=== 

7. DEET, PLEDGED SECURITIES AND WAFRAWS 

During December 1999. Birch completed a $75 million senior credit facility 
which increased to $125 million during syndication in February 2000. The 
financing provides for a $25 million reducing revolver and $100 million in 
multi-draw term loana. The revolver is available for general corporate 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED1 

7. DEBT, PLEDGED SECURITIES AND WARRANTS ( C O N T I ~ D I  
purposes of Birch's subsidiaries and the term loans are to be used to finance 
the development, design, installation and acquisition of telecommunications 
equipment. inventory network assets and back office systems. At Birch's 
election, the borrowings bear interest at either the Prime Rate plus a margin 
ranging from 1.501 to 2.50% or the London Interbank offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a 
margin ranging from 2.75% to 3.75*. The applicable margins are based upon 
Birch's debt to EBITDA ratio, as defined by the senior credit facility. Interest 
is paid quarterly in arrears for loans bearing interest based upon Prime and/or 
on the last day of each relevant interest period, for periods not in excess of 
three months, for LIBOR loans. Fox LIBOR loans with intereat periods of longer 
than three months, interest is paid each day which is three months after the 
first day of such interest period and the last day of such interest period. 
Commitment fees are paid quarterly in arrears on the average unused committed 
portion of the Facility, ranging from 0.75% to 1.258. The applicable percentages 
are based upon Birch's average borrowings in relation to the average borrowing 
availability, as defined by the senior credit facility. For the year ended 
December 31, 1999 commitment fees totaled $25.174. Principal payments begin 
March 2003 and the credit facility matures December 30. 2006. The senior credit 
facility is secured by a perfected first priority security interest in 
substantially all of Birch's assets and capital stock. Deferred financing costs 
incurred amounting to $1.5 million at December 31, 1999 are being amortized over 
the life of the credit facility uslng the straight-line method. Amortization for 
che year ended December 31. 1999 was not significant. 

During June 1998. Birch completed a $115 million private offering of 14% 
senior notes due June 2008 and 115,000 warrants to purchase 1,409,734 shares of 
common stock. Interest on the senior notes is payable semi-annually 1" arrears 
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on June 15 and December 15 of each year. Warrants are exercisable at 50.01 per 
share and expire June 2008. Birch received net proceeds from the senior notes of 
5110.2 million and concurrently purchased Pledged securities of 544.2 million. 
The pleaged securitiem are restricted for interest payments on the senior notea 
and, together with the interest accruing thereon, will be used to satisfy such 
interest payments through June 2001. Birch classifies its pledged securities. 
consieting of 537.8 million at December 31, 1998 and $23.4 million at 
December 31, 1999 of U . S .  Treasury securities. as held to maturity recorded at 
amortized cost and maturing between six and eighteen months. A portion of the 
proceeds from the senior notes, $337.000. was allocated to the warrants, and the 
resulting debt discount is being amortized over the life of the debt on the 
straight-line method. which does not differ materially from the effective 
interest method. unamortized discount was $319,000 at December 31, 1998 and 
5285,000 at December 31, 1999. The amunt allocated to the warrants represente 
the estimated fair value of the warrants at the date of issuance. Deferred 
financing Costa incurred amounting to 54.9 million at December 31, 1999 are 
being amortired over the life of the senior notes using the straight-line 
method. Accumulated amortization on the financing costs totaled 51.5 million at 
December 31, 1999. The senior notes rank pari pasu in right of payment to all 
existing and future senior indebtedness of Birch and rank senior in the right of 
payment to all existing and future subordinated indebtedness of Birch. 

A Registration Statement on Form S-4. registering Birch's 14% senior note8 
and exchanging the outstanding senior notes for exchange notes, was declared 
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission ISECI in March 1999. The 
terms and conditions of the exchange notes are identical to those of the senior 
notes in all material respects. 

The senior credit facility and the senior notes indenture contain certain 
covenants which, a w n g  other things, restrict the ability of Birch to incur 
additional indebtedness, pay dividends or make 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ICONTINUEDI 

7. DEBT, PLECGED SECURITIES AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED1 
distributions of Birch'e or its subsidiaries' stock, enter into sale and 
leaseback transactions, create liens. enter into transactions vith affiliates ox 
related pereons, consolidate, merge or sell all of ita assets. Birch was in 
compliance with these covenants at December 31. 1999. 

Birch's debt consisted of the following at December 31, 1998 and 1999: 

1998 1999 

(IN THOUSANDS1 
................ 

. . . . . .  14) senior notes . . . . . . .  . . . . .  $114.681 

senior credit facility: 
__.. ____El== 

.. Equipment term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 ........ 
Total senior credit facility .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 

=iljr5== 

O t h e T  long-term debt, interest accruing between 8 . 6 %  and 
9.8%. maturing through 2013, secured by buildings . . . . .  5 345 

L e s s  current maturities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  13 

5 332 
........ 

5114.715 
=liillFi 

$ 10,000 

5 10.000 
=E = = = = = ._ 

$ 244 
10 
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Assets securing the other long-term debt totaled $814,000 at December 31, 
1998 and $766,237 at December 31, 1999, net of accumulated depreciation of 
$19,000 at December 31, 1998 and $35,037 at December 31. 1999. 

Principal payments required on the outstanding debt during each of the next 
five years are as follows (IN THOUSANDS): 

. . . . . . . . . .  $ 10 
10 

2002. . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11 
5.012 

2004 ........................................................ 5,014 
Thereatter . . . . . . . . . . . .  114,902 

8. CAPITAL LFASE OBLIGATIONS 

Birch leases telecomunicatione equipment, computer equipment and 
automobiles under capital leases with imputed intereet between 8 . 0 %  and 12.01. 
Assets under capital leases totaled 5 1 . 5  million at December 31, 1998 and 
$3.6 million at December 31, 1999, net of accumulated amortization of $210,000 
at December 31. 1998 and $1.1 million at December 31, 1999. The future minimum 
lease 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEWS (CONTINUED) 

8. CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED1 
payments under the capital lcaaea and the pres-?: value of the net minimum lease 
payments as of December 31. 1999 are a8 follows (IN THOUSANDSI: 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $1.528 
2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . .  54 5 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  92 
2003 . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . .  57 

._ . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,222 
Less amount representing interest 96 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Present value of net minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,126 
Less current maturities.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,290 

$ 836 

Amortization expense for assets under capital leases was $157,000 for 1998 
and $974.165 for 1999. 

9. CAPITAL. STRUCTURE 

During 1997. $1.8 million of Common stock and $18,000 of warrants were sold 
to management and equity investors for $1.00 and $0.01 per share. respectively. 
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The warrants entitled the holders to purchase an additional 1.8 million ehares 
Of common stock at 51.00 per share. 

During February and March 1998, Birch iseued $ 9 . 5  million of seriee B 
preferred Stock at 54.50 per share and 53.5 million of convertible notes 
generating net proceeds of $12.4 million, converted all existing comon stock to 
series C preferred stock, terminated c o m n  stock warrants. canceled the 1997 
stock option plan. created the 1998 stock option plan and issued 474,750 shares 
of common stock to employees of Birch. Also during February 1998, Birch issued 
54.75 million of series A preferred stock and $10.0 million of series c 
preferred stock in connection with the Valu-Line merger. Birch redeemed the 
series A preferred stock in June 1998. Also in June 1998, the convertible notes 
were converted into series B preferred stock. 

During July and August 1999, Birch issued 510 million of series D preferred 
stock and 560 million of series F preferred stock at 54.50 per share. Options 
were granted to purchase 525 Fillion of series F preferred stock at 54.75 per 
share and 525 million of ecriaa F preferred Stock at $5.00 per share which 
expire On April 13. 2000. Additionally. Birch repurchased $10 million of 
series C preferred stock at $4.50 and recapitalized the series B preferred stock 
converting it into a new series B preferred stock and a new series E preferred 
stock. The eeries E preferred stock was then redeemed for 58.6 million. Net 
proceeds generated from these transactions totaled $44.4 million. 

AUTHORIZED SluRES 

At December 31, 1999. Birch had shares authorized totaling 80 million shares 
of c o m n  stock and 55 million shares of preferred stock. The preferred stock 
has designations of 8.75 million shares of series B, 8.5 million shares of 
series C. 2 . 2  million shares of series D, 1.9 million shares of aeries E and 
30 million shares of series F. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINRNCIAL STATEMENTS ICONTINVEDI 

9. aPITAL STRUCTURE (CONTINVEDI 
RIGHTS 

All classes of preferred stock are convertible and contain certain voting 
rights. The cornon stock aleo has voting rights similar to the series C 
preferred stock. The series B. series D and series F preferred stock have 
additional voting rights in certain circumstances. Additionally, the series F 
preferred stock contains mandatory redemption rights based on certain senior 
management retention. In the event of mandatory redemption. the shares are 
redeemable for amounts similar to the liquidation preference discussed below. 

LIQUIDATION RIGHTS 

Birch's series D and series F preferred stock have a liquidation preference 
over the series B and series C preferred stock and common stock at the greater 
of lil the purchase price plus accrued but unpaid dividends or (iil the amount 
the holders would have received upon liquidacion if such shares of series D and 
series F preferred stock had been converted to Common stock immediately prior to 
liquidation. Birch's series B preferred stock has a liquidation preference only 
over series C preferred stock and common stock ae an amount equal to the sum of 
the purchase price plus accrued but unpaid dividends. Series C preferred stock 
has preference only over common stock at an amount equal to the sum of the 
purchase price plus accrued but unpaid dividends. 

DIVIDENDS 

The series B preferred stock accrued cumulative compounding dividends at 159 
per annum until the series B was converced and restated into new series 0. At 
chat time. the rights and preferences were amended and restated to remove the 
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mandatory dividend rights and now the series B cumulates cash dividends at 15% 
per annum. amounting to $814,000 at December 3 1 .  1999. The series C preferred 
stock has a 101 non-cumulative cash dividend and the series D preferred stock 
cumulates cash dividends at a rate of 15% per annum. totaling 5750,000 at 
December 31, 1999. Only the aerie8 F preferred stock contains mandatory dividend 
rights. Accrued caah dividends on series F preferred stock totaled 53.6 million 
at December 31, 1999. as reflected in stockholders' equity. Common etock 
dividends, if any. will he declared at the diecretion of Birch's board of 
directors. Birch haa not paid any cash dividends on comon stock since inception 
and does not intend to pay any in the foreseeable future. Restrictions contained 
in the senior credit facility agreement and the senior notee indenture prohibit 
Birch from paying certain dividends on its capital stock. 

On June 23. 1998. Birch paid a stock dividend. in the amount of 0.055 shares 
per ehare. to the holders of Birch's series B preferred stock, series C 
preferred stock and c o m n  stock aa of June 15. 1998. Dividends paid on 
series A preferred stock in 1998 totaled $168,000. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

10. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

During December 1997, Birch borrowed $250.000 from Birch's principal 
stockholder under a note payable. The note payable was fully repaid in 
February 1998. 

Birch acquired notes payable to Valu-Line shareholders totaling 5274,000 in 
the Valu-Line merger. These notes were fully repaid during 1998. 

A broadcasting company owned by one of the Birch's shareholders rented 
office space from Birch for $30,000 during 1998 and 529.187 during 1999. Birch 
purchased ad- 'ising from the broadcasting company totaling 540.000 in 1998 and 
$30,360 in 15 

A real enkite company owned by the President :f Birch's quipment division 
was paid 53,588 for building maintenance in 1998 and $12.587 in 1999. 

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Future minimum rental commitments at December 31, 1999 for all noncancelable 
operating leases, consisting mainly of leases for office space and equipment, 
are as follows (IN TNOUSANDSI; 

. 5 2.766.794 

. . . . . . . .  2,925,940 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7,169,655 

Total $21,515,835 
........... ........... 

Total rent expense was $81,000 in 1997. 5485.000 in 1998 and $1.5 million xn 
1999. Birch may renew leases on it6 corporate offices in term8 ranging from 
three to ten years at rates approximating the prevailing market. Renewal rentals 
are excluded from the table. 

Various suits arising in the ordinary course of business are pending against 
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Birch. Management cannot predict the final outcome of the actions, but believes 
they will not be material to Birch's financial statements. 

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT P U N  

Birch sponsors a 4 0 l ( k )  profit-sharing plan covering substantially all 
employees under vhich employees can contribute up to 154 of their annual salary 
subject to annual maximum limitations. Employees can participate after meeting 
the plan's eligibility requiremenre. Birch may also make discretionary 
contributions. Birch contributions to the plan were $148.000 in 1998 and 
$594.925 in 1999. 

13. EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS 

Birch has entered into employment agreements with certain executive 
employees which provide f o r  papents to be made in connection with certain 
termination of employmenr or change of control. The benefits include cash 
compenaation. immediate vesting of outatanding stock options and coverage under 
Birch's group health plan. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

1 4 .  INCOME TAXES 

Net deferred caxes coneist of the following as of December 31, 1998 and 
1999: 

1998 1999 

I IN THOUSANDS I 
................ 

Deferred tax assets: 
Ne? operating loss ca; ,orwards ....................... 
Accruals and reserves not currently deductible. . . . . . . . .  
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Valuation allowance 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Property and equipmint . . . . . . . . .  

$ 5,520 $ 20,770 
91 102 

668 614 - . . - - . - - - -. . - . - 
6,287 29,566 
(5.799) (28,7411 

Net income tax benefits of approximately $5.1 million in 1998 and $22.9 in 
1999 have-been offset by increases in the valuation allowance. At December 31. 
1999, Birch had operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of 
approximately $71.9 million, expiring in 2013 and 2014. 

The primary difference that caused the effective tax rate to vary from the 
statutory federal income tax rate of 35% was the valuation allowance. 

15. STOCK OPTION PLAN 

At December 31, 1997, Birch had granted options to purchase common stock 
under the 1997 stock option plan. The options granted had a term of 10 years and 
vested over a four-year period. This plan w a s  terminated and superseded in 1998 
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by the 1998 employee stock option plan. NO options rere or ever will be 
exercised and no shares were or will ever be issued under the terminated and 
superseded 1997 stock option plan. 

Stock option activity under the 1997 stock option plan was as follows: 

WEIGHTED- 
AIrsRAGE PER 

SUARES 
SHARE EXERCISE 

PRICE 

Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Exerciaed ........................................... 
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Outstanding at December 31, 1997 .................... 
Tenninated . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Outstanding at December 31, 1998... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

2,783.000 
.- 
.- 

.......... 
7,783,000 

l 2 . 7 8 3 . 0 0 0 )  
.......... _ _  
=*-=====*= 

$ 1.00 
.. 
-. 

1.00 
1.00 
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15. STOCK OPTION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
Stock option activity under the 1998 employee stock option plan was as 

followll: 

. .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Forfeited . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Outstanding at December 31, 1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Exercised . . .  . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Outstanding at December 31. 1999 

SHARES PRICE 

5,093,064 
4,566.889 

14,250 

511,925 

1.794.800 

275,875 

2,030,850 

._ 

. - . -. . - . . 

$0.242 
0.001 
2.500 

2.334 

3.845 
.. 

3.038 

3.574 

At December 31, 1998. 5,363 options were exercisable with a weighted average 
exercise price of 50.001. At December 31, 1999. 107.468 options were exercisable 
with a weighted average exercise price of $2.175. 

The 1998 employee stock option plan authorized the grant of options for up 
to 6 , 1 9 5 , 8 4 5  shares of Birch's common stock. The options have a term of 
10 years and vest over a four-year period. All options exercised during 1998 
were f o r  options granted with an early exercise provision. The shares from 
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exercised options continue to be subject to the four-year vesting period. No 
options expired during 1998 or 1999. 

Options granted in 1998 and 1999 had exercise prices approximating the 
market value of the c o m n  stock. Exercise prices for options outstanding at 
December 31, 1999 ranged from $0.001 to $ 4 . 5 0 .  The weighted-average remaining 
contractual life of those options is 9.4 years. The weighted-average fair values 
of options granted during the years ended December 31. 1998 and 1999 equaled 
$ 0 . 0 5  and $0.73, respectively. At December 31, 1999, Birch has reserved 
1,628,956 shares of c o m n  stock for issuance under the 1998 stock option plan. 

Birch estimated the fair value of each option grant using the minimum value 
method permitted by SFAS No. 123 for entities not publicly traded. Birch used 
the following assumptions in the calculation: risk-free interest rate of 5.25). 
expected life of four years and no dividends being paid over the life of the 
options. Under the minimum value method. the volatility factor is excluded. Had 
compensation cost for the stock based compensation plan been determined as 
prescribed by SFAS No. 123, the net loss and loss per c o w n  share would have 
been as follows for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999: 

1991 1998 1999 
........................... 
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE 

DATA1 

Net loss--as reported ........................... $(1,7891 . $(16.2081 $(61.8041 
Net loss--pro f0-... .......................... (1.921) (16,384) 162,411) 
Loss per share--Basic and Diluted--Pro Fo rma.... 11.561 14.75) (13.36) 
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16. SIGNIFICANT SUPPLIERS 

Birch purchased telephone servicee from Southwestern Bell Telephone 
amounting to 35% of cost of services in 1998 and 65% in 1999. Birch is dependent 
upon incumbent telephone companiee. such as Southwestern Bell. for the supply of 
fiber ODtiC networks that we use. Birch Durchased switches and other network 
equipment and software from Lucent Technologies amounting to $12.9 million in 
1998 and $9.9 million in 1999. 

11. YEAR 2000 ISSUE--UNAUDITED 

The Year 2000 issue is the result of computer programs being written using 
two digits rather than four to define the applicable year. Any of Birch's 
computer programe that have dace-sensitive software may recognize the date using 
"00" as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. Birch completed all Year 2000 
readiness work and experienced no significant problems as a result of the new 
year. Birch doea not believe it has continued exposure to the Year 2000 problem 
and does not expect further costs incurred in relation to the Year 2000 issue to 
be substantial. 

18. QUARTERLY DATA--UNAUDITED 

The following table includes summarized quarterly financial data for the 
years ended December 31: 

QUARTERS 
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......................................... 
FIRST SECOND THIRD FOUFTH 

I I N  TnOUsuIDS. EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA1 
................................ 

1998: 
Revenue ............................................... $ 3 , 7 0 5  $ 6 , 0 6 0  $ 7.178 5 8 . 8 1 4  
G10.a nyrqin .......................................... 1.063 1.628 2,305 2.205 

Net lo.. .............................................. 16a31 11.7661 15.6681 18.3511 
mas p r  c o m n  share--bamic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10.791 10.551 11.191 11.761 

Loas from operaclon. .................................. 15671 1 1 . u 6 1  12,9961 1 5 . 8 2 7 1  

1999: 
lleven~e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $10,635 S 13.975 $ 17.022 5 18,905 
OrOB. nyrg'9in . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2.711 3.574 3.753 t.1.2 
M.. f rom Opcrat,O". . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17.1281 19.5251 113,7101 119.3301 

LOSS per c o m n  ehare--basiC and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12.061 12.591 1 3 . 4 3 1  15 .301  
Net lo.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19,9361 122.6391 116,6901 122.5391 

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Since December 31, 1999, Birch has borrowed an additional $ 4 0  million 
through March 23, 2000 under the term loan portion of the senior credit 
facility. 

On March 23, 2000 an affiliate of Kohlberg Kravie Roberts & Co. exerciaed 
its options to purchase an additional $50.0 million of Birch's series F 
preferred stock (see note 9 ) .  

Also on March 23, 2000, Birch filed a registration statement on Form S-1 
relating to a proposed initial public offering of its common stock. All 
outstanding shares of Birch's preferred stock will automatically convert into 
shares of conmon stock upon completion of the proposed offering. In addition 
Birch expects to declare a 1.795 for 1 split of its cOmmOn stock prior to 
completion of the offcring. The conversion ratio for the preferred stock will be 
adjuated accordingly. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The Board of Directors 
Valu-Line Companies. Inc. 

we have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of tne Valu-Line 
Companies, Inc. (the Company1 as of December 31, 1997, and the related 
consolidated statements of income and retained earnings, and cash flows for the 
year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States. Those standard- require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obcain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis. 
evidence .supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimatea made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statemenr presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 

In OUT opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly 
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Valu-Line 
Companies, Inc. at December 31, 1997 and the consolidated results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 

E m S t  & Young LLP 
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Kansas City, Missouri 

May 15. 1998 
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VALU-LINE CCMPANIES, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

DECEMBER 31, 1997 

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA) 

ASSETS 
Current aSBets: 

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . .  .... 
Accounts receivable. net f $70 . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other receivables--related partiea ........................ 
lnventorie.... ....................................... 
Prepaid expensea .......................................... 
Income taxes receivable ... . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Deferred income taxes.... .................... 

Total current as8et. ........................................ 
Property and equipment, net... 
Other assets ................................................ 

Total assets ............................... ....... 

LIABILITIES AND STDCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 

Current maturities of long-term debt and capital 
obligation .................................... 

Notes payable--related parties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Customer deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accrued salaries and commissions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

lease 
. . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . .  

Total current liabilitiea . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Long-term debt, net of current maturities...... . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Capital lease obligation, net of current maturities.. . . . . . . .  
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
C o m o n  stock, no par value, 100,000 shares authorized; 

10.360 iasued and outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total stockholders' equity 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity . . . . . . . .  

See accompanying notes. 
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. . . . . .  

$ 258 
1.790 

97 
530 
37 
30 
60 
71 

2,873 
1,612 

317 

$ 110 
240 

1.262 
225 
39 

266 
287 

2,429 
345 
336 
27 

181 
1,484 

1.665 

$4,802 
...... 

====== 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 1997 

(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT SHARES AND PER SHARE DATA) 

Revenue : 
Communications services, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  513.785 
Equipment sales, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,016 

Total reVenYe ............................................... 16,801 
Cost of services: 

Cost of communications services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9,859 
Cost of equipment sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1.983 

Total cost of servicea ...................................... 11.842 

Gross margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4,959 
Selling, general and administrative ......................... 4,067 

.... - .. 

Depreciation and amortization ............................... 341 

Income from operations ...................................... 551 
Interest expense ............................................ 97 

Income before income taxes .................................. 4 54 
Income tax expense...... .................................... 186 

Net income... ............................................... 268 
Retained earnings. beginning of year. ....................... 1,216 

Retained earninga. end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  S 1,484 

Earnings per share--basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 25.87 

Common shares outstanding--basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10,360 

- - - - - - - 
_ _ - _ - = -  

See accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMEKT OF CASH FLOWS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

(IN THOUSANDS) 

OPERRTING ACTIVITIES 
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $268 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from 

operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 341 
Deferred income taxeo (141 
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . .  73 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16601 
Other receivables-related parties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1521 
Inventory 1941 
Income taxes receivablelpayable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1561 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
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Accounte payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . . . . . . . . . .  
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Net cash ueed in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Payment of notes payable--related parties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Payment of notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Payment of capital lease obligation ......................... 
Net cash used in financing activities ....................... 

Net increase in cash and caah equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Cash and cash equivalents. beginning of year.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

520 
304 
(1421 

488 

(2431 

I2431 

Ill) 
1441 
(901 

11451 

100 
158 

..-. 

-.__ 

_ _ _ _  
.__. 

__._ 
$258 
=-=- 

See accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

1. THE COMPANY 

These consolidated financial statements include the account8 of Valu-Line 
Companies, Inc.. a Kansas Corporation, and its wholly-owned subeidiaries 
(collectively. the '"Company"1. Valu-Line of Kmsas. Inc. and Is Advertising. The 
Company was acquired by Birch Telecom. Inc. in February 1998 lsee NOTE 101. The 
accounts of Valu Broadcasting. Inc. and Steve Sauder Real Estate, respectively, 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of and a division of Valu-Line Companies, Inc., both 
of which were spun off in December 1991, have been excluded for all periods from 
these consolidated financial statements in order to reflect financial position 
and operating results on a basis consistent with the businesses acquired by 
Birch Telecom. InC. All intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation. 

The Company provides local. long distance. Internet. customer premises 
equipment and other comunications services to business and residential 
customers in the state of Kansas. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

for purposes of reporting cash flows, the Company includes a8 cash and cash 
equi\.alents. cash and marketable securities wlth original maturities of three 
months or less. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue from COmmunlCat~ons S e r V l C e s  is recognized when the services are 
provided Revenue on billings to customers in advance of provldlng s e r v ~ c e s  IS 
deferred and recognized when earned 

CONCENTRATION Of CREDIT RISK 
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The Company is exposed to concentrations of credit risk principally from 
customer accounte receivable. At December 31, 1997, the Company's customers are 
located in the state of Kansas. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations 
of its cuntomers ae a m a n s  to reduce credit riak. 

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

As of December 31, 1997, the fair values of the Company's financial 
inatrurnents. including cash equivalents and notes payable--relited parties. 
approximate their carrying value. 

INVENTORIES 

Inventories, which consist of customer premises communications equipment 
held f o r  sale and supplies, are valued at lower of average cost or market. 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment, including assets held under capital leasea, are 
stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the related aaeeta or lease term. 

F-25 

VALU-LINE COMPANIES, INC 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
USE OF ESTIMATES IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and aesumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial 
Statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMEN? 

The components of property and equipment at December 31. 1997 are as 
follows : 

ESTIMATED 
USEFUL LIVES 1997 
.......................... 

(IN THOUSAh'DSI 

Telecormnunications and other equipment 5 years 5 1,103 
Office equipment, furniture and other 3-7 years 1,170 
Buildinga.and improvements 40 years 683 

. . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
.............. 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . .  

Telecommunication equipment under capital lease was 5607,000 at 
December 31. 1997. Accumulated amortizatlon totaled 5194.000 as of December 31. 
1997. Amortiration of assets under capital lease is included rn depreciaticn and 

tbpwghr 2000cDG.IR O h &  fwr I 0112 0031 Pope R9 
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amortization expense. Interest expense associated with the obligations under 
these leases amounted to 547.000 in 1997. 

4. CAPITAL L ~ S E  OBLIGATION 

The Company leases telecomunicationa equipment under a capital lease. The 
future minimum lease payments under the capitalized lease and the present value 
of the net minimum lease payments as of December 31, 1997 are aa follows (IN 
THOUSANDS I : 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
2001 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Present value of net minimum lease paymente with interest at 
10.0% .............................................. 

Leas current maturities ......... . . . . . . . .  

5137 
137 
137 
57 
57 
57 

582 
(1471 

_ _ _ _  
_ _ _ _  
435 
(991 
.___ 
5336 ---- 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

5. LONG TERM DEBT AND NOTES PAYABLE 

The Company entered into a note payable with a financial institution in the 
amount of $300,000 in 1992 to finance the remodeling of a building. The note is 
payable in monthly installments through 2007. Interest is payable at prime plus 
1 1/2% 110.0% at December 31. 19971. The note is secured by the building and the 
deposit accounts of the company with the financial institution. The outstanding 
principal balance on the note was $262.000 at December 31. 1997. 

In 1996. the Company issued a note payable of SlOO.000 to finance the 
purchase of an office building. The note is payable in monthly installments 
through 2011. Interest is payable at a variable rate ( 8 . 9 0 1  at December. 31. 
19971. The note is secured by the building. The outstanding principal balance on 
the note was $94.000 ar December 31, 1997. 

Maturities on the aforementioned notes payable are as follows IIN 
THOUSANDS I : 

1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
1999 13 
2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
2001 15 
2002 17 
Thereafter . . . . . . . . .  286 

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . .  5356 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

_... 
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The Company also ha8 notes payable to officers of the Company and members of 
their families. The notes are unaecured and payable on demand. Interest is 
payable at the treasury rate ( S . 8 5 t  at December 31, 19971. The outstanding 
principal balance on these notes was $240,000 at December 31, 1997. Principal 
and interest payments were $128.000 in 1997. 

Total interest paid in 1997 was $97,000. 

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN 

The Company sponsors a 4Olikl profit-sharing plan covering substantially all 
employees under which employeea can contribute up to 15% of their annual salary 
subject to annual Internal Revenue Code maximum limitations. Employees can 
participate after meeting the plan's eligibility requirements. The Company may 
make a discretionary contribution. Company contributions to the plan were 
$81.000 in 1997. 
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VALU-LINE COMPANIES, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED1 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

7. INCOME TAXES 

The income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the fdlowing: 

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31,  1997 
................. 
(IN THOUSANDS1 

Current: 
Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total Current . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Deferred: 

Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total deferred 

Income tax expense . . . . .  

$175 
2 5  

200 

(121 
( 2 1  

(141 

~-.. 

.... 

_ _ _ _  
$186 
.... _ _ _ _  

The differences between the amount computed by applying the statutory 
federal income tax rate to income before income taxes and the provision for 
income taxes are as follows: 

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31. 1997 
................. 
(IN THOUSMJDSI 
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Tax computed at statutoy rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
State taxes, net of federal effect ........................ 
Other, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

$159 
22 
5 

$186 
.... 

==_= 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for federal and state income tax purposes. 
Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities at 
December 31, 1997 are as follows (IN THOUSANDSI: 

Deferred tax assets Icurrenfl: 
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $32 

28 Allowance for doubtful accounts ........................... 
Inventory capitalization 11 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  _ _ _  

71 

Dtpreciation 27 

$44 

Deferred tax liability lnoncurrentl: 
.............................................. _ _ _  

Net deferred tax assets.... ................................. 
//I 

Net cash paid for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 1997 was 
$225,000. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUEDI 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

8. ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

RELATED PARTIES 

In 1997 valu-Line provided services principally related to rent and 
operating costs to Valu-Broadcasting, Inc., an affiliate of Valu-Line at the 
time of the transactions. in the amount of $81,000. Valu-Line also received 
services principally related to advertising from Valu-Broadcasting. Inc. in the 
amount of $41,000 in 1997. In February 1998. Valu-Line merged with and into the 
Company pursuant to the Merger. 

MAJOR SUPPLIER INFORMATION 

Cost of communications services provided by Southwestern Bell approximated 
4 0 1  of the total cost of communication services for the year ended December 31. 
1997. Equipment purchases from Toshiba approximated 59% of cost of equipment 
sales for the year ended December 31. 1997. 

9. COMMITMENTS RND CONTINGENCIES 

Minimum rental commitments at year-end 1997 for all noncancelable operating 
leases, consisting marnly of leases fo r  office space and vehicles, are as 
follows (IN THOUSRNDSI : 
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1998 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $30 
1999 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19 
2000 ........................................................ 9 

Thereafter . . . . . .  

Total rent expense for 1997 vas $56,000 

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

In February 1998, the Company was acquired by Birch Telecom, Tnc. for 
$19,500,000. Shareholders of the Company received $4,750,000 of cash,and 
$14,750,000 of preferred stock in Birch Telecom, Inc. 

11. YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE--UNAUDITED 

Year 2000 issues arise from computer programs written using two digits 
rather than four to define the applicable year. Any of the Company's computer 
programs that have time-sensitive softvare may recognize a date using 00 as the 
year 1900 rather than the year 2000. This could result in a system failure or 
miscalculation causing disruptions of operations. including, among other things, 
a temporary inability to process transactions, send invoices or engage in 
similar normal busincaa activities. 

Based on ongoing assessmenta. the Company determined that it will be 
required to modify or replace portions of its aoftware 80 that its computer 
system will function properly vith respect to dates in the year 2000 and 
thereafter. The Company presently believes that vith modifications to existing 
software and conversions to new softvare, the year 2000 issue vi11 not pose 
significant operational problem for its computer system. The Company estimates 
it will incur minimal expenses to modify and convert its systems and anticipates 
completing the year 2000 project by the year ending December 31, 1998. 
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VRLU-LINE COMPANIES, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

11. YEM 2000 COMPLIANCE--UNAUDITED (CONTINUED1 
While the Company believes that ita systems will he year 2000 compliant, 

there can be no assurance until the year 2000 occurs that all systems will 
function adequately. In addition, the Company interconnects and uses various 
local exchange companies' facilities to service ita customers, and such 
facilities currently utilize numerous. date-sensitive computer applications. i f  
these facilities are not year 2000 compliant. or if the systems of other local 
exchange companies, long distance carriers and others upon which the Company 
relres are not year 2000 compliant. it could hav? a material effect on the 
Company's.busineas. operating results and financial condition. 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 
SCHEDULE 11--CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND OUALIFYING ACCOUNTS . 

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998 ANC 1999 

ADOITIONS 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

BAI*IICE CHARGED ClURCED To BALANCE 
B E G I N N I N G  TO OTUEli OTHER END OF 
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,998 
Allorancc for doubtful account. 

Valuation allorance--deferred inc- Lax ... e t  .................................... 

1999 
Allormcc for dou8ttu1 aCCm~Ynf. 

Va1YaLion .llorance--deferreO 1°C- tax ... et.. .................................. 

0s YEAR 
......... 

s a  
...... 

$ 0  
...... 

5 6111 ...... 

s 23. 
...... 

$ 5 . 7 9 9  
...... 

I"CO*I ........ 

s 681 

$ 1.0 

s 5.111 ....... 

$ 5 6 1  

$11.912 

A C C O W O  DPDVCTIMIS 
.................... 
I 1 W  rnOUEUIDE, 

S O  $ 0  .... ..... 

5133 $ 1391 I l l  .... ..... 

s o  $ 0  
.... ..... 

s o  5 0  
.... ..... 

1- 
........ 

5 6 8 ,  
....... 

S 2 3 1  
....... 

5 5 . 1 9 9  
~. . ~. . ~ 

5 4 5 6  
....... 

528.7.1 
....... 

.......................... 

(1) Accounts written off. net of recoveries. 

EX-12.1 
2 

EXHIBIT 12.1 

EXHIBIT 12.1 

CO?4PUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 

Earning. 
nt.1 c.cn.ng. , l o  .. i . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
,nc- t.I . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

I"QtDI.1 ..................................... 
P r l d  ch.rge. 

Interc.t cnaige. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Intcro.l f.clor O I  0per.LI"g r m t  . . . . . . . . . .  

T0L.I tixr.3 ch.rgc. .......................... 
I.mlng. .. .d,".rcd . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

c d i c l c n c y  of r.ming. t o  t ixed ck.rge. . . . . . .  
U c 1 0  of earnings t o  tired charge. . . . . . . . . .  

Note: For purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges. 
earnings are defined as loss before income taxes plus fixed charges. Fixed 
charges consist of interest expense and a reasonable approximation of the 
interest factor included in rental payments on operating leases. 

.......................... 

(11 The Predecessor company 1s Valu-Line Companies which was merged with us 
during February 1998 P r i o r  to February 1998. w e  had no revenues and w e r e  rn 
the developmental stage 
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED1 

BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except share data) 

March 31. Deceacr 11. 
2000 1999 

ASSETS 
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a r r e n t  ... et., 
a s h  and caBh cguiv.lenL II ............................................... 
Pledged sccurirics.. 
ICCOY"L. zeccivabie. . . . . . . . . . .  
I""C"LO ry .......................... 
Picpaid expenses and Orhe ............................................... 

Total cvrrenr ... et... ..................... 
Properly and cwipnent ..................... 

PIDpCrLy and eq"ipmcm. "et ....................................... 

Other intang net ................. 

................................... 

Pledged securities . "Dncurrenr ................................... 
Doodrill. net ............. 
orher ... et. ..................... 

................................ 

........... 
LIABILITIES Am ETOCXWOLDBRS' DIllClT 
L M R m  LIIBILITIISI 

Nrrenr mtulitiea of long-tern debt and capital Icaee obligation s...... 
ACCC.""L. p.yab1c ....................................................... 
Accrued expenlle. ........................................................ 

mt.1 current liabilities ................................................. 
Senior credit f.cilirv ..................................................... 

IBLated a t  rcdcnption and aggregate liwidatiM value1 .................. 
series B preferred stock. 8 , 5 7 2 , 0 3 9  shares issued and outstanding ....... 
Series C preferred stock. 6 , 2 7 0 , 5 2 7  ahares issued and outstanding ....... 
Series D prefexred stock. 2 , 6 2 2 , 1 2 1  and 2 , 1 2 1 , 1 1 2  mbxes  imsued and 

OY~.r.nding ........................................................... 
C-n stock. 5 . 0 0 1  par value. 8 0 . 0 0 0 . 0 0 0  shales auLhoriied. 8 , 5 8 7 , 1 0 2  and 

8 , 4 1 4 , 5 4 1  shares issued and outBtanding ............................... 

Stockholders* deficit, 

YaIIalnLs ............................................................... 
Idditional paid-in capital ............................................. 
Accumulated deficit .................................................... 

-8s receivable frm .roc*holdcrll ....................................... 
Total ~LockholdCrli '  deficir ................................................ 
Total liabilities and S L O C ~ ~ L , : ' C I B ~  deficit.. .............................. 

............. 
5 166,096 
............. 

6 5 . 8 0 0  

8 
6 

3 

337 
11,767 

(103.1441 ......... 

,oo 
............. 

191,7181 
............. 
5 1 6 6 . 0 9 6  

5 5.051 
15,936 

3,735 
3.759 

.O,OPS 

1,010 

1 x . m  

............. 

. o . m  

6 a . m  
............. 

7.48, 
19.316 
16.911 
1.053 

............. 
I 1.6.,71 
............. 
............. 

5 1.300 
13.300 
10.793 

25.391 
10 .000  
11.,115 

1.0,o 

............. 

63 .550  

6 

2 

167.751)  ............. 
............. 

167.7571 
............. 
5 1.6.971 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited) 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

Three nanths ended 
March 11, 

2 0 0 0  1999 
............................. 

............ ........... 

Reven"= : 

Camnuniotions ~lervicee .............................................. 5 1 1 , 1 8 6  5 9 . 3 0 8  
Equipment .ales ...................................................... 2 . 5 2 2  1 . 3 1 8  .......-.... ........... 

TOt?.l I_="=""= .......................................................... 23.808 10,636 
cost of .ervices: 
cost of comnunicarions services ..................... 15.69'  7.138 
cost Of equipment .ale ............................................... 1.639 787  

Total cost Of s e r v i c e s . . . . .  ......................... 17.336 7 . 9 2 5  

Cross margin . . . . . . .  .................... 6 . 4 7 1  1.711 

............ ........... 

............ ........... 

Copyright 2000 D G A R  Oidiiie. /ne. (wr I.OI/2.003) Page 3 
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Depreciation and amortization expense 

............ 
Interest em."* 
InrcIesr incane 

Net l ~ S S  ............................................................... 
Preferred stock dividend. ...................... 
Amortization Of preferred stock iseuance COsLE 

Loss applicable to c-n stock 

Losa per c m n  share-- basic and diluted .............................. 

Weighted average number of C-n share. outstanding ... 

1 1 , 2 0 3  
4 , 4 6 0  

119,1911 
14,5981 

............ 

446 
............ 

123.3431 
12,2501 

11751 

.... 

8 . 2 9 6  
1.5.3 

17.1281 
13,7151 

........ 

907 

19.9361 
14931 

181 

5 125.1611 0 110.4371 

............ 
5 13.061 ............ 
............ 

8.415 

........... 
5 ll.151 ........... 
........... 

9 . 0 7 2  

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited1 

(In thousands) 

Three months cndcd 
+larch 31. 

2000 1 9 9 9  

........................ 

.... .... 

NET CAS" FROM OPERATINO ACTIYITIES 5 120.8211 5 15,7221 

Purchase of property and equipment 1 1 1 . 0 0 8 ~  16.9571 
Business acqui.itions. "et of cash 11691 14,3681 

INTESTIN0 *CTI"ITIES 

MIorLizaLion of discount on pledged SCCuritieQ ............................ 13191 15111 

Net Cash from investing activities . . . . . .  111.4961 111,8361 

Proceeds from long-term debt and Capital lease financing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4 0 . 4 0 6  .. 
Proceeds from issuance of cornon stock .. 7 
payment of financing COSLB . . . . .  i 1 . 7 0 9 1  
Repayment Of long-term debt and capital lease obligarions ................. 13621 17741 
Repayment of S h O I t - L e m  nore .............................................. .. 12001 

N e t  cash from financing activities ........... 38.312 19741 

.................. 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

.................................... 
.. 

.................. 

.................. 
NET INCR-SE IDECRmSF1 IN CmSW m D  CAS" B~"UIYIL~TS ...................... 3 . 0 1 5  1 1 ~ . 5 3 1 I  
CASH AND CASH EQUUIVALERTS A 5  BEGINNIN0 OP P6RIOO ............... 5 . 0 5 3  39 .7 .5  

CASH AND Cas" EQ"I"&LENTB AT IUD OF PERIOD.. ........... 5 8 . 0 1 8  0 21.113 

SuPP1CmenLaTY lchedulc of no"-cash investing and financing activities; 

......... - ..-..... _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  
AmOuntS recorded in connection with acquisitions: 

Pair ".>"e Of net ..net* acquir .. 5 2 . 6 7 8  
Pair Value of intangible ~ O S C C L I  169 3.699 
Assumption of liabilirics .. 19261 
A8eumpriDn of long-tern debt and Capital lease obligarion. ........... .. 18711 

............................................. 11111 1.suancc of c m m l  .tOC* .. 
Property and equipment additions included in accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . .  1 . 5 5 6  .. 
Series D Preferred stock issued for pawant Of prefeired Stock issuance 

Series D Preferred stock to be issued for payment of preferred stock 
.. COQfe ...................................................... 1 . 8 0 0  

ieauance cos~g..... .................................................. 1.200 .. 
Receivable f r o m  stockholders for c m n  s t o c k . .  ......................... 7 0 0  .. 

Copyright 2000 EDGAR O!hte. lnc. (per 1.01/2.003) Poge 4 
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Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
Cash payment for interest, net of interest capitalized of $203 in 

2000 and $285 in 1999.... ........................................... 
164 254 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial Statements 
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BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended March 31, 2000 

1 .  BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements 
of Birch Telecom, Inc. ("Birch") have been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and the 
instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S - X .  Accordingly, they do 
not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted 
accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of 
management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered 
necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the 
three months ended March 31, 2000 are not necessarily indicative of the results 
that may be,expected for the year ended December 31, 2000. For further 
information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and footnotes 
thereto included in Birch's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 1999. 

2. LOSS PER SHARE 

The net loss per share amount reflected on the consolidated statements 
of operations is based on the weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding. Stock options and convertible preferred stock are anti-dilutive, 
and therefore excluded from the computation of earnings per share. In the 
future, these stock equivalents may become dilutive. 

3 .  RECLASSIFICATIONS 

Certain items in the 1999 condensed consolidated financial statements 
have been reclassified to be consistent with the classification in the 2000 
condensed consolidated financial Statements. 

4 .  CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

During March 2000 ,  the following equity transactions occurred: 

0 Birch filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for an underwritten 
initial public offering of common stock. In connection with 
the filing, Birch's board of directors approved a 1.795-for-1 
split of common stock. All prior period share and per share 
information has been restated to reflect the split. All 
outstanding shares of Birch's preferred stock will 
automatically convert into shares of common stock upon 
completion of the proposed offering. Additionally, the 
conversion ratio on the preferred stock has been adjusted in 
accordance with the 1.795-for-1 common stock split; 

0 BTI Ventures. L.L.C. (BTI). an affiliate of Kohlberg Kravis 

Copjrigl~l2000 LDGAH 0 iiliiie. Inc. (ver 1.01/2.003) Page 5 
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Roberts & Co. (KKR). Birch's largest stockholder, exercised 
its options to purchase an additional 5,263,158 shares of 
series F preferred stock at $4.75 per share and 5,000,000 
shares of series F preferred stock at $5.00 per share, 
totaling $50.0 million. The transaction was funded and the 
associated shares were issued in April 2000. In connection 
with the private placement of series F preferred stock to BTI, 
which closed on August 5, 1999, and the related exercise of 
options in March 2000, Lehman Brothers, Inc., Birch's 
placement agent, earned compensation which included 400,000 
shares of series D preferred stock, totaling $1.8 million, 
issued in March 2000 and an additional 246,316 shares of 
series D preferred stock. totaling $1.2 million, issued in 
April 2000; and 

0 Richard Jalkut, a member of Birch's board of directors, agreed 
to purchase 47,867 shares of common stock for $200,000, and 
Mory Ejabat. a member of Birch's board of directors, agreed to 
purchase 119,667 shares of common stock for $500.000. 
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT 

In February 2000, Birch increased its $75.0 million senior credit 
facility to $125.0 million. The credit facility provides for a $25.0 million 
reducing revolver and $100.0 million in multi-draw term loans. The revolver is 
available for general corporate purposes of Birch's subsidiaries and the term 
loans are to be used to finance telecommunications equipment, inventory, network 
assets and back office systems. 

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINAhCIAL 
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2000 COMPARED TO THREE MONTHS ENDED 
MARCH 31, 1999 

REVENUE. Revenue increased 123.8% to $23.8 million for the 2000 period 
compared to $10.6 million for the 1999 period. The increase in revenue was 
principally a result of new customer sales in new and existing markets and 
partially due to a full quarter of revenue for Capital Communications 
Corporation (acquired in March 1999) in the 2000 period. As a percentage of 
total revenue, communications services were 89.4% for the 2000 period and 87.5% 
for the 1999 period, and equipment sales were 10.6% for the 2000 period and 
12.5% for the 1999 period. 

COST OF SERVICES. Cost of services increased 118.8% to $17.3 million 
for the 2000 period compared to $7.9 million for the 1999 period. The increase 
in cost of services was primarily the result of associated revenue increases. 
Gross margins increased 138.7% to $6.5 million (27.2% of revenue) for 2000 
compared to $2.7 million (25.5% of revenue) for 1999. The increase in gross 
margin as a percentage of revenue was primarily the result of a greater 
percentage of revenue being derived from higher margin facility-based local 
services as compared to resold services in the 1999 period. 

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. Selling, general and 
administrative expenses increased 155.6% to $21.2 million for the 2000 period 
compared to $ 8 . 3  million for the 1999 period. The increase in expense was 

Copyright 2000 EDGAR Oitliile. h c .  (ver 1.01/2.003) Page 6 
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primarily a result of supporting and attracting customers in new and existing 
markets. market launches in Texas and having a full quarter of expense in the 
2000 period for Capital Communications Corporation, which affected wages, rent 
and other expenses. Additionally, we had 1,130 employees at March 31, 2000 
compared to 506 employees at March 31, 1999. EBITDA, a commonly used measure by 
securities analysts of earnings before deducting interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization. decreased 163.81 to a loss of $14.7 million for the 2000 
period compared to a loss of $5.6 million for the 1999 period. 

DEPRECIATION W AMORTIZATION. Depreciation and amortization increased 
189.0% to $4.5 million for the 2000 period compared to $1.5 million for the 1999 
period. The increase in depreciation and amortization was primarily attributable 
to the depreciation of a larger base of network assets, the amortization of 
intangible assets related to acquisitions and the amortization of financing 
costs related to our senior debt facility. 

INTEREST. Interest expense increased 23.8% to $4.6 million for the 2000 
period compared to $3.7 million for the 1999 period. The increase in interest 
expense was primarily a result of borrowings on our senior credit facility, 
which began December 1999. Interest income decreased 50.8% to $446,000 for the 
2000 period compared to $907,000 for the 1999 period. The decrease in interest 
income is primarily a result of the maturity and sale of $16.1 million of 
pledged securities for the payment of interest on the 14% senior notes. 
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NET LOSS. Net loss increased 134.9% to $23.3 million for the 2000 
period compared to $9.9 million for the 1999 period. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Our total assets increased to $166.1 million at March 31, 2000 from 
$147.0 million at December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily t.he result of 
capital outlays for expansion of our local and data networks and dt.dlopment of 
operations support systems and automated back office systems. At March 31, 2000, 
our current assets of $44.0 million exceeded current liabilities of $26.3 
million, resulting in working capital of $17.7 million and a $3.0 million 
increase compared to working capital of $14.7 million at December 31, 1999. At 
December 31, 1999, our current assets of $40.1 million exceeded current 
liabilities of $25.4 million. The increase in working capital was primarily 
attributable to proceeds received from borrowings on our senior credit facility 
to fund capital purchases. Pledged securities to satisfy interest payments on 
our senior notes amounted to $23.7 million at March 31, 2000 and $23.4 million 
at December 31, 1999. ' 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES. Net cash used in operating activities was $21.0 
million for the 2000 period compared to $5.7 million for the 1999 period. Net 
cash used in operating activities was primarily used to fund our net losses of 
$23.3 million for the 2000 period and $9.9 million for the 1999 period. 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES. Net cash used in investing activities was $14.3 
million for the 2000 period compared to $11.8 million for the 1999 period. Net 
cash used in investing activities was primarily used for the purchase of 
property and equipment related to the expansion of our networks, support systems 
and back office systems, totaling $14.0 million in the 2000 period and $7.0 
million in the 1999 period. Additionally, $4.4 million was spent on acquisitions 
in the 1999 period. 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES. Net cash provided by financing activities was 
$38.3 million for the 2000 period compared to net cash used in financing 
activities of $974,000 for the 1999 period. In the 2000 period, net cash 
provided by financing activities was primarily a result of $40.0 million in 
proceeds from borrowings on our senior credit facility. In the 1999 period, net 
cash used in financing activities was used for the repayment of debt. 

Copyright 2000 EDGAR 0 sli,re. Inc. (ver 1.01/2.003) Poge 7 
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In February 2000, we increased the capacity of our $75.0 million senior 
credit facility to $125.0 million. This credit facility provides for a $25.0 
million reducing revolver and $100.0 million in multi-draw term loans. The 
revolver is available for general corporate purposes of our subsidiaries and the 
term loans are to be used to finance telecommunications equipment, inventory, 
network assets and back office systems. The senior credit facility is secured by 
a perfected first priority security interest in substantially all of our assets 
and capital stock of our subsidiaries and contains a number of financial and 
operational covenants with wbicb we must comply. Among other things, the 
covenants require us to maintain specified levels of revenue, EBITDA, ratio 
levels and access lines and restrict our ability to incur additional 
indebtedness, pay dividends, enter into related party transactions or sell our 
assets. We were in compliance with all covenants at March 31, 2000. 

In March 2000, an affiliate of KKR exercised its options to purchase an 
additional $50.0 million of our series F preferred stock. The transaction was 
funded and the associated shares were issued in April 2000. 

The development and expansion of our business will continue to require 
significant capital to fund capital expenditures, working capital and debt 
service and will generate negative operating cash flows. Our principal capital 
expenditure requirements will include: 

0 the purchase, installation, and expansion of switches and 
transmission equipment for our local and data networks; and 

0 the further development of operations support systems and 
automated back office systems. 

We do not believe that the growth of our long distance and customer 
premises equipment business will require significant capital expenditures. 
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Our business plan calls for us to offer our services in additional 
markets. We expect to expand our operations in Texas and into Oklahoma in t..? 
second quarter of this year and to commence service in the regions served by 
Ameritech and BellSouth in 2001. We will need additional cash to fund our 
working capital needs, debt service requirements and operating losses. Until we 
begin to generate positive cash flow from operations, these liquidity 
requirements will need to be financed with additional debt and equity capital. 

During the second quarter 2000, we will begin to re-negotiate the terms 
of our existing senior credit facility and make corresponding changes to the 
financial covenants. We believe that our current resources, including 
availability under our senior credit facility, will be sufficient to satisfy 
our liquidity needs for the next 12 months. If our plans or assumptions change, 
if our assumptions prove to be inaccurate, or if we experience unexpected 
costs or competitive pricing pressures, we will be required to seek 
additional capital sooner than we currently expect. In particular, if we 
elect to pursue acquisition opportunities or open additional markets, our 
cash needs may increase substantially. We cannot assure you that our current 
projection of cash flow and losses from operations. which will depend upon 
numerous future factors and conditions, many of which are outside of our 
control, will be accurate. Actual results will almost certainly vary 
materially from our current projections. The cost of expanding our network 
services and sales efforts, funding other strategic initiatives and operating 
our business will depend on a variety of factors, including, among other 
things: 

0 the number of subscribers and the services for which they 
subscribe; 

0 the nature and penetration of services that we may offer; 

Copyright 2000 m G A R  Onlurelur (ver 1.01/2.003) Page 8 
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0 

0 - 
regulatory and legislative developments; and 

the response of our competitors to their loss of customers to 
UB and to changes in technology. 

We intend to seek additional debt and equity financing to fund our 
future liquidity needs. We cannot assure you that we will be able to raise 
additional capital on satisfactory tern or at a l l .  If we decide to raise 
additional funds through the incurrence of debt, our interest obligations will 
increase and we may become subject to additional or more restrictive financial 
covenants. In addition, the terms of our senior credit facility and our senior 
notes each restrict our ability to obtain additional debt financing. If we 
decide to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity,'the ownership 
interests represented by the common stock will be diluted. In the event that we 
are unable to obtain additional capital or to obtain it on acceptable terms or 
in sufficient amounts, we may be required to delay the development of our 
network and business plans or take other actions that could materially and 
adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. 

IMPACT OF THE YEAR 2000 ISSUE 

The Year 2000 issue results from computer programs being written using 
two digits rather than four to define the year. Any of our computer programs or 
systems, or those of our suppliers, that have date-sensitive.software may 
recognize a date using '00" as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. We have 
assessed the potential impact of Year 2000 issues and modified, upgraded and 
replaced our systems as necessary. We did not experience any problems on January 
1, 2 0 0 0  and to-date, we have not experienced, nor are we aware of, any material 
Year 2000 issues with any of our internal systems or our services. Although we 
do not anticipate ekperiencing any Year 2000 related issues in the future, we 
will continue to monitor the situation and implement contingency plans if 
needed. Our total cost to-date to proactively address our Year 2000 issues has 
not been material. The cost of addressing Year 2000 issues is reported as a 
general and administrative expense. 
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RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

In December 1999, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 
101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements." SAB No. 101 provides 
guidance on the recognition, presentation and disclosure of revenue in financial 
statements. SAB NO. 101 is effective for our consolidated financial statements 
beginning in the second quarter 2000. We do not expect the impact of SAB No. 101 
to have a material effect in relation to our consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2000, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued 
Interpretation No. 4 4 .  "Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock 
Compensation: An Interpretation of Accounting Principles Board (APE) Opinion No. 
2 5 "  Ithe FASB Interpretation). The PAS0 Interpretation poses and answers 20 
separate questions dealing with APB No. 2 5 ,  '"Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees." implementation practice issues. The FASB Interpretation will be 
effective beginning July 1, 2 0 0 0 ,  and we are currently determining its impact in 
relation to our consolidated financial statements. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements contained in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q are 
forward-looking statements. These statements discuss, among other things, 
expected growth, expansion strategy and an intended public stock offering. The 
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions, 
and actual results may differ materially from anticipated results described in 
these forward-looking statements. The factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially include, but are not limited to, revision of expansion plans, 
availability of financing, changes in laws and regulations, the number of 
potential customers in a target market, the existence of strategic alliances or 
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relationships, technological or other developments in our business, changes in 
the competitive climate in which we operate. overall economic trends including 
interest rate and foreign currency trends, stock market activity, litigation and 
the emergence of future opportunities. We undertake no obligation to publicly 
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise. 

ITEM 3 .  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOET MARKET RISK 

No macerial changes in our exposure to certain market risks have 
occurred from the discussion contained in Item 7A. "Qualitative Disclosures 
About Market Risk," filed as part of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 1999. 
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PART I1 - OTHER INFORMATION 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

From time to time, we may be involved in claims or litigation that 
arise in the normal course of business. We are not a party to any legal 
proceedings which, if decided adve'rsely, would have a material adverse effect on 
our businea' 3r financial condition or results of operations. 

ITEM 2. G,"rOES IN SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS 

Since December 31, 1999, we have issued and sold unregistered 
securities as follows: 

0 

0 

0 

In March 2000, BTI. an affiliate of KKR. our largest 
stockholder, exercised its options to purchase an additional 
5,263.158 shares of series F preferred stock at $4.75 per 
share.and 5,000,000 shares of series F preferred stock at 
$5.00 per share, totaling $50.0 million. The transaction was 
funded and the associated shares were issued in April 2000. In 
connection with the private placement of series F preferred 
stock to BTI, which closed on August 5 .  1999, and the related 
exercise of options in March 2000, Lehman Brothers, Inc., our 
placement agent, earned compensation which included 400,000 
shares of series D preferred stock, totaling $1.8 million, 
issued in March 2000 and an additional 246,316 shares of 
series D preferred stock, totaling $1.2 million. issued in 
April 2000; 

In March 2000. Richard Jalkut, a member of our board of 
directors, agreed to purchase 47,867 shares of our common 
stock for $200,000, and Mory Ejabat, a member of our board of 
directors, agreed to purchase 119,667 shares of our common 
stock for $500,000; and 

In March 2000, our board of directors approved a 1.795-for-1 
split of our common stock. 
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All sales were made in reliance on Section 412) of the Securities Act 
and/or Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act. These sales were made 
without general solicitation or advertising. Each purchaser was a sophisticated 
investor with access to all relevant information necessary to evaluate the 
inveetment and represented to us that the shares were being acquired for 
investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any 
distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to the securities. 

ITEM 4 .  SLlBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITIES HOLDERS 

During the first quarter of 2000, the following matters were submitted 
to a vote of our securities holders: 

0 

0 

On March 8 ,  2000, in connection with compensation earned by 
Lehman Brothers, Inc., our placement agent, for the private 
placement of our series F preferred stock with BTI, we 
obtained the written consent of our stockholders with respect 
to the reservation and issuance of 646.316 shares of series D 
preferred stock, the amendment of our Certificate of 
Incorporation to designate 3,000,000 shares of our authorized 
preferred stock as series D preferred stock and the amendment 
of our Amended and Restated Purchasers Rights Agreement. Our 
stockholders also approved an increase of common stock 
available for issuance of options under our 1998 Stock Option 
Plan. 
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For : 62,752,611 

WitF' Id: 226,626 
Against: 0 

On W 3 . 7 ,  h 30, 2000, in connection with the proposed initial 
pub-,': offering of our common stock, we obtained the written 
consent of our stockholders with respect to the amendment of 
our Certificate of Incorporation to reclassify our common 
stock, increase the amount of our authorized stock and 
increase the size of our board of directors. Our stockholders 
approved our 2000 Equity Participation Plan and our 2000 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan and approved the reservation of 
shares of common stock for issuance under each of those plans. 
The stockholders also approved an amendment to our Amended and 
Restated Purchasers Rights Agreement. 

For : 53,431,468 

Withheld: 10,259,769 
Against: 0 

The number of stockholder votes stated above reflects the 1.795-for-1 
common stock split and the adjusted preferred stock conversion ratio. 

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 

(a1 Exhibits 

The following exhibits are included herein: 

3.1 Certificate of amendment of restated certificate of 
incorporation of Birch Telecom, Inc. 
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27.1 Financial Data Schedule 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K. 

-On March 23, 2000 we filed Form E-K with respect to a registration 
statement filing with the SEC as part of a proposed initial public offering of 
common stock. We attached a copy of our press release issued that same day. 
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SIGNATURE 

PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS 
AMENDED, THE REGISTRANT HAS DULY CAUSED THIS REPORT TO BE SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF 
BY THE UNDERSIGNED, THEREUNTO DULY AUTHORIZED. 

DATE : 

BIRCH TELECOM. INC. 

IREGISTRAEPTI 

MAY 15. 2000 

BY: / S /  BFADLEY A. MOLINE 
______......._____________ 

BRADLEY A. MOLINE, SENIOR VICE 
PRESIDENT - CHIEF FINANCIAL 
OFFICER (PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL 
OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL 
ACCOUNTING OFFICER) 
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EX-3.1 
2 

EXHIBIT 3.1 

EXHIBIT 3.1 

BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT 
OF 

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION 

(Pursuant to Section 242  of the General 
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware) 

Birch Telecom, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the 
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the 'bCorporation"l does hereby 
certify as follows: 

A. This Amendment amends the provisions of the Restated Certificate of 
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Incorporation of the Corporation set forth below and was duly adopted in 
accordance with Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of 
Delaware by the directors and stockholders of the Corporation. 

B. The text of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation is amended as 
set forth below: 

1. Article 4(A) is amended to read in its entirety as follows: 

A. The total number of shares that the Corporation shall have 
the authority to issue is 208,403,275 shares. The total number 
of shares of common stock that the Corporation shall have 
authority to issue is 150,000,000 shares Ithe "Common Stock"1. 
and the par value of each share of Common Stock is $0.001. The 
total number of shares of preferred stock that the corporation 
shall have the authority to issue is 58,403,275 shares Ithe 
"Preferred Stock"), and the par value of each share of 
Preferred Stock is $0.001. 

Effective upon filing of this Amendment to the 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of 
State of the State of Delaware (the "Effective Date"), each 
share of Common Stock outstanding on the Effective Date, par 
value S.001 per share (the "Old Common Stock"), shall 
automatically and without any action on the part of the holder 
thereof be reclassified as and changed into 1.795 shares of 
the Corporation's Common Stock, par value $.001 per share Ithe 
"New Common Stock"), subject to the treatment of 

fractional share interests as described below. Each holder of 
a certificate or certificates that,, immediately prior to the 
Effective Date represented outstanding shares of Old common 
Stock (the "Old Certifir 1." whether one or more) shall be 
entitled to receive upon render of such Old Certificates to 
UMB Bank, n.a. Ithe "Tr? .r Agent"1 for cancellation. a 
certificate or certificaL-s Ithe "New Certificates," whether 
one or more) representing the number of whole shares of the 
New Common Stock formerly represented by such Old Certificates 
so surrendered and reclassified under the terms hereof. From 
and after the Effective Date, Old Certificates shall represent 
only the right to receive New Certificates (and, where 
applicable, cash in lieu of fractional shares, as provided 
below) pursuant to the provisions hereof. No certificates or 
scrip representing fractional share interests in New Common 
Stock will be issued, and no such fractional share interest 
will entitle the holder thereof to vote, or to any rights of a 
stockholder of the Corporation. In lieu of any fraction of a 
share, the Corporation shall pay to the Transfer Agent or its 
nominee as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, as 
agent for the accounts of all holders of Common Stock 
otherwise entitled to have a fraction of a share issued to 
them in connection with the stock split, the amount equal to 
the fair market value of the aggregate of all fractional 
shares otherwise issuable (rounded, if necessary, to the next 
highest whole share) (the "Fractional Share Amount"). The fair 
market value of the fractional shares shall be determined in 
accordance with Article 4(C) (2l(il of the Restated Certificate 
of Incorporation. 

After the Effective Date and the receipt of payment 
by the Corporation of the Fractional share Amount, the 
Transfer Agent shall pay to the stockholders entitled to a 
fraction of a share their pro rata share of the Fractional 
Share Amount upon surrender of their Old Certificates. If more 
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2 .  

than one Old Certificate shall be surrendered at one time for 
the account of the same stockholder. the number of full shares 
of New Common Stock for which New Certificates shall be issued 
shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate number of 
shares represented by the Old Certificates surrendered. In the 
event that a holder surrenders Old Certificates after the 
Effective Date but prior to the date on which the Fractional 
Share Amount is determined and paid to the Transfer Agent, the 
Transfer Agent shall carry forward any fractional share of 
such holder until the Fractional Share Amount is paid to the 
Transfer Agent. In the event that the Corporation's Transfer 
Agent determines that a holder of Old Certificates has not 
tendered all of his certificates for exchange, the Transfer 
Agent shall carry 

forward any fractional share until all certificates of that 
holder have been presented for exchange so that the payment 
for fractional shares to any one person shall not exceed the 
value of one share. If any New Certificate is to be issued in 
a name other than that in which the Old Certificates 
surrendered for exchange are issued. the Old Certificates so 
surrendered shall be properly endorsed and otherwise in proper 
form for transfer, and the person or persons requesting such 
exchange shall affix any requisite stock transfer stamps to 
the Old Certificate surrendered, or provide funds for their 
purchase, or establish to the satisfaction of the Transfer 
Agent that such taxes are not payable. From and after the 
Effective Date, the amount of capital represented by the 
shares of New Common Stock into which and for which the shares 
of the Old Common Stock are reclassified under the terns 
hereof shall be the same as the amount of capital represented 
by the shares of Old Common Stock so reclassified. until 
thereafter reduced or increased in accordance with applicable 
law. 

Article 5 is amended to read in its F .ety as follows: 

FIFTH: The Board of Directors shall have that number of 
Directors bet out in the Bylaws of the Corporation as adopted or as set 
from time to time by a duly adopted amendment thereto by the Directors 
or stockholders of the Corporation, and, notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, 
the authorized number of Directors may be changed only by a resolution 
of the Board of Directors. Vacancies on the Board of Directors 
resulting from death, resignation, removal or otherwise and newly 
created directorships resulting from any increase in the number of 
directors may be filled only by a majority of the directors then in 
office (although less than a quorum1 or by the sole remaining director. 
and each director so elected shall hold office until the next annual 
meeting of the stockholders. 

3 .  Article 6 is amended to read in its entirety as follows: 

SIXTH: In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers 
conferred by statute, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized to 
adopt, repeal, alter. amend and rescind Bylaws of the Corporation. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the bylaws may be rescinded, altered, 
amended or repealed in any respect by the affirmative vote of the 
holders of at least a majority of the outstanding voting stock of the 
corporation, voting together as a single class. 

4 .  Article 7 is amended to read in its entirety as fpllows: 
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SEVEmH: The Board of Directors shall be and is divided into 
three classes, Class 1, Class I1 and Class 111. The number of directors 
in each class shall be the whole number contained in the quotient 
arrived at by dividing the number of directors by three, and if a 
fraction is also contained in such quotient then if such fraction is 
one-third 11/31 ,  the extra director shall be a member of Class 111 and 
if the fraction is two-thirds 1 2 / 3 ) ,  one of the extra directors shall 
be a member of Class 111 and the other shall be a member of Class 11. 
Each director shall serve for a term ending on the date of the third 
annual meeting following the annual meeting at which such director was 
elected; provided, however, that the directors of the Corporation on 
the date of this Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation 
shall each he assigned to a class at the time of this Amendment, and 
the directors assigned to Class I shall serve for a term ending on the 
date of the first annual meeting next following April 6 .  2000, the 
directors assigned to Class I1 shall serve for a term ending on the 
date of the second annual meeting next following April 6 .  2000, and the 
directors assigned to Class 111 shall serve for a term ending on the 
date of the third annual meeting next following April 6 ,  2000. 

In the event of any increase or decrease in the number of directors, 
la) each director then serving as such shall nevertheless continue as a 
director of the class of which he is a member until the expiration of 
his current term, or his prior death, retirement, resignation or 
removal, and lh) the newly created or eliminated directorships 
resulting from such increase or decrease shall be apportioned by the 
Board of Directors to such class or classes as shall, 80 far as 
possible, bring the number of directors in the respective classes into 
conformity with the formula in this Article, as applied to the new 
number of directors. 

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions of this Article, each 
director shall serve until his successor is elected and qualified or 
until his death, retirement, resignation or removal. Should a vacancy 
occur or be created, the remaining directors leven thougi- 'BS than a 
quorum) may fill the vacancy for the full term of the cla..~ 1 which 
the vacancy occurs or is created. 

The Board of Directors as existing on the date of this Amendment to the 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation is as follows: 

Adam H. Clammer 
Mory Ejahat 
Thomas R. Palmer 
Henry H. Bradley 
Henry R. Kravis 
George R. Roberts 
James H. Greene. Jr. 
Richard A. Jalkut 
Alexander Navab, Jr. 
David E. Scott 

Class I 
Class I 
Class I 
Class I1 
Class I1 
Class I1 
Class 111 
Class I11 
Class I11 
Class 111 

5 .  Article 8 is amended to read in its entirety as follows: 

EIGHTH: Elections of directors at an annual or special meeting 
of stockholders need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws of the 
Corporation shall so provide. 

6 .  The following Articles are added to the Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation and shall immediately follow Article 9 
thereof: 

TENTH: A director shall not be personally liable to the 
corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of 
fiduciary duty a6 a director, provided that this Article shall not 
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eliminate or limit the liability of a director li) for any breach of 
his duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for 
acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional 
misconduct or a knowing violation of the law, liii) under Section 1 7 4  
of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or (iv) for any transaction 
from which the director derives an improper personal benefit. 

If the Delaware General Corporation Law is hereafter amended 
to authorize corporate action further limiting or eliminating the 
personal liability of directors, then the liability of the director to 
the Corporation shall be limited or eliminated to the fullest extent 
permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, as so amended from 
time to time. Any repeal or modification of this Article by the 
stockholders of the Corporation shall be prospective only, and shall 
not adversely affect any limitation on the personal liability of a 
director of the Corporation existing at the time of such repeal or 
modification. 

ELEVENTH: No action shall be taken by the stockholders except 
at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, except if such action 
is taken by unanimous written consent. 

TWELFTH: Special meetings of the stockholders of the 
Corporation for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time only 
by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Corporation, the President of the Corporation, or a majority of 
the members of the Board of Directors, and such special meetings may 
not be called by any other person or persons; provided, however, that 
if and to the extent that any special meeting of stockholders may be 
called by any other person or persons specified in any provisions of 
this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or any amendment 
hereto or any certificate filed under Section 15119) of the Delaware 
Geneial Corporation Law, then such special meeting may also be called 
by the person or persons, in the manner, at the times and for the 
purposes BO specified. 

THIRTEENTH: The Corporation reserves the right to amend, 
alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation, in the 

manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute, and all rights conferred 
on stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation; 
provided, however, that no amendment, alteration, change or repeal may 
be made to Article VI, VII, XI or XI11 without the affirmative vote of 
the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent 1 6 6 - 2 / 3 % )  of 
the outstanding voting stock of the Corporation, voting together as a 
single class. 

FOURTEENTH: Each reference in this Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation to any provision of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law refers to the specified provision of the General 
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as the same now exists or as 
it may hereafter be amended or superseded. 

2 .  Such Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation bas been 
duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of Section 242  of the General 
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. The Board of Directors of the 
Corporation adopted a resolution by unanimous written consent approving this 
Amendment on March 30, 2000. declaring its advisability and calling for 
submission of such Amendment to the holders of the Corporation's Common Stock, 
series B Preferred Stock, Series C Preferred Stock, Series D Preferred Stock and 
Series F Preferred Stock. The holders of the Corporation's Common Stock, series 
B Preferred Stock, Series C Preferred Stock, Series D Preferred Stock and series 
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F Preferred Stock approved such Amendment by the written consent by the required 
number of such holders dated March 30, 2000. The capital of the Corporation will 
not be reduced under or by reason of such Amendment. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, this Amendment to the Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation has been executed on behalf of the Corporation this 6th day of 
April, 2000. 

BIRCH TELECOM, INC. 

/E/ Gregory C. Lawhon 
Gregory C. Lawhon, 
Senior Vice President 
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EXHIBIT D 

Financial Guarantee 



GUARANTEE 

State of Missouri ) 

County of Jackson ) 
) ss. 

Birch Telecom, Inc., the parent corporation of Birch Telecom of the South, Inc., 
hereby guarantees its indirect, wholly-owned operating subsidiary Birch Telecom of the South, 
Inc. that it will make available to Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. following the date on which 
Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. receives authority to provide resold and facilities-based 
interexchange and local exchange telecommunications services within the State of Florida the 
funds necessary to support its Florida operations. This amount shall guarantee the financial 
obligations assumed by Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. with respect to its provision of 
telecommunications services in the State of Florida. 

The undersigned understands that the Commission may require him or her to furnish 
such reports as the Commission may reasonably require to verify or confirm the existence of the 
financial resources of Birch Telecom, Inc. after Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. receives the 
above-referenced certification. 

Birch Telecom. Inc. 

Name: Gregory C. Lawhon 

Title: Senior Vice President 

Subscribed and sworn before me this 25th day of May, 2000. 

Notary Public 

My Commission expires 
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Birch’s Managerial and Technical Capability 



OFFICERS OF 
BIRCH TEL ECOM 0 P THE GREAT LAKES, INC. 

David E. Scott, President 

Mr. Scott has 17 years of managerial experience in the telecommunications industry. Prior 
to joining us, Mr. Scott was president and general manager of Kansas City FiberNet, a 
competitive local exchange carrier owned jointly by the country’s two largest cable 
operators, TCI and Time Warner. Prior to his tenure at  Kansas City FiberNet, Mr. Scott 
was vice president of strategic development for Sprint, responsible for developing 
investment plans in the competitive local exchange, wireless (PCS) and international 
marketplaces, Mr. Scott was vice president of strategic development for Sprint, responsible 
for developing investment plans in the competitive local exchange, wireless (PCS) and 
internatienal marketplaces. Mr. Scott also served as director of strategic planning for Sprint 
from 1988 to 1991. Mr. Scott also serves as a director of Bizspace, Inc., an Internet 
publishing and E-commerce company he co-founded with Donald H. Goldman. Bizspace, 
Inc. produces web sites that serve as on-line trade publications. Their first website, 
clec.com, serves the competitive local exchange carrier industry. Mr. Scott holds a 
Bachelor of Science degree in electrical engineering, summa cum laude, from the University 
of Missouri and a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of 
Chicago. 

Donald H. Goldman, Senior Vice President 

Mr. Goldman has over 15 years of managerial experience in the telecommunications 
industry. Prior to joining us, Mr. Goldman served as vice president, corporate 
development at Sprint where he developed strategy and managed the acquisition of 
companies in the areas of systems integration, Internet telephony, and wireless (PCS) 
services among others. While at Sprint, Mr. Goldman led the team that founded Sprint 
PCS. Mr. Goldman also serves as chairman of the board of Bizspace, Inc. Mr. Goldman 
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree, with honors, from Johns Hopkins University and a Master 
of business Administration degree from the University of Chicago. 

David M. Hollinpvortb, Senior Vice President 

Prior to joining us, from 1998 to February 200, Mr. Hollingsworth was the vice president 
of finance and corporate development for GST Telecommunications. From 1997 to 1998, 
Mr. Hollingsworth was a telecommunications analyst at  George K. Baum and Company. 
From 1993 through 1996, Mr. Hohngswortb served as a director of finance and 
administration for Kansas City FiberNet. Before FiberNet, Mr. Hollingsworth was a 
mergers and acquisitions manager for Sprint Corporation. Mr. Hollingsworth holds a 
Bachelor of Arts in Business Administration, cum laude, from Washington State University. 
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Gregory C. Lawhon, Senior Vice President 

Prior to joining us, Mr. Lawhon practiced law for twelve years with the 90-lawyer Kansas 
City firm of Spencer Fane Britt & Browne. A partner in the firm since 1990, he was head 
of the firm’s communications and media group and a member of its business group. Mr. 
Lawhon’s areas of practice were mergers and acquisitions, with an emphasis on 
communications industry acquisitions, cable television franchising, and commercial and 
regulatory issues with respect to the telecommunications industry. Mr. Lawhon holds a 
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, magna cum laude, from Vanderbilt University, and 
a law degree from Columbia University, where he was a Harlan Fiske Stone Scholar. 

Bradley A. Moline, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 

From 1994 to 1997, Mr. Moline was the treasurer and chief financial officer of Covenant 
Transport, Inc., a transportation company in Chattanooga, Tennessee that became publicly 
traded during his tenure. Prior to joining Covenant Transport, Mr. Moline worked for 
Ernst & Young LLP in Kansas City, Missouri and Grant Thornton in Lincoln, Nebraska, 
providing customer services in the auditing and consulting areas. Mr. Moline holds a 
Bachelor of Administration degree in Business Administration, with distinction, from the 
University of Nebraska and is a certified public accountant. 

Jeffrey D. Shackelford, Senior Vice President 

Mr. Shackelford has 13 yearb of experience in the telecommunications industry. Prior to 
joining us, Mr. Shackelford served as director of sales and marketing for Kansas City 
FiberNet. Prior to joining Kansas City FiberNet, Mr. Shackelford was the Branch Manager 
for Sprint’s commercial sales office in Kansas City and was responsible for sales and service 
of small to large business customers. During his tenure at  Sprint, which began in 1988, 
Mr. Shackelford also developed the long distance industry’s first PC-based call management 
system, FONVIEW. Mr. Shackelford holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer 
Science from the University of Kansas. 

David W. Vranicar, Senior Vice President 

Prior to joining us, Mr. Vranicar was vice president, international business development, at 
Sprint. Before joining Sprint in 1992, Mr. Vranicar was vice president, Asia/Pacific 
operations, at MPSI Systems Private Ltd., based in Singapore. MPSI is a software and 
information services company that develops and markets decisions-support software and 
databases to major retail companies. Mr. Vranicar was the company’s senior executive in 
the Asia/Pacific division, directing a staff of approximately 80 engaged in software 
development, computer graphics, and customer technical support. Mr. Vranicar holds a 
Bachelor of Business degree in Marketing, with honors, from the University of Texas at  
Austin, and a Master of Business Administration degree, with distinction, from the 
University of Michigan at Ann Arbor. 
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. ”  . Division of Records and Reporting 
. .  

I_  ’ .  , . . - . , , 
Florida Public Service Commission _. . - 

. 

Gerald Gunter Buildmg 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 

Re: Application of Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. for Authority to Provide Resold 
and Facilities-Based Local Exchange Telecommunications Services within 

1 

Dear Ms. Bayo: 

On behalf of Birch Telecom of the South, Inc. (“Birch”), we hereby submit an 
original and five (5) copies of its application and price list for authority to provide resold 
and facilities-based local exchange telecommunications services withm the State of Florida. 

In accord with the Commission’s Rules, we have enclosed herewith a check in the 
amount of $250.00, in payment of the Commission’s fee for processing Birch’s application. 

We have included an extra copy of this filing, marked “Stamp and Return.” as well 


